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To continue as a progressive and growing community bank, serving 
our communities by offering a wide range of competitive services for 
our customers, resulting in a profitable organization, enabling us to build 
capital, pay appropriate dividends to our stockholders and competitive 
salaries to our employees.

We take great pride in being a community bank. At the center of our value 
system is our core commitment to provide value driven products and 
courteous service delivered by a caring and professional staff. After all, 
we’re not just in the “banking business,” we’re in the business of financing 
people’s lives and dreams — a responsibility we don’t take lightly.

We promise our customers they can rely on us to listen to their needs 
and try to provide solutions. We also promise to always practice 
discretion and tact when it comes to personal or professional financial 
issues and to treat our customers with respect, dignity and integrity, all 
while doing our best to help them reach their financial goals.

C O R E  V A L U E S

O U R  P R O M I S E

M I S S I O N  S T A T E M E N T
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Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation is the 
holding company for Eastern Michigan Bank, 
a full service community bank with offices in 
Croswell, Deckerville, Fort Gratiot, Lakeport, 
Lexington, Marine City, Marysville, Port Huron, 
Ruth and Sandusky.

Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation
65. N. Howard Avenue
Croswell, Michigan 48422

Errin Levitt, Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer
Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation
65 N. Howard Avenue
Croswell, Michigan 48422
810.398.5135

G E N E R A L  I N F O R M AT I O N

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT

Rehmann Robson
5800 Gratiot, Suite 201
Saginaw, Michigan 48638
989.799.9580

Computershare Shareholder Services
P.O. Box 30170
College Station, Texas 77842-3170
800.368.5948

I N D E P E N D E N T  A U D I TO R S

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

ANNUAL MEETING

Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board: EFIN
STOCK SYMBOL
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The Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation 
annual meeting of company shareholders 
is scheduled for Tuesday, April 15, 2025 at 
5:30pm and will be held at Lakeview Hills 
Golf Resort, 6560 E. Peck Road, Lexington, 
Michigan 48450



Michael Wendling
Prosecuting Attorney

St. Clair County

Anthony Roggenbuck
President, D&D Farms, Inc., Ruth

Owner-Operator, Trucker T’s Transport, LLC, Ubly

Steven Schweihofer
Former Chief Financial Officer
Foster Blue Water Oil, Richmond

DONNA NIESTER
(1956 - 2024)

Patricia Manley
Partner

McBride-Manley & Company, P.C
Marine City

I N  M E M O R I A M

William Oldford, Jr., Vice Chairperson
President and Chief Executive Officer

Eastern Michigan Bank, Croswell

Patricia Ryan
Retired Partner

Frohm, Kelley, Butler & Ryan, P.C.,
Port Huron

Karen Flanagan
Farmer

Sandusky

Timothy Ward, Chairperson
Retired Chief Executive Officer

Eastern Michigan Bank, Croswell

Lisa Disser
Controller

Gielow Pickles, Inc., and
Gielow Logistics, LLC, Lexington

B O A R D  O F  D I R E C T O R S

2

We are saddened by the passing of Donna Niester on October 6, 2024.  Donna Niester was appointed to the Boards of Directors of Eastern
Michigan Financial Corporation and Eastern Michigan Bank in April 2019 and has faithfully served our organization for the past five years.
She was a strong advocate and supporter of Eastern Michigan Bank.

Donna was Chief Executive Officer of Acheson Ventures, LLC, Trustee of the James C. Acheson Foundation, and a certified public accountant of
over 40 years. Prior to joining Acheson Ventures in 2000, she was a partner in the Port Huron accounting firm of Austin, Niester, Schweihofer
& Finnegan, PC.

Donna had a long and distinguished record of service to the Port Huron community. She was the first woman board chair of the Community
Foundation of St. Clair County, a past trustee of the McLaren Port Huron Hospital Board of Directors, and chairperson of the hospital’s Audit
Committee. She was also a past member of the Michigan Community Service Commission, past chair of the Port Huron Hospital Foundation,
and past president of the Port Huron Golf Club.

Donna was instrumental in the development of Studio 1219 and the Blue Water River Walk and was a founding member of the Community Foundation 
of St. Clair County’s Women’s Initiative. She received numerous awards and recognitions in her lifetime, including being named one of Crain’s Detroit
Business’s 100 Most Influential Women (2016) and a Northwood University Distinguished Women Honoree (2014). In 2024, she received a Lifetime 
Achievement Award from the Community Foundation and a Spirit of Port Huron Award from the City of Port Huron.
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B O A R D  A P P O I N T M E N T

Patricia Manley
Partner

McBride-Manley & Company, P.C
Marine City

The Board of Directors of Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation is pleased to announce the appointment of Patricia Manley as a director of Eastern 
Michigan Financial Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiary, Eastern Michigan Bank.

Ms. Manley is the Director of Accounting Services for McBride – Manley & Company, P.C., a certified public accounting firm in Marine City. She has over 40 
years of experience in tax and accounting consulting, governmental auditing, and management advisory services for clients in various industries, and is 
also a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Michigan Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Patti is very active in the local community, currently serving as Chair of the Board of Trustees and the Strategic Priorities Committee for the Community 
Foundation of St. Clair County and as a member of the Finance Committee. She is also a past Board of Trustees treasurer and Finance Committee chair
for the United Way of St. Clair County and a past Board of Trustees vice-chair and Finance Committee chair for St. John’s Providence East Region.

Over the course of her career, Patti has received a number of awards, including recognition by the National Association of Career Women as Career 
Woman of the Year, by St. John-Providence River District Hospital as Community Leader of the Year, by the United Way of St. Clair County as Volunteer
of the Year, and by the State of Michigan as a Small Business Advocate in Accounting.

“We are so pleased to welcome Patti Manley to our board,” stated Eastern Michigan Bank President and Chief Executive Officer Will Oldford. “Her
experience as a CPA and enthusiasm for community service are excellent fits with our culture as an organization. Her longstanding professional
presence in the Marine City area is a welcome addition given our recent branch expansion into that market.”

Ms. Manley will fill the seat left vacant by the untimely death of Donna Niester in October. The directors, officers, and staff of Eastern Michigan
Bank all welcome Ms. Manley to the organization and look forward to her contributions.

O F F I C E R S



O F F I C E R  P R O M O T I O N S 
A N D  N E W  H I R E S

O F F I C E R  P R O M O T I O N S

O F F I C E R  N E W  H I R E S
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Kimberly Bowman
Senior Vice President,

Chief Retail Officer

Daniel Hale
Assistant Vice President,
Commercial Loan Officer

Jasmine Williams
Assistant Vice President,
Commercial Loan Officer

Karen Davis
Aassistant Vice President,

Operations Manager

Jay Wofford
Vice President,

Commercial Loan Officer

In February 2024, Commercial Loan Officer Jasmine Williams
was promoted to Assistant Vice President, Commercial Loan Officer. 
Ms. Williams began her career at Eastern Michigan Bank in 2013 and has held various positions of increasing 
responsibility in the commercial loan area, including Credit Analyst (2016-2018), Senior Credit Analyst (2018 
-2020), and Commercial Portfolio Officer (2020-2021). She was promoted to Commercial Loan Officer in 2021. 
In addition to her banking experience, Jasmine holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree from Walsh 
College with a major in finance. She is also a board member of the Blue Water Young Professionals and SC4 
Foundation and serves on the Grants Committee at the St. Clair County Community Foundation.

In February 2024, Commercial Loan Officer Dan Hale
was promoted to Assistant Vice President, Commercial Loan Officer. 

Mr. Hale joined the Bank in January 2021 as a loan officer trainee. In his current role, he serves 
business and agricultural customers across Sanilac and Huron Counties. 

Dan graduated from Michigan State University with a bachelor’s degree in agribusiness 
management, a minor in agronomy, and a certificate in agricultural technology. He is actively 

involved in the local community, currently serving as a Young Farmers spokesperson for Michigan 
Farm Bureau and a junior varsity basketball coach for Sandusky High School.

In February 2024, Vice President, Retail Banking Manager Kimberly Bowman
was promoted to Senior Vice President, Chief Retail Officer. 
Ms. Bowman joined Eastern Michigan Bank in 2016 as Assistant Vice President, Branch Manager of 
the Port Huron – Water Street location. In 2020, she was promoted to Vice President, Retail Banking 
Manager and became responsible for overall branch operations, including business development, 
customer service, and risk management. 
Kim has over 20 years of banking experience and a bachelor’s degree in criminal justice from
Wayne State University. She is active in her local community, currently serving as President of
the Landmark Academy Board of Education and Vice Chair of the Port Huron Township Downtown 
Development Authority.

In August 2024, Karen Davis joined the administration team at Eastern Michigan Bank (Bank)
in the newly created role of Assistant Vice President, Operations Manager.

Under the direction of our senior management team, Ms. Davis supervises the Bank’s deposit and loan 
operations staff, working to ensure that existing procedures and workflows are in place to meet business 
and regulatory requirements while identifying, developing, and recommending new processes to improve 
efficiency and customer service. 
Karen has almost 30 years of community banking experience, including 20 years focused on operations 
management. She also co-owns a topsoil and compost business in the Carsonville area with her husband.
 

In July 2024, Jay Wofford rejoined the commercial loan teamat Eastern Michigan Bank as Vice 
President, Commercial Loan Officer at our Port Huron - Military Street office. 

Jay is a seasoned commercial loan officer who worked for the Bank for many years prior. He 
holds a Bachelor of Business Administration degree from the University of Michigan and is a 

current member of the Noon Optimist Club of Port Huron,
as well as a past president and secretary.



L E T T E R  T O  S H A R E H O L D E R S
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                     Dear Valued Shareholders,

For the second year in a row and the fourth time in the last five, Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation 
(Company) has achieved record earnings. This remarkable achievement is a testament to our strong 
financial foundation, strategic vision, focused employees, and unwavering commitment to serving our 
customers and communities. 

Financial Performance & Growth
In 2024, the Company reported record net earnings of $7.0 million, a 13.8% increase over the previous 
year. Total assets ended the year at $521.0 million due to strong loan demand, steady deposits, and, most 
importantly, disciplined financial management.

Key financial highlights include:

Margin Expansion: Net Interest Margin improved from 3.43% to 4.08%. Unlike many competing 
banks, our margin continues to expand, driven by growth and the repricing of maturing loans and 
investments. 
  
Cost of Funds: Our average Cost of Funds remains one of the lowest in the nation at 0.53%.
  
Return on Assets (ROA) and Return on Equity (ROE): Our ROA improved to 1.33%, compared to 1.15% 
for 2023. ROE declined slightly to 16.24%, down from 17.33%. 

Credit quality remains strong, with non-performing assets exceptionally low at 1.00% of total loans.

   
Looking ahead to the remainder of 2025, we are confident in our ability to build on this momentum and 
anticipate another successful year.

New Branch Open in Marine City
We are thrilled to announce the opening of a new branch in Marine City in late 2024. Expansion into 
this market area further strengthens our regional presence and reinforces our mission of delivering 
exceptional, community-based financial solutions to individuals, businesses, and organizations.

Honoring Donna Niester
As we celebrate our continued success, we must also take a moment to honor the memory of Donna 
Niester, a devoted member of our Board of Directors who passed away in October 2024. Donna’s leadership, 
wisdom, and commitment helped shape this Company into the strong organization it is today. Her dedication 
to our mission and service to her community will never be forgotten, and we are incredibly grateful for her 
lasting impact.

•

•

•

•



William Oldford, Jr., Vice Chairperson
President and Chief Executive Officer

Eastern Michigan Bank, Croswell

Timothy Ward, Chairperson
Retired Chief Executive Officer

Eastern Michigan Bank, Croswell

Sincerely,

L E T T E R  T O  S H A R E H O L D E R S  ( C O N ’ T )
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Welcome Patricia Manley
We are pleased to welcome Patricia Manley to our Board of Directors. Patti is a Certified Public Accountant 
based in Marine City and brings a wealth of financial expertise, leadership experience, and deep commitment 
to community to this role. Her insight and guidance will be invaluable as we continue to grow and expand our 
service footprint. We look forward to her contributions in the years ahead.

Looking Ahead
With a strong financial position, dedicated leadership, and strategic growth initiatives in place, the
Company is well-positioned for continued success in 2025 and beyond. We remain committed to
delivering long-term value to our shareholders while maintaining the highest service standards, integrity, 
and community support.

On behalf of the Board of Directors and the leadership team, we thank you for your continued trust and 
support, and look forward to another exciting year ahead.



2024 HIGHLIGHTS

TEN-YEAR FINANCIAL PROFILE

H IGH LI G HTS  AND TEN YEAR
FIN A NCI AL PR OFI LE
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TEN YEAR FINANCIAL PROFILE

FOR THE YEAR (in thousands) 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Net interest income $ 17,692 $ 13,604 $ 13,209 $ 11,874 11,919 $ 10,582 $ 9,244 $ 9,086 $ 8,306 $ 8,275 $ 8,175 $ 8,500 $ 8,674 $ 8,768 $ 8,369 $ 8,671 $ 9,209
Provision for credit losses 189 (7) (119) 228 155 363 173 79 (144) 69 283 406 933 1,066 2,294 991 476
Non-interest income 1,989 2,116 2,877 2,855 1,765 1,942 2,095 1,725 1,694 1,530 1,669 1,571 1,278 1,531 1,659 240 1,105
Non-interest expense 11,712 11,157 10,204 9,351 8,664 8,377 7,637 7,856 7,448 7,291 7,223 7,395 7,132 7,170 7,068 7,050 7,058

Income before income taxes 7,780 4,570 6,001 5,150 4,865 3,784 3,529 2,876 2,696 2,445 2,338 2,270 1,887 2,063 666 870 2,780

Less: income taxes 1,593 933 1,097 953 864 682 1,092 776 724 618 518 497 404 495 16 131 833

Net income 6,187 3,637 4,904 4,197 4,001 3,102 2,437 2,100 1,972 1,827 1,820 1,773 1,483 1,568 650 739 1,947

AT YEAR END (in thousands) 2,608

Total investment securities $ 273,385 $ 279,533 $ 229,276 $ 72,123 103,139 $ 89,065 $ 94,370 $ 106,504 $ 110,344 $ 118,054 $ 113,141 $ 85,452 $ 72,389 $ 64,855 $ 38,149 $ 17,891 $ 27,234
Restricted investments 1,331 1,211 1,116 1,116 1,116 1,056 1,056 1,056 980 1,022 916 916 905 952 982 922 922
Federal funds sold 698             608             418             386             21,128        20,448        176             582             - - - - -            -            1,631        4,523        4,401        
Total loans 212,377 183,258 192,351 223,307 181,340 176,614 171,438 154,265 137,535 137,025 136,487 139,580 144,116 155,858 170,633 174,926 168,443
Allowance for credit losses 2,608 1,710 1,719 1,835 1,574 1,551 1,330 1,222 1,204 1,688 1,765 2,758 2,796 3,155 3,716 2,233 1,901
Total assets 539,863 563,570 534,043 467,965 373,906 355,073 329,426 324,956 293,028 283,251 279,362 270,472 259,757 259,966 250,424 226,950 223,366
Total deposits 497,375 527,408 487,941 423,674 333,878 319,584 295,923 293,079 262,124 253,998 252,086 242,897 233,578 234,907 224,277 201,469 197,000
Borrowed funds  - - -            -            2,000        2,000        2,000        
Shareholders' equity 40,417 32,662 44,578 42,897 38,752 34,477 32,649 30,643 29,572 28,394 26,489 26,616 25,103 23,983 23,056 22,373 23,484

PER SHARE
Net income $ 4.95 $ 2.90 $ 3.98 $ 3.44 3.33 $ 2.61 $ 2.36 $ 1.82 $ 1.73 $ 1.61 $ 1.60 $ 1.57 $ 1.31 $ 1.39 $ 0.58 $ 0.64 $ 1.69
Book value 32.23 26.14 35.64 35.02 32.16 28.94 27.76 26.55 25.81 24.97 23.32 23.52 22.24 21.25 20.43 19.82 20.36
Cash dividends per share 1.50 1.80 1.10 1.00 0.84 0.73 0.63 0.60 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.48 0.48 0.48 0.96 0.96

Number of shares outstanding 1,253,851 1,249,303 1,250,647 1,224,895 1,204,799 1,191,159 1,176,011 1,154,370 1,145,731 1,137,294 1,135,669 1,131,649 1,128,737 1,128,737 1,128,737 1,128,737 1,153,667

Return on average assets 1.15% 0.65% 0.96% 0.98% 1.08% 0.91% 0.74% 0.67% 0.69% 0.65% 0.67% 0.68% 0.58% 0.61% 0.28% 0.33% 0.87%
Return on average equity 17.33% 10.47% 11.18% 10.37% 10.97% 9.49% 7.70% 6.90% 6.64% 6.65% 6.83% 6.83% 5.94% 6.48% 2.83% 3.20% 8.29%
Capital ratio 9.42% 8.21% 8.69% 9.14% 10.43% 9.77% 10.10% 9.70% 10.33% 9.95% 9.75% 9.76% 9.68% 8.98% 9.33% 9.85% * 10.22%

* Prior to 2009 the capital ratio was not measured at the consolidated level. Capital ratios reported in those earlier years are based on Eastern Michigan Bank results.

TEN YEAR FINANCIAL PROFILE

FOR THE YEAR (in thousands) 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Net interest income $ 19,535 $ 17,692 $ 13,604 $ 13,209 $ 11,874 11,919 $ 10,582 $ 9,244 $ 9,086 $ 8,306 $ 8,275 $ 8,175 $ 8,500 $ 8,674 $ 8,768 $ 8,369 $ 8,671 $ 9,209
Provision for credit losses 3 189 (7) (119) 228 155 363 173 79 (144) 69 283 406 933 1,066 2,294 991 476
Non-interest income 2,166 1,989 2,116 2,877 2,855 1,765 1,942 2,095 1,725 1,694 1,530 1,669 1,571 1,278 1,531 1,659 240 1,105
Non-interest expense 12,825 11,712 11,157 10,204 9,351 8,664 8,377 7,637 7,856 7,448 7,291 7,223 7,395 7,132 7,170 7,068 7,050 7,058

Income before income taxes 8,873 7,780 4,570 6,001 5,150 4,865 3,784 3,529 2,876 2,696 2,445 2,338 2,270 1,887 2,063 666 870 2,780

Less: income taxes 1,835 1,593 933 1,097 953 864 682 1,092 776 724 618 518 497 404 495 16 131 833

Net income 7,038 6,187 3,637 4,904 4,197 4,001 3,102 2,437 2,100 1,972 1,827 1,820 1,773 1,483 1,568 650 739 1,947

AT YEAR END (in thousands) 2,608

Total investment securities $ 249,413 $ 273,385 $ 279,533 $ 229,276 $ 72,123 103,139 $ 89,065 $ 94,370 $ 106,504 $ 110,344 $ 118,054 $ 113,141 $ 85,452 $ 72,389 $ 64,855 $ 38,149 $ 17,891 $ 27,234
Restricted investments 1,331 1,331 1,211 1,116 1,116 1,116 1,056 1,056 1,056 980 1,022 916 916 905 952 982 922 922
Federal funds sold 903             698             608             418             386             21,128        20,448        176             582             -              -              -              -              -            -            1,631        4,523        4,401        
Total loans 220,053 212,377 183,258 192,351 223,307 181,340 176,614 171,438 154,265 137,535 137,025 136,487 139,580 144,116 155,858 170,633 174,926 168,443
Allowance for credit losses 2,795 2,608 1,710 1,719 1,835 1,574 1,551 1,330 1,222 1,204 1,688 1,765 2,758 2,796 3,155 3,716 2,233 1,901
Total assets 521,019 539,863 563,570 534,043 467,965 373,906 355,073 329,426 324,956 293,028 283,251 279,362 270,472 259,757 259,966 250,424 226,950 223,366
Total deposits 470,000 497,375 527,408 487,941 423,674 333,878 319,584 295,923 293,079 262,124 253,998 252,086 242,897 233,578 234,907 224,277 201,469 197,000
Borrowed funds -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -            -            2,000        2,000        2,000        
Shareholders' equity 48,595 40,417 32,662 44,578 42,897 38,752 34,477 32,649 30,643 29,572 28,394 26,489 26,616 25,103 23,983 23,056 22,373 23,484

PER SHARE
Net income $ 5.56 $ 4.95 $ 2.90 $ 3.98 $ 3.44 3.33 $ 2.61 $ 2.36 $ 1.82 $ 1.73 $ 1.61 $ 1.60 $ 1.57 $ 1.31 $ 1.39 $ 0.58 $ 0.64 $ 1.69
Book value 38.09 32.23 26.14 35.64 35.02 32.16 28.94 27.76 26.55 25.81 24.97 23.32 23.52 22.24 21.25 20.43 19.82 20.36
Cash dividends per share 2.10 1.50 1.80 1.10 1.00 0.84 0.73 0.63 0.60 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.48 0.48 0.48 0.96 0.96

Number of shares outstanding 1,275,698 1,253,851 1,249,303 1,250,647 1,224,895 1,204,799 1,191,159 1,176,011 1,154,370 1,145,731 1,137,294 1,135,669 1,131,649 1,128,737 1,128,737 1,128,737 1,128,737 1,153,667

Return on average assets 1.33% 1.15% 0.65% 0.96% 0.98% 1.08% 0.91% 0.74% 0.67% 0.69% 0.65% 0.67% 0.68% 0.58% 0.61% 0.28% 0.33% 0.87%
Return on average equity 16.24% 17.33% 10.47% 11.18% 10.37% 10.97% 9.49% 7.70% 6.90% 6.64% 6.65% 6.83% 6.83% 5.94% 6.48% 2.83% 3.20% 8.29%
Capital ratio 9.94% 9.42% 8.21% 8.69% 9.14% 10.43% 9.77% 10.10% 9.70% 10.33% 9.95% 9.75% 9.76% 9.68% 8.98% 9.33% 9.85% * 10.22%

*  Prior to 2009 the capital ratio was not measured at the consolidated level.  Capital ratios reported in those earlier years are based on Eastern Michigan Bank results.

TEN YEAR FINANCIAL PROFILE

FOR THE YEAR (in thousands) 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Net interest income $ 17,692 $ 13,604 $ 13,209 $ 11,874 11,919 $ 10,582 $ 9,244 $ 9,086 $ 8,306 $ 8,275 $ 8,175 $ 8,500 $ 8,674 $ 8,768 $ 8,369 $ 8,671 $ 9,209
Provision for credit losses 189 (7) (119) 228 155 363 173 79 (144) 69 283 406 933 1,066 2,294 991 476
Non-interest income 1,989 2,116 2,877 2,855 1,765 1,942 2,095 1,725 1,694 1,530 1,669 1,571 1,278 1,531 1,659 240 1,105
Non-interest expense 11,712 11,157 10,204 9,351 8,664 8,377 7,637 7,856 7,448 7,291 7,223 7,395 7,132 7,170 7,068 7,050 7,058

Income before income taxes 7,780 4,570 6,001 5,150 4,865 3,784 3,529 2,876 2,696 2,445 2,338 2,270 1,887 2,063 666 870 2,780

Less: income taxes 1,593 933 1,097 953 864 682 1,092 776 724 618 518 497 404 495 16 131 833

Net income 6,187 3,637 4,904 4,197 4,001 3,102 2,437 2,100 1,972 1,827 1,820 1,773 1,483 1,568 650 739 1,947

AT YEAR END (in thousands) 2,608

Total investment securities $ 273,385 $ 279,533 $ 229,276 $ 72,123 103,139 $ 89,065 $ 94,370 $ 106,504 $ 110,344 $ 118,054 $ 113,141 $ 85,452 $ 72,389 $ 64,855 $ 38,149 $ 17,891 $ 27,234
Restricted investments 1,331 1,211 1,116 1,116 1,116 1,056 1,056 1,056 980 1,022 916 916 905 952 982 922 922
Federal funds sold 698             608             418             386             21,128        20,448        176             582             - - - - -            -            1,631        4,523        4,401        
Total loans 212,377 183,258 192,351 223,307 181,340 176,614 171,438 154,265 137,535 137,025 136,487 139,580 144,116 155,858 170,633 174,926 168,443
Allowance for credit losses 2,608 1,710 1,719 1,835 1,574 1,551 1,330 1,222 1,204 1,688 1,765 2,758 2,796 3,155 3,716 2,233 1,901
Total assets 539,863 563,570 534,043 467,965 373,906 355,073 329,426 324,956 293,028 283,251 279,362 270,472 259,757 259,966 250,424 226,950 223,366
Total deposits 497,375 527,408 487,941 423,674 333,878 319,584 295,923 293,079 262,124 253,998 252,086 242,897 233,578 234,907 224,277 201,469 197,000
Borrowed funds  - - -            -            2,000        2,000        2,000        
Shareholders' equity 40,417 32,662 44,578 42,897 38,752 34,477 32,649 30,643 29,572 28,394 26,489 26,616 25,103 23,983 23,056 22,373 23,484

PER SHARE
Net income $ 4.95 $ 2.90 $ 3.98 $ 3.44 3.33 $ 2.61 $ 2.36 $ 1.82 $ 1.73 $ 1.61 $ 1.60 $ 1.57 $ 1.31 $ 1.39 $ 0.58 $ 0.64 $ 1.69
Book value 32.23 26.14 35.64 35.02 32.16 28.94 27.76 26.55 25.81 24.97 23.32 23.52 22.24 21.25 20.43 19.82 20.36
Cash dividends per share 1.50 1.80 1.10 1.00 0.84 0.73 0.63 0.60 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.48 0.48 0.48 0.96 0.96

Number of shares outstanding 1,253,851 1,249,303 1,250,647 1,224,895 1,204,799 1,191,159 1,176,011 1,154,370 1,145,731 1,137,294 1,135,669 1,131,649 1,128,737 1,128,737 1,128,737 1,128,737 1,153,667

Return on average assets 1.15% 0.65% 0.96% 0.98% 1.08% 0.91% 0.74% 0.67% 0.69% 0.65% 0.67% 0.68% 0.58% 0.61% 0.28% 0.33% 0.87%
Return on average equity 17.33% 10.47% 11.18% 10.37% 10.97% 9.49% 7.70% 6.90% 6.64% 6.65% 6.83% 6.83% 5.94% 6.48% 2.83% 3.20% 8.29%
Capital ratio 9.42% 8.21% 8.69% 9.14% 10.43% 9.77% 10.10% 9.70% 10.33% 9.95% 9.75% 9.76% 9.68% 8.98% 9.33% 9.85% * 10.22%

* Prior to 2009 the capital ratio was not measured at the consolidated level. Capital ratios reported in those earlier years are based on Eastern Michigan Bank results.

TEN YEAR FINANCIAL PROFILE

FOR THE YEAR (in thousands) 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Net interest income $ 17,692 $ 13,604 $ 13,209 $ 11,874 11,919 $ 10,582 $ 9,244 $ 9,086 $ 8,306 $ 8,275 $ 8,175 $ 8,500 $ 8,674 $ 8,768 $ 8,369 $ 8,671 $ 9,209
Provision for credit losses 189 (7) (119) 228 155 363 173 79 (144) 69 283 406 933 1,066 2,294 991 476
Non-interest income 1,989 2,116 2,877 2,855 1,765 1,942 2,095 1,725 1,694 1,530 1,669 1,571 1,278 1,531 1,659 240 1,105
Non-interest expense 11,712 11,157 10,204 9,351 8,664 8,377 7,637 7,856 7,448 7,291 7,223 7,395 7,132 7,170 7,068 7,050 7,058

Income before income taxes 7,780 4,570 6,001 5,150 4,865 3,784 3,529 2,876 2,696 2,445 2,338 2,270 1,887 2,063 666 870 2,780

Less: income taxes 1,593 933 1,097 953 864 682 1,092 776 724 618 518 497 404 495 16 131 833

Net income 6,187 3,637 4,904 4,197 4,001 3,102 2,437 2,100 1,972 1,827 1,820 1,773 1,483 1,568 650 739 1,947

AT YEAR END (in thousands) 2,608

Total investment securities $ 273,385 $ 279,533 $ 229,276 $ 72,123 103,139 $ 89,065 $ 94,370 $ 106,504 $ 110,344 $ 118,054 $ 113,141 $ 85,452 $ 72,389 $ 64,855 $ 38,149 $ 17,891 $ 27,234
Restricted investments 1,331 1,211 1,116 1,116 1,116 1,056 1,056 1,056 980 1,022 916 916 905 952 982 922 922
Federal funds sold 698             608             418             386             21,128        20,448        176             582             - - - - -            -            1,631        4,523        4,401        
Total loans 212,377 183,258 192,351 223,307 181,340 176,614 171,438 154,265 137,535 137,025 136,487 139,580 144,116 155,858 170,633 174,926 168,443
Allowance for credit losses 2,608 1,710 1,719 1,835 1,574 1,551 1,330 1,222 1,204 1,688 1,765 2,758 2,796 3,155 3,716 2,233 1,901
Total assets 539,863 563,570 534,043 467,965 373,906 355,073 329,426 324,956 293,028 283,251 279,362 270,472 259,757 259,966 250,424 226,950 223,366
Total deposits 497,375 527,408 487,941 423,674 333,878 319,584 295,923 293,079 262,124 253,998 252,086 242,897 233,578 234,907 224,277 201,469 197,000
Borrowed funds  - - -            -            2,000        2,000        2,000        
Shareholders' equity 40,417 32,662 44,578 42,897 38,752 34,477 32,649 30,643 29,572 28,394 26,489 26,616 25,103 23,983 23,056 22,373 23,484

PER SHARE
Net income $ 4.95 $ 2.90 $ 3.98 $ 3.44 3.33 $ 2.61 $ 2.36 $ 1.82 $ 1.73 $ 1.61 $ 1.60 $ 1.57 $ 1.31 $ 1.39 $ 0.58 $ 0.64 $ 1.69
Book value 32.23 26.14 35.64 35.02 32.16 28.94 27.76 26.55 25.81 24.97 23.32 23.52 22.24 21.25 20.43 19.82 20.36
Cash dividends per share 1.50 1.80 1.10 1.00 0.84 0.73 0.63 0.60 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.48 0.48 0.48 0.96 0.96

Number of shares outstanding 1,253,851 1,249,303 1,250,647 1,224,895 1,204,799 1,191,159 1,176,011 1,154,370 1,145,731 1,137,294 1,135,669 1,131,649 1,128,737 1,128,737 1,128,737 1,128,737 1,153,667

Return on average assets 1.15% 0.65% 0.96% 0.98% 1.08% 0.91% 0.74% 0.67% 0.69% 0.65% 0.67% 0.68% 0.58% 0.61% 0.28% 0.33% 0.87%
Return on average equity 17.33% 10.47% 11.18% 10.37% 10.97% 9.49% 7.70% 6.90% 6.64% 6.65% 6.83% 6.83% 5.94% 6.48% 2.83% 3.20% 8.29%
Capital ratio 9.42% 8.21% 8.69% 9.14% 10.43% 9.77% 10.10% 9.70% 10.33% 9.95% 9.75% 9.76% 9.68% 8.98% 9.33% 9.85% * 10.22%

* Prior to 2009 the capital ratio was not measured at the consolidated level. Capital ratios reported in those earlier years are based on Eastern Michigan Bank results.

Total deposits
Shareholders’ equity

2024 HIGHLIGHTS

FOR THE YEAR (in thousands) 2024 2023 % Change

Net interest income $ 19,535 $ 17,692 10.4%
Non-interest income 2,166 1,989 8.9%
Non-interest expense 12,825 11,712 9.5%
Net income 7,038 6,187 13.8%

YEAR END (in thousands)
Total assets $ 521,019 $ 539,863 -3.5%
Loans, net of deferred costs and fees 220,053 212,377 3.6%
Allowance for credit losses 2,795 2,608 7.2%
Deposits 470,000 497,375 -5.5%
Shareholders' equity 48,595 40,417 20.2%

PER SHARE
Net income $ 5.56 $ 4.95 12.3%
Book value 38.09 32.23 18.2%
Cash dividends 2.10 1.50 40.0%

Number of shares outstanding 1,275,698 1,253,851 1.7%

2024 HIGHLIGHTS

FOR THE YEAR (in thousands) 2024 2023 % Change

Net interest income $ 19,535 $ 17,692 10.4%
Non-interest income 2,166 1,989 8.9%
Non-interest expense 12,825 11,712 9.5%
Net income 7,038 6,187 13.8%

YEAR END (in thousands)
Total assets $ 521,019 $ 539,863 -3.5%
Loans, net of deferred costs and fees 220,053 212,377 3.6%
Allowance for credit losses 2,795 2,608 7.2%
Deposits 470,000 497,375 -5.5%
Shareholders' equity 48,595 40,417 20.2%

PER SHARE
Net income $ 5.56 $ 4.95 12.3%
Book value 38.09 32.23 18.2%
Cash dividends 2.10 1.50 40.0%

Number of shares outstanding 1,275,698 1,253,851 1.7%

2024 HIGHLIGHTS

FOR THE YEAR (in thousands) 2024 2023 % Change

Net interest income $ 19,535 $ 17,692 10.4%
Non-interest income 2,166 1,989 8.9%
Non-interest expense 12,825 11,712 9.5%
Net income 7,038 6,187 13.8%

YEAR END (in thousands)
Total assets $ 521,019 $ 539,863 -3.5%
Loans, net of deferred costs and fees 220,053 212,377 3.6%
Allowance for credit losses 2,795 2,608 7.2%
Deposits 470,000 497,375 -5.5%
Shareholders' equity 48,595 40,417 20.2%

PER SHARE
Net income $ 5.56 $ 4.95 12.3%
Book value 38.09 32.23 18.2%
Cash dividends 2.10 1.50 40.0%

Number of shares outstanding 1,275,698 1,253,851 1.7%

TEN YEAR FINANCIAL PROFILE

FOR THE YEAR (in thousands) 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Net interest income $ 19,535 $ 17,692 $ 13,604 $ 13,209 $ 11,874 11,919 $ 10,582 $ 9,244 $ 9,086 $ 8,306 $ 8,275 $ 8,175 $ 8,500 $ 8,674 $ 8,768 $ 8,369 $ 8,671 $ 9,209
Provision for credit losses 3 189 (7) (119) 228 155 363 173 79 (144) 69 283 406 933 1,066 2,294 991 476
Non-interest income 2,166 1,989 2,116 2,877 2,855 1,765 1,942 2,095 1,725 1,694 1,530 1,669 1,571 1,278 1,531 1,659 240 1,105
Non-interest expense 12,825 11,712 11,157 10,204 9,351 8,664 8,377 7,637 7,856 7,448 7,291 7,223 7,395 7,132 7,170 7,068 7,050 7,058

Income before income taxes 8,873 7,780 4,570 6,001 5,150 4,865 3,784 3,529 2,876 2,696 2,445 2,338 2,270 1,887 2,063 666 870 2,780

Less: income taxes 1,835 1,593 933 1,097 953 864 682 1,092 776 724 618 518 497 404 495 16 131 833

Net income 7,038 6,187 3,637 4,904 4,197 4,001 3,102 2,437 2,100 1,972 1,827 1,820 1,773 1,483 1,568 650 739 1,947

AT YEAR END (in thousands) 2,608

Total investment securities $ 249,413 $ 273,385 $ 279,533 $ 229,276 $ 72,123 103,139 $ 89,065 $ 94,370 $ 106,504 $ 110,344 $ 118,054 $ 113,141 $ 85,452 $ 72,389 $ 64,855 $ 38,149 $ 17,891 $ 27,234
Restricted investments 1,331 1,331 1,211 1,116 1,116 1,116 1,056 1,056 1,056 980 1,022 916 916 905 952 982 922 922
Federal funds sold 903             698             608             418             386             21,128        20,448        176             582             -              -              -              -              -            -            1,631        4,523        4,401        
Total loans 220,053 212,377 183,258 192,351 223,307 181,340 176,614 171,438 154,265 137,535 137,025 136,487 139,580 144,116 155,858 170,633 174,926 168,443
Allowance for credit losses 2,795 2,608 1,710 1,719 1,835 1,574 1,551 1,330 1,222 1,204 1,688 1,765 2,758 2,796 3,155 3,716 2,233 1,901
Total assets 521,019 539,863 563,570 534,043 467,965 373,906 355,073 329,426 324,956 293,028 283,251 279,362 270,472 259,757 259,966 250,424 226,950 223,366
Total deposits 470,000 497,375 527,408 487,941 423,674 333,878 319,584 295,923 293,079 262,124 253,998 252,086 242,897 233,578 234,907 224,277 201,469 197,000
Borrowed funds -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -            -            2,000        2,000        2,000        
Shareholders' equity 48,595 40,417 32,662 44,578 42,897 38,752 34,477 32,649 30,643 29,572 28,394 26,489 26,616 25,103 23,983 23,056 22,373 23,484

PER SHARE
Net income $ 5.56 $ 4.95 $ 2.90 $ 3.98 $ 3.44 3.33 $ 2.61 $ 2.36 $ 1.82 $ 1.73 $ 1.61 $ 1.60 $ 1.57 $ 1.31 $ 1.39 $ 0.58 $ 0.64 $ 1.69
Book value 38.09 32.23 26.14 35.64 35.02 32.16 28.94 27.76 26.55 25.81 24.97 23.32 23.52 22.24 21.25 20.43 19.82 20.36
Cash dividends per share 2.10 1.50 1.80 1.10 1.00 0.84 0.73 0.63 0.60 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.48 0.48 0.48 0.96 0.96

Number of shares outstanding 1,275,698 1,253,851 1,249,303 1,250,647 1,224,895 1,204,799 1,191,159 1,176,011 1,154,370 1,145,731 1,137,294 1,135,669 1,131,649 1,128,737 1,128,737 1,128,737 1,128,737 1,153,667

Return on average assets 1.33% 1.15% 0.65% 0.96% 0.98% 1.08% 0.91% 0.74% 0.67% 0.69% 0.65% 0.67% 0.68% 0.58% 0.61% 0.28% 0.33% 0.87%
Return on average equity 16.24% 17.33% 10.47% 11.18% 10.37% 10.97% 9.49% 7.70% 6.90% 6.64% 6.65% 6.83% 6.83% 5.94% 6.48% 2.83% 3.20% 8.29%
Capital ratio 9.94% 9.42% 8.21% 8.69% 9.14% 10.43% 9.77% 10.10% 9.70% 10.33% 9.95% 9.75% 9.76% 9.68% 8.98% 9.33% 9.85% * 10.22%

*  Prior to 2009 the capital ratio was not measured at the consolidated level.  Capital ratios reported in those earlier years are based on Eastern Michigan Bank results.

Total deposits
Shareholders’ equity
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EASTERN MICHIGAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION

2023 2022
Interest and dividend income

Loans (including fees) 10,669$             8,583$               
Securities
   Taxable 7,175 4,248
   Nontaxable 119 95
   Other 69 54
Federal funds sold and deposits with banks 1,710 1,599

Total interest and dividend income 19,742               14,579               

Interest expense 2,050 975

Net interest income 17,692               13,604               

Credit loss expense (reversal) on loans 294 (7)                        
Credit loss expense (reversal) on held-to-maturity investments (38)                      -                           
Credit loss expense (reversal) on off-balance sheet credit exposures (67)                      -                           
Total credit loss expense (reversal) 189                     (7)

Net interest income, after credit loss expense (reversal) 17,503               13,611               

Noninterest income 
Service charges on deposit accounts 1,285 1,213
Other service charges and fees 250 264
Other 454 639

Total noninterest income 1,989                  2,116                  

Noninterest expenses 
Compensation and benefits 6,652 6,256
Occupancy and equipment 733 1,239
Other 4,327 3,662

Total noninterest expenses 11,712               11,157               

Income before income taxes 7,780                  4,570                  

Income taxes 1,593 933

Net income 6,187$               3,637$               

Net income per common share

Basic 4.95$                  2.90$                  

Diluted 4.93$                  2.87$                  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income
(Dollars in thousands except share data)

Year Ended December 31

5

(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

Consolidated Balance Sheets  
(Dollars in thousands except per share data) 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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(Dollars in thousands except per share data) 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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EASTERN MICHIGAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION

2023 2022
Interest and dividend income

Loans (including fees) 10,669$             8,583$               
Securities
   Taxable 7,175 4,248
   Nontaxable 119 95
   Other 69 54
Federal funds sold and deposits with banks 1,710 1,599

Total interest and dividend income 19,742               14,579               

Interest expense 2,050 975

Net interest income 17,692               13,604               

Credit loss expense (reversal) on loans 294 (7)                        
Credit loss expense (reversal) on held-to-maturity investments (38)                      -                           
Credit loss expense (reversal) on off-balance sheet credit exposures (67)                      -                           
Total credit loss expense (reversal) 189                     (7)

Net interest income, after credit loss expense (reversal) 17,503               13,611               

Noninterest income 
Service charges on deposit accounts 1,285 1,213
Other service charges and fees 250 264
Other 454 639

Total noninterest income 1,989                  2,116                  

Noninterest expenses 
Compensation and benefits 6,652 6,256
Occupancy and equipment 733 1,239
Other 4,327 3,662

Total noninterest expenses 11,712               11,157               

Income before income taxes 7,780                  4,570                  

Income taxes 1,593 933

Net income 6,187$               3,637$               

Net income per common share

Basic 4.95$                  2.90$                  

Diluted 4.93$                  2.87$                  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income
(Dollars in thousands except share data)

Year Ended December 31
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Data processing 511 496
Federal deposit insurance 262 255
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EASTERN MICHIGAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION

2023 2022
Interest and dividend income

Loans (including fees) 10,669$             8,583$               
Securities
   Taxable 7,175 4,248
   Nontaxable 119 95
   Other 69 54
Federal funds sold and deposits with banks 1,710 1,599

Total interest and dividend income 19,742               14,579               

Interest expense 2,050 975

Net interest income 17,692               13,604               

Credit loss expense (reversal) on loans 294 (7)                        
Credit loss expense (reversal) on held-to-maturity investments (38)                      -                           
Credit loss expense (reversal) on off-balance sheet credit exposures (67)                      -                           
Total credit loss expense (reversal) 189                     (7)

Net interest income, after credit loss expense (reversal) 17,503               13,611               

Noninterest income 
Service charges on deposit accounts 1,285 1,213
Other service charges and fees 250 264
Other 454 639

Total noninterest income 1,989                  2,116                  

Noninterest expenses 
Compensation and benefits 6,652 6,256
Occupancy and equipment 733 1,239
Other 4,327 3,662

Total noninterest expenses 11,712               11,157               

Income before income taxes 7,780                  4,570                  

Income taxes 1,593 933

Net income 6,187$               3,637$               

Net income per common share

Basic 4.95$                  2.90$                  

Diluted 4.93$                  2.87$                  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Income
(Dollars in thousands except share data)

Year Ended December 31
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EASTERN MICHIGAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION

2020 2019
Other comprehensive income
Unrealized holding gains on available‐for‐sale 
securities arising during the year  $               1,178   $               1,405 

Reclassification adjustment for net realized (gains) losses  
included in net income                         (7)                        37 

Other comprehensive income before income tax expense                   1,171                    1,442 

Income tax expense related to other 
comprehensive income                     (247)                    (303)

Other comprehensive income                      924                    1,139 

Net income                   4,197                    4,001 

Comprehensive income  $              5,121   $              5,140 

Statements of Comprehensive Income
(Dollars in thousands except share data)

December 31

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
(Dollars in thousands except share data) 
 

 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes to Consolidated Statements 
(Dollars in thousands except per share data) 
 

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Consolida)on and Nature of Business 
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Eastern Michigan Financial Corpora[on, a registered bank 
holding corpora[on (the “Corpora[on”), and its wholly owned subsidiary, Eastern Michigan Bank (the “Bank”), and the Bank’s wholly 
owned subsidiaries Eastern Michigan Proper[es, LLC: Eastern Michigan Financial Servies, Inc.; and Eastern Michigan Real Estate, Inc. 
All significant intercompany accounts and transac[ons have been eliminated in consolida[on. 

 
The Corpora[on is independently owned and operates a community bank engaged in the business of retail and commercial banking 
services through its ten branches located in Sanilac, Huron, and St. Clair coun[es in Michigan. Ac[ve compe[[on, principally from 
other commercial banks, savings banks, and credit unions, exists in all of the Bank’s primary markets. The Bank’s results of opera[ons 
can be significantly affected by changes in interest rates or changes in the automo[ve and agricultural industries, which comprise a 
significant por[on of the local economic environment. 
 
Concentra)on Risks 
 
The Bank’s primary deposit products are interest and noninterest-bearing checking accounts, savings accounts, and [me deposits, and 
its primary lending products are real estate mortgages and commercial, agricultural, and consumer loans. The Bank does not have 
significant concentra[ons with respect to any one industry, customer, or depositor. 
 
The Bank is a state chartered bank and a member of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corpora[on (“FDIC”) Bank Insurance Fund. The 
Bank is subject to the regula[ons and supervision of the Federal Reserve Board and state regulators and undergoes periodic 
examina[ons by these regulatory authori[es. The Corpora[on is also subject to regula[on of the Federal Reserve Board governing 
bank holding companies. 
 
Use of Es)mates 
 
The prepara[on of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accoun[ng principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make es[mates and assump[ons that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabili[es as of the date of the consolidated balance sheet and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the year. Actual 
results could differ from those es[mates. Significant es[mates include but are not limited to the determina[on of the allowance for 
credit losses. 
 
Adop)on of New Accoun)ng Standards 
 
On January 1, 2023, the Corpora[on adopted Accoun[ng Standards Update (ASU) 2016-13 Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 
326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, as amended, which replaces the incurred loss methodology with an 
expected loss methodology that is referred to as the current expected credit loss (CECL) methodology. CECL requires an es[mate of 
credit losses for the remaining es[mated life of the financial asset using historical experience, current condi[ons, and reasonable and 
supportable forecasts and generally applies to financial assets measured at amor[zed cost, including loan receivables and held-to-
maturity debt securi[es, and some off-balance sheet credit exposures such as unfunded commitments to extend credit. Financial 
assets measured at amor[zed cost will be presented at the net amount expected to be collected by using an allowance for credit losses. 

 
Summary of Significant Accoun)ng Policies 
 
Accoun[ng policies used in prepara[on of the accompanying consolidated financial statements are in conformity with accoun[ng 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The principles that materially affect the determina[on of the 
consolidated financial posi[on and results of opera[on of the Corpora[on and its subsidiaries are summarized below. 
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(Dollars in thousands except per share data) 
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of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make es[mates and assump[ons that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabili[es as of the date of the consolidated balance sheet and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the year. Actual 
results could differ from those es[mates. Significant es[mates include but are not limited to the determina[on of the allowance for 
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Adop)on of New Accoun)ng Standards 
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Summary of Significant Accoun)ng Policies 
 
Accoun[ng policies used in prepara[on of the accompanying consolidated financial statements are in conformity with accoun[ng 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The principles that materially affect the determina[on of the 
consolidated financial posi[on and results of opera[on of the Corpora[on and its subsidiaries are summarized below. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash and balances due from banks, 
and federal funds sold, all of which mature within ninety days. Generally, federal funds are sold for a one-day period. The Corpora[on 
maintains deposit accounts in various financial ins[tu[ons which generally exceed the FDIC insured limits or are not insured. 
Management does not believe the Corpora[on is exposed to any significant interest, credit or other financial risk as a result of these 
deposits. 
 
Fair Value Measurements 
 
Fair value refers to the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly transac[on 
between market par[cipants in the market in which the repor[ng en[ty transacts such sales or transfers based on the assump[ons 
market par[cipants would use when pricing an asset or liability. Assump[ons are developed based upon priori[zing informa[on within 
a fair value hierarchy that gives the highest priority to quoted prices in ac[ve markets (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable 
data, such as the repor[ng en[ty’s own data (Level 3). 

 
A descrip[on of each category in the fair value hierarchy is as follows: 
 

Level 1:  Valua[on is based upon quoted prices for iden[cal instruments traded in ac[ve markets. 
 
Level 2:  Valua[on is based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in ac[ve markets, quoted 

 prices for iden[cal or similar instruments in markets that are not ac[ve, and model-based 
 valua[on techniques for which all significant assump[ons are observable in the market. 

 
Level 3:  Valua[on is generated from model-based techniques that use at least one significant  

assump[on not observable in the market. These unobservable assump[ons reflect the es[mates of 
assump[ons that market par[cipants would use in pricing the assets or liability. 

 
For further discussion of Fair Value Measurements, refer to Note 2. 
 
Investment Securi)es 
 
Debt securi[es that management has the ability and posi[ve intent to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity and are 
recorded at amor[zed cost. Debt securi[es not classified as held-to-maturity are classified as available-for-sale and are recorded at fair 
value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of the effect of deferred income taxes, recorded in other comprehensive income (loss). 
Equity securi[es are carried at fair value, with changes in fair value reported in net income. Equity securi[es without readily 
determinable fair values are carried at cost, minus impairment, if any, plus or minus changes resul[ng from observable price changes 
in orderly transac[ons for iden[cal or similar investments. Purchase premiums are discounts are recognized in interest income using 
the interest method over the terms of the securi[es. Gains or losses on the sale of debt securi[es are recorded in investment income 
on the trade date and are determined using the specific iden[fica[on method. A debt security is placed on nonaccrual status at the 
[me any principal or interest payments become 90 days delinquent. Interest accrued but not received for a security placed on 
nonaccrual is reversed against interest income. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Held-to-Maturity Securi)es 
 
Management measures expected credit losses on held-to-maturity debt securi[es on a collec[ve basis by major security type. Accrued 
interest receivable on held-to-maturity debt securi[es totaled $596 at December 31, 2024, and $806 at December 31, 2023, and were 
excluded from the es[mate of credit losses. 
 
The es[mate of expected credit losses is primarily based on the ra[ng assigned to the securi[es by debt ra[ng agencies and the average 
of the annual historical loss rates associated with those ra[ngs. The Corpora[on then mul[ples those loss rates, as adjusted for any 
modifica[ons to reflect current condi[ons and reasonable and supportable forecasts as considered necessary, by the remaining lives 
of each individual security to arrive at the life[me expected loss amount. Management classifies the held-to-maturity porjolio into 
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Certificates of Deposit Held in Other Banks

Certificates of deposit held in other banks mature within two years and are carried at cost. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash and balances due from banks, 
and federal funds sold, all of which mature within ninety days. Generally, federal funds are sold for a one-day period. The Corpora[on 
maintains deposit accounts in various financial ins[tu[ons which generally exceed the FDIC insured limits or are not insured. 
Management does not believe the Corpora[on is exposed to any significant interest, credit or other financial risk as a result of these 
deposits. 
 
Fair Value Measurements 
 
Fair value refers to the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly transac[on 
between market par[cipants in the market in which the repor[ng en[ty transacts such sales or transfers based on the assump[ons 
market par[cipants would use when pricing an asset or liability. Assump[ons are developed based upon priori[zing informa[on within 
a fair value hierarchy that gives the highest priority to quoted prices in ac[ve markets (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable 
data, such as the repor[ng en[ty’s own data (Level 3). 

 
A descrip[on of each category in the fair value hierarchy is as follows: 
 

Level 1:  Valua[on is based upon quoted prices for iden[cal instruments traded in ac[ve markets. 
 
Level 2:  Valua[on is based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in ac[ve markets, quoted 

 prices for iden[cal or similar instruments in markets that are not ac[ve, and model-based 
 valua[on techniques for which all significant assump[ons are observable in the market. 

 
Level 3:  Valua[on is generated from model-based techniques that use at least one significant  

assump[on not observable in the market. These unobservable assump[ons reflect the es[mates of 
assump[ons that market par[cipants would use in pricing the assets or liability. 

 
For further discussion of Fair Value Measurements, refer to Note 2. 
 
Investment Securi)es 
 
Debt securi[es that management has the ability and posi[ve intent to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity and are 
recorded at amor[zed cost. Debt securi[es not classified as held-to-maturity are classified as available-for-sale and are recorded at fair 
value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of the effect of deferred income taxes, recorded in other comprehensive income (loss). 
Equity securi[es are carried at fair value, with changes in fair value reported in net income. Equity securi[es without readily 
determinable fair values are carried at cost, minus impairment, if any, plus or minus changes resul[ng from observable price changes 
in orderly transac[ons for iden[cal or similar investments. Purchase premiums are discounts are recognized in interest income using 
the interest method over the terms of the securi[es. Gains or losses on the sale of debt securi[es are recorded in investment income 
on the trade date and are determined using the specific iden[fica[on method. A debt security is placed on nonaccrual status at the 
[me any principal or interest payments become 90 days delinquent. Interest accrued but not received for a security placed on 
nonaccrual is reversed against interest income. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Held-to-Maturity Securi)es 
 
Management measures expected credit losses on held-to-maturity debt securi[es on a collec[ve basis by major security type. Accrued 
interest receivable on held-to-maturity debt securi[es totaled $596 at December 31, 2024, and $806 at December 31, 2023, and were 
excluded from the es[mate of credit losses. 
 
The es[mate of expected credit losses is primarily based on the ra[ng assigned to the securi[es by debt ra[ng agencies and the average 
of the annual historical loss rates associated with those ra[ngs. The Corpora[on then mul[ples those loss rates, as adjusted for any 
modifica[ons to reflect current condi[ons and reasonable and supportable forecasts as considered necessary, by the remaining lives 
of each individual security to arrive at the life[me expected loss amount. Management classifies the held-to-maturity porjolio into 

Valuation is based upon quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets. 

Valuation is based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted 
prices for identical  or similar instruments in markets that are not active, and model-based 
valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the market.

Valuation is generated from model-based techniques that use at least one significant 
assumption not observable in the market. These unobservable assumptions reflect the 
estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the assets or liability.

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
For the purpose of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash and balances due from banks, 
and federal funds sold, all of which mature within ninety days. Generally, federal funds are sold for a one-day period. The Corpora[on 
maintains deposit accounts in various financial ins[tu[ons which generally exceed the FDIC insured limits or are not insured. 
Management does not believe the Corpora[on is exposed to any significant interest, credit or other financial risk as a result of these 
deposits. 
 
Fair Value Measurements 
 
Fair value refers to the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in an orderly transac[on 
between market par[cipants in the market in which the repor[ng en[ty transacts such sales or transfers based on the assump[ons 
market par[cipants would use when pricing an asset or liability. Assump[ons are developed based upon priori[zing informa[on within 
a fair value hierarchy that gives the highest priority to quoted prices in ac[ve markets (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable 
data, such as the repor[ng en[ty’s own data (Level 3). 

 
A descrip[on of each category in the fair value hierarchy is as follows: 
 

Level 1:  Valua[on is based upon quoted prices for iden[cal instruments traded in ac[ve markets. 
 
Level 2:  Valua[on is based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in ac[ve markets, quoted 

 prices for iden[cal or similar instruments in markets that are not ac[ve, and model-based 
 valua[on techniques for which all significant assump[ons are observable in the market. 

 
Level 3:  Valua[on is generated from model-based techniques that use at least one significant  

assump[on not observable in the market. These unobservable assump[ons reflect the es[mates of 
assump[ons that market par[cipants would use in pricing the assets or liability. 

 

 

 

 
  

 

 

For further discussion of Fair Value Measurements, refer to Note 2. 
 
Investment Securi)es 
 
Debt securi[es that management has the ability and posi[ve intent to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity and are  
recorded at amor[zed cost. Debt securi[es not classified as held-to-maturity are classified as available-for-sale and are recorded at fair 
value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of the effect of deferred income taxes, recorded in other comprehensive income (loss).  
Equity  securi[es  are  carried  at  fair  value,  with  changes  in  fair  value  reported  in  net  income.  Equity  securi[es  without  readily  
determinable fair values are carried at cost, minus impairment, if any, plus or minus changes resul[ng from observable price changes 
in orderly transac[ons for iden[cal or similar investments. Interest income includes amortization of purchase premiums or 
discounts. Purchase premiums are discounts are recognized in interest income using the interest method over the terms of the    
securi[es. Premiums on callable debt securities are amortized to their earliest call date. Gains or losses on the sale of debt securi[es 
are recorded in investment income on the trade date and are determined using the specific iden[fica[on method. A debt security is 
placed on nonaccrual status at the [me  any  principal  or  interest  payments  become  90  days  delinquent.  Interest  accrued  but  
not  received  for  a  security  placed  on nonaccrual is reversed against interest income. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Held-to-Maturity Securi)es 
 
Management measures expected credit losses on held-to-maturity debt securi[es on a collec[ve basis by major security type.        
Accrued interest receivable on held-to-maturity debt securi[es totaled $596 and $806 at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively,  
and were excluded from the es[mate of credit losses. 
 
The es[mate of expected credit losses is primarily based on the ra[ng assigned to the securi[es by debt ra[ng agencies and the aver
age of the annual historical loss rates associated with those ra[ngs. The Corpora[on then mul[plies those loss rates, as adjusted for 
any modifica[ons to reflect current condi[ons and reasonable and supportable forecasts as considered necessary, by the remaining 
lives of each individual security to arrive at the life[me expected loss amount. Management classifies the held-to-maturity porjolio 

into 

Certificates of deposit held in other banks mature within eight months and are carried at cost. 

Debt securities that management has the ability and positive intent to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity and are recorded 
at amortized cost. Debt securities not classified as held-to-maturity are classified as available-for-sale and are recorded at fair value, with 
unrealized gains and losses, net of the effect of deferred income taxes, recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity securities are carried 
at fair value, with changes in fair value reported in net income. Equity securities without readily determinable fair values are carried at cost, 
minus impairment, if any, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for identical or similar 
investments. Interest income includes amortization of purchase premiums or discounts. Purchase premiums are discounts recognized in 
interest income using the interest method over the terms of the securities. Premiums on callable debt securities are amortized to their 
earliest call date. Gains or losses on the sale of debt securities are recorded in investment income on the trade date and are determined 
using the specific identification method. A debt security is placed on nonaccrual status at the time any principal or interest payments 
become 90 days delinquent. Interest accrued but not received for a security placed on nonaccrual is reversed against interest income. 

Management measures expected credit losses on held-to-maturity debt securities on a collective basis by major security type. Accrued 
interest receivable on held-to-maturity debt securities totaled $596 and $806 at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and were 
excluded from the estimate of credit losses. 

The estimate of expected credit losses is primarily based on the rating assigned to the securities by debt rating agencies and the average 
of the annual historical loss rates associated with those ratings. The Corporation then multiplies those loss rates, as adjusted for any 
modifications to reflect current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts as considered necessary, by the remaining lives of 
each individual security to arrive at the lifetime expected loss amount. Management classifies the held-to-maturity portfolio into the 
following major security types: U.S. treasury, corporate bonds, states, and municipals, agency issued mortgage-backed securities, and 
other asset-backed securities. 

Continued. . .
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into the following major security types: U.S. treasury, corporate bonds, states, and municipals, agency issued mortgage-backed 
securi[es, and other asset-backed securi[es. 

Securi[es guaranteed by the United States Treasury and its agencies, securi[es guaranteed by government-sponsored en[[es, and 
AAA-rated collateralized loan obliga[ons with no historical defaults are deemed to have zero expected life[me losses. As a result, no 
allowance for credit losses was recorded for these securi[es at December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

Allowance for Credit Losses – Available-for-Sale Securi)es 

Management evaluates all investments available-for-sale in an unrealized loss posi[on on a quarterly basis, and more frequently when 
economic or market condi[ons warrant such evalua[on. If the Corpora[on has the intent to sell a security or it is more likely than not 
that the Corpora[on will be required to sell a security, the security is wriken down to fair value and the en[re loss is recorded in 
earnings. 

If either of the above criteria is not met, the Corpora[on evaluates whether the decline in fair value is the result of credit losses or 
other factors. In making the assessment, the Corpora[on may consider various factors, including the extent to which fair value is less 
than amor[zed cost, performance on any underlying collateral, downgrades in the ra[ngs of the security by a ra[ng agency, the failure 
of  the  issuer  to  make  scheduled  interest  or  principal  payments,  and  adverse  condi[ons  specifically  related  to  the  security.  If  the 
assessment indicates that a credit loss exists, the present value of cash flows expected to be collected are compared to the amor[zed 
cost basis of the security, and any excess is recorded as an allowance for credit loss, limited by the amount that the fair value is less 
than  the  amor[zed  cost  basis.  Any  amount  of  unrealized  loss  that  has  not  been  recorded  through  an  allowance  for  credit  loss  is  
recognized in other comprehensive income. 

Changes in the allowance for credit loss are recorded as provision for, or reversal of, credit loss expense. Losses are charged against the 
allowance for credit loss when management believes an available-for-sale security is confirmed to be uncollec[ble or when either of 
the criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, there was no allowance for credit loss  
related to the available-for-sale porjolio. 

Accrued interest receivable on available-for-sale debt securi[es totaled $788 and $810 at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, 
and were excluded from the es[mate of credit losses. 

Restricted Investments 

The Bank is a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank System and is required to invest in capital stock of the Federal Home Loan   
Bank of Indianapolis (“FHLB”). The amount of the required investment is based upon the available balance of the Bank’s outstanding 
home mortgage loans or advances from the HFLB and is carried at cost plus the value assigned to the stock dividends. 

The Bank is also a member of the Federal Reserve System and is required to invest in capital stock of the Federal Reserve Bank (“F
RB”). The amount of the required investment is based upon the contributed capital of Eastern Michigan Bank and is carried at cost. 

In addi[on, the Bank is a Farmer Mac I seller and is required to invest in capital stock of Farmer Mac. The amount of required investment 
is determined based upon the consolidated assets at the [me of the ini[al stock purchase and is carried at cost. 

Loans 

Loans that management has the posi[ve intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or un[l maturity or pay-off are generally  
reported at their outstanding unpaid principal balances adjusted for charge-offs, the allowance for credit losses, and any deferred fees 
or costs on originated loans. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance. Loan origina[on fees, net of certain direct 
loan origina[on costs, are deferred and recognized as an adjustment of the related loan yield using the interest method. Accrued 
interest receivable related to loans totaled $1,028 at December 31, 2024, and $1,147 at December 31, 2023. 

The accrual of interest on mortgage and commercial loans is discon[nued at the [me the loan is 90 days past due unless the credit is  
well-secured and in process of collec[on. Consumer and other loans are typically charged off no later than 180 days past due. Past due 

The Bank is a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank System and is required to invest in capital stock of the Federal Home Loan Bank 
of Indianapolis (“FHLB”). The amount of the required investment is based upon the available balance of the Bank’s outstanding home 
mortgage loans or advances from the HFLB and is carried at cost plus the value assigned to the stock dividends. 

The Bank is also a member of the Federal Reserve System and is required to invest in capital stock of the Federal Reserve Bank (“FRB”). 
The amount of the required investment is based upon the contributed capital of Eastern Michigan Bank and is carried at cost. 

In addition, the Bank is Farmer Mac I seller and is required to invest in capital stock of Farmer Mac. The amount of required investment 
is determined based upon the consolidated assets at the time of the initial stock purchase and is carried at cost. 

Loans

Loans that management has the positive intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or pay-off are generally 
reported at their outstanding unpaid principal balances adjusted for charge-offs, the allowance for credit losses, and any deferred fees 
or costs of originated loans. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance. Loan origination fees, net or certain direct loan 
origination costs, are deferred and recognized as an adjustment on the related loan yield using the interest method. Accrued interest 
receivable related to loans totaled $1,028 and $1,147 at December, 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and is excluded from the estimate 
of credit losses. 

The accrual of interest on mortgage and commercial loans is discontinued at the time the loan is 90 days past due unless the credit is 
well-secured and in process of collection. Consumer and other loans are typically charged off no later than 180 days past due. Past due
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status is based on contractual terms of the loan. In all cases, loans are placed on nonaccrual or charged off at an earlier date if the 
collec[on of principal and interest is considered doubjul. 
 
All interest accrued in the current year but not collected for loans that are placed on nonaccrual or are charged off, is reversed against 
interest income while interest accrued but not collected in prior years is reversed against the allowance for loan losses. The interest 
on these loans is accounted for on a cash basis un[l qualifying for return to accrual. Loans are returned to accrual status when all 
principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought current and future payments are reasonably assured. For individually 
assessed loans not classified as nonaccrual, interest income is recognized daily as it is earned according to the terms of the loan 
agreement. 
 
Nonperforming loans of the loan porjolio are comprised of those loans accounted for on a nonaccrual basis, accruing loans 
contractually past due 90 days or more as to interest or principal payments (120 days or more past due on real estate residen[al loans) 
and loans modified under troubled debt restructurings (nonperforming originated loans). 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Loans 
 
The allowance for credit losses (ACL) is a valua[on account that is deducted from the loans’ amor[zed cost basis to present the net 
amount expected to be collected on the loan. Loans are charged off against the allowance when management believes the 
uncollectability of a loan balance is confirmed. Expected recoveries do not exceed the aggregate of amounts previously charged-off 
and expected to be charged-off. Accrued interest receivable is excluded from the es[mate of credit losses. 
 
The allowance for credit losses represents management’s es[mate of life[me credit losses of loans as of the balance sheet date. The 
allowance for credit losses is es[mated by management using relevant available informa[on, from both internal and external sources, 
rela[ng to past events, current condi[ons, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. 
 
The Corpora[on measures expected credit losses for loans on a pooled basis when similar risk characteris[cs exist. The Corpora[on 
has iden[fied the following porjolio segments and calculates the ACL for each segment using the Federal Reserve’s Scaled CECL 
Allowance for Losses Es[mator (SCALE) methodology for calcula[ng the CECL for loans. The model u[lizes a proxy expected life[me 
loss rate compiled from the Federal Reserve system’s publicly available Call Reports. The Corpora[on then adjusts the expected life[me 
loss rate to include only peer group data in Michigan. 
 

Commercial and Industrial: Commercial and industrial loans generally possess a lower inherent risk of loss than real estate 
porjolio segments because these loans are generally underwriken to exis[ng cash flows of opera[ng businesses. Debt 
coverage is provided by business cash flows and economic trends influenced by unemployment rates and other key economic 
indicators are closely correlated to the credit quality of these loans. 
 
Agricultural: The risk associated with agricultural loans depends on current market prices, weather condi[ons, and other 
outside factors that are dis[nct to this segment. These loans, as with commercial and industrial loans, are generally 
underwriken to exis[ng cash flows of opera[ng businesses. Debt coverage, however, is influenced by different economic 
indicators than other commercial loans. 
 
Other Depository InsHtuHons: Loans to other depository ins[tu[ons are for short-term funding of mortgages before they are 
sold into the secondary market.  The fundamental collateral is a mortgage instrument and not the underlying real property.  
The risk in these loans is rela[vely low but is affected by interest rates and prudent underwri[ng. 
 
Real Estate Related Industries: These loans generally possess a higher inherent risk of loss than other loan porjolio segments. 
Adverse economic developments or an overbuilt market impact real estate projects and may result in troubled loans. Trends 
in vacancy rates of commercial proper[es impact the credit quality of these loans. High vacancy rates reduce opera[ng 
revenues and the ability of the proper[es to produce sufficient cash flow to service debt obliga[ons. 
 
Other Commercial: Other commercial loans are collateralized by real estate and are underwriken based on the exis[ng cash 
flows of opera[ng businesses. Because debt coverage is provided by business cash flows, trends in real estate values have less 
impact on this segment than other real estate segments and would be influenced more by unemployment rates and other 
key economic indicators. 

loans.
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ResidenHal Real Estate: The degree of risk in residen[al mortgage lending depends primarily on the loan amount in rela[on 
to collateral value, the interest rate, and the borrower’s ability to repay in an orderly fashion. These loans generally possess a 
lower inherent risk of loss than other real estate porjolio segments. Economic trends determined by unemployment rates 
and other key economic indicators are closely correlated to the credit quality of these loans. Weak economic trends indicate 
that the borrowers’ capacity to repay their obliga[ons may be deteriora[ng. 

Consumer and Other: The consumer and other loan porjolio is usually comprised of a large number of small loans, including 
automobile,  personal  loans,  etc.  Most  loans  are  made  directly  for  consumer  purchases.  Economic  trends  determined  by 
unemployment rates and other key economic indicators are closely correlated to the credit quality of these loans. Weak 
economic trends indicate that the borrowers’ capacity to repay their obliga[ons may be deteriora[ng. 

Home Equity: As with residen[al real estate, the degree of risk in home equity lending depends on the loan amount 
in  rela[on to collateral value, the interest rate, and the borrower’s ability to repay in an orderly fashion but, in 
addi[on, depends on the value of any loan with a first lien interest. These loans generally possess a higher inherent risk of loss 
than the residen[al real estate porjolio segment. Economic trends determined by unemployment rates and other key 
economic indicators are closely correlated to the credit quality of these loans. Weak economic trends indicate that the 
borrowers’ capacity to repay their obliga[ons may be deteriora[ng. 

 
Addi[onally, the allowance for credit losses calcula[on includes subjec[ve adjustments for qualita[ve risk factors that are likely to 
cause es[mated credit losses to differ from historical experience. These qualita[ve adjustments may increase or reduce reserve levels 
and  include  adjustments  for  lending  management  experience  and  risk  tolerance,  loan  review  and  audit  results,  asset  quality  and 
porjolio  trends,  loan  porjolio  growth,  industry  concentra[ons,  trends  in  underlying  collateral,  external  factors,  and  economic 
condi[ons not already captured. 
 
Loans that do not share risk characteris[cs are evaluated on an individual basis. When management determines that foreclosure is 
probable and the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty, the expected credit losses are based on the fair value of the collateral at 
the repor[ng date, adjusted for selling costs, as appropriate. 
 
Because the effect of most modifica[ons made to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty is already included in the allowance for 
credit losses because of the measurement methodologies used to es[mate the allowance, a change to the allowance for credit 
losses is generally not recorded upon modifica[on. Occasionally, the Corpora[on modifies loans by providing principal forgiveness 
on certain of its real estate loans. When principal forgiveness is provided, The amount of the principal forgiveness is deemed to be 
uncollec[ble; therefore, that por[on of the loan is wriken off, resul[ng in a reduc[on of the amor[zed cost basis and a corresponding 
adjustment to the allowance for credit losses. 
 
In some cases, the Corpora[on will modify a certain loan by providing mul[ple types of concessions. Typically, one type of 
concession, such as a term extension, is granted ini[ally. If the borrower con[nues to experience financial difficulty, another 
concession, such as principal forgiveness, may be granted. 
 
The Bank assigns a risk ra[ng to all loans except pools of homogeneous loans and periodically performs detailed internal reviews of 
all such loans over a certain threshold to iden[fy credit risks and assess the overall collectability of the porjolio. These risk ra[ngs  
are also subject to examina[on by the Bank’s regulators. During the internal reviews, management monitors and analyzes the 
financial condi[on of borrowers and guarantors, trends in the industries in which the borrowers operate and the fair values of   
collateral securing the loans. These credit quality indicators are used to assign a risk ra[ng to each individual loan. The risk ra[ngs 
can be grouped into six major categories, defined as follows: 
 

Pass: A pass loan is a credit with no exis[ng or known poten[al weaknesses deserving of management’s close 
aken[on. 

 
Watch: Loans classified as watch have most of the characteris[cs of a pass loan; however, emerging weaknesses 

have been detected and warrant addi[onal aken[on. 
 
 

Home Equity: As with residential real estate, the degree of risk in home equity lending depends on the loan amount in relation to 
collateral value, the interest rate, and the borrower’s ability to repay in an orderly fashion but, in addition, depends on the value 
of any loan with a first lien interest. These loans generally possess a higher inherent risk of loss than the residential real estate 
portfolio segment. Economic trends determined by unemployment rates and other key economic indicators are closely correlated 
to the credit quality of these loans. Weak economic trends indicate that the borrowers’ capacity to repay their obligations may 
be deteriorating.

Because the effect of most modifications made to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty is already included in the allowance for 
credit losses because of the measurement methodologies used to estimate the allowance, a change to the allowance for credit losses 
is generally not recorded upon modification. Occasionally, the Corporation modifies loans by providing principal forgiveness on certain 
of its real estate loans. When principal forgiveness is provided, the amount of the principal forgiveness is deemed to be uncollectible; 
therefore, that portion of the loan is written off, resulting in a reduction of the amortized cost basis and a corresponding adjustment to 
the allowance for credit losses. 

In some cases, the Corporation will modify a certain loan by proving multiple types of concessions. Typically, one type of concession, such 
as a term extension, is granted initially. If the borrower continues to experience financial difficulty, another concession, such as principal 
forgiveness, may be granted. 

The Bank assigns a risk rating to all loans except pools of homogeneous loans and periodically performs detailed internal reviews of all 
such loans over a certain threshold to identify credit risks and assess the overall collectability of the portfolio. These risk ratings are also 
subject to examination by the Bank’s regulators. During the internal reviews, management monitors and analyzes the financial condition 
of borrowers and guarantors, trends in the industries in which the borrowers operate and the fair values of collateral securing the loans. 
These credit quality indicators are used to assign a risk rating to each individual loan. The risk ratings can be grouped into six major 
categories, defined as follows:

 

 

ResidenHal Real Estate: The degree of risk in residen[al mortgage lending depends primarily on the loan amount in rela[on 
to collateral value, the interest rate, and the borrower’s ability to repay in an orderly fashion. These loans generally possess a 
lower inherent risk of loss than other real estate porjolio segments. Economic trends determined by unemployment rates 
and other key economic indicators are closely correlated to the credit quality of these loans. Weak economic trends indicate 
that the borrowers’ capacity to repay their obliga[ons may be deteriora[ng. 

Consumer and Other: The consumer and other loan porjolio is usually comprised of a large number of small loans, including 
automobile,  personal  loans,  etc.  Most  loans  are  made  directly  for  consumer  purchases.  Economic  trends  determined  by 
unemployment rates and other key economic indicators are closely correlated to the credit quality of these loans. Weak 
economic trends indicate that the borrowers’ capacity to repay their obliga[ons may be deteriora[ng. 

Home Equity: As with residen[al real estate, the degree of risk in home equity lending depends on the loan amount 
in  rela[on to collateral value, the interest rate, and the borrower’s ability to repay in an orderly fashion but, in 
addi[on, depends on the value of any loan with a first lien interest. These loans generally possess a higher inherent risk of loss 
than the residen[al real estate porjolio segment. Economic trends determined by unemployment rates and other key 
economic indicators are closely correlated to the credit quality of these loans. Weak economic trends indicate that the 
borrowers’ capacity to repay their obliga[ons may be deteriora[ng. 

 
Addi[onally, the allowance for credit losses calcula[on includes subjec[ve adjustments for qualita[ve risk factors that are likely to 
cause es[mated credit losses to differ from historical experience. These qualita[ve adjustments may increase or reduce reserve levels 
and  include  adjustments  for  lending  management  experience  and  risk  tolerance,  loan  review  and  audit  results,  asset  quality  and 
porjolio  trends,  loan  porjolio  growth,  industry  concentra[ons,  trends  in  underlying  collateral,  external  factors,  and  economic 
condi[ons not already captured. 
 
Loans that do not share risk characteris[cs are evaluated on an individual basis. When management determines that foreclosure is 
probable and the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty, the expected credit losses are based on the fair value of the collateral at 
the repor[ng date, adjusted for selling costs, as appropriate. 
 
Because the effect of most modifica[ons made to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty is already included in the allowance for 
credit losses because of the measurement methodologies used to es[mate the allowance, a change to the allowance for credit 
losses is generally not recorded upon modifica[on. Occasionally, the Corpora[on modifies loans by providing principal forgiveness 
on certain of its real estate loans. When principal forgiveness is provided, The amount of the principal forgiveness is deemed to be 
uncollec[ble; therefore, that por[on of the loan is wriken off, resul[ng in a reduc[on of the amor[zed cost basis and a corresponding 
adjustment to the allowance for credit losses. 
 
In some cases, the Corpora[on will modify a certain loan by providing mul[ple types of concessions. Typically, one type of 
concession, such as a term extension, is granted ini[ally. If the borrower con[nues to experience financial difficulty, another 
concession, such as principal forgiveness, may be granted. 
 
The Bank assigns a risk ra[ng to all loans except pools of homogeneous loans and periodically performs detailed internal reviews of 
all such loans over a certain threshold to iden[fy credit risks and assess the overall collectability of the porjolio. These risk ra[ngs  
are also subject to examina[on by the Bank’s regulators. During the internal reviews, management monitors and analyzes the 
financial condi[on of borrowers and guarantors, trends in the industries in which the borrowers operate and the fair values of   
collateral securing the loans. These credit quality indicators are used to assign a risk ra[ng to each individual loan. The risk ra[ngs 
can be grouped into six major categories, defined as follows: 
 

Pass: A pass loan is a credit with no exis[ng or known poten[al weaknesses deserving of management’s close 
aken[on. 

 
Watch: Loans classified as watch have most of the characteris[cs of a pass loan; however, emerging weaknesses 

have been detected and warrant addi[onal aken[on. 
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Special menHon: Loans classified as special men[on have a poten[al weakness that deserves management’s close aken[on. 
If len uncorrected, this poten[al weakness may result in deteriora[on of the repayment prospects for the 
loan or of the Bank’s credit posi[on at some future date. Special men[on loans are not adversely classified 
and do not expose the Bank to sufficient risk to warrant adverse classifica[on. 

 
Substandard: Loans classified as substandard are inadequately protected by the current sound worth and paying capacity 

of the obligor or of the collateral pledged if any.  Assets so classified must have a well-defined weakness, or 
weaknesses, that jeopardize the liquida[on of the debt. 

 
DoubMul: Loans classified as doubjul have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified as substandard, with the 

added characteris[c that the weaknesses make collec[on or repayment in full, on the basis of currently 
exis[ng facts, condi[ons, and values, highly ques[onable and improbable. 

 
Loss: Loans classified as loss are considered uncollec[ble and are charged off immediately. 

 

 

 

 

The majority of the Bank’s consumer and residen[al loan porjolios are comprised of secured loans that are evaluated at origina[on 
on a centralized basis against standardized underwri[ng criteria. The ongoing measurement of the credit quality of the consumer, 
home equity, and residen[al real estate loan porjolios is largely done on an excep[on basis. If payments are made on schedule, as 
agreed, then no further monitoring is performed. However, if delinquency occurs, the delinquent loans are turned over to the Bank’s 
collec[on  department  for  resolu[on,  which  generally  occurs  fairly  rapidly  and  onen  through  repossession  and  foreclosure.  Credit 
quality for the en[re consumer, home equity, and residen[al real estate loan porjolio is measured by the periodic delinquency rate, 
nonaccrual amounts, and actual losses incurred. 
 
Although management believes the allowance to be appropriate, ul[mate losses may vary from its periodic es[mates. The Board of 
Directors reviews the appropriateness of the allowance monthly, including considera[on of the relevant risks in the porjolio, current 
economic condi[ons, and other factors. If the Board of Directors and management determine that changes are warranted based on 
those reviews, the allowance is adjusted. In addi[on, the Bank’s primary regulators review the appropriateness of the allowance. The  
regulatory agencies may require changes to the allowance based on their judgment about the informa[on available at the [me of their 
examina[on. 
 
Loans Held for Sale 
 
Mortgage loans originated and intended for sale in the secondary market are carried at the lower of cost or fair value in the aggregate 
and are included in loans on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, if any. Net unrealized losses, if any, are recognized through 
a valua[on allowance of which the provision is accounted for in the consolidated statements of income. Mortgage loans held for sale 
are generally sold with servicing rights retained. The carrying value of the mortgage loans sold is reduced by the amount allocated to 
the servicing right. Gains and losses on sales of mortgage loans are based on the difference between the selling price and the carrying 
value of the related loan sold. 
 
Transfers of Financial Assets 
 
Transfers of financial assets, including mortgage loans held-for-sale, are accounted for as sales when control over the assets has been 
surrendered. Control over transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered when 1) the assets have been legally isolated from the 
Corpora[on, 2) the transferee obtains the right (free of condi[ons that constrain it from taking advantage of that right) to pledge or 
exchange the transferred assets, and 3) the Corpora[on does not maintain effec[ve control over the transferred assets through an 
agreement to repurchase them before their maturity. 
 
Other than servicing, as disclosed in Note 5, the Corpora[on has no substan[ve con[nuing involvement related to these loans. The 
Corpora[on sold to an unrelated third-party residen[al mortgage loans with proceeds of $2,686 and $2,513 during 2024 and 2023, 
respec[vely, which resulted in a net gain of $84 and $91 for 2024 and 2023, respec[vely. Servicing fee income earned on such loans 
was $112 and $121 for 2024 and 2023, respec[vely, and is included in other noninterest income on the consolidated statements of 
income. 
 
 

(Dollars in thousands except per share data)
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Other than servicing, as disclosed in Note 5, the Corporation has no substantive continuing involvement related to these loans. The
Corporation sold to an unrelated third-party residential mortgage loans with proceeds of $2,686 and $2,513 during 2024 and 2023,
respectively, which resulted in a net gain of $84 and $91 for 2024 and 2023, respectively. Servicing fee income earned on such loans 
was $112 and $121 for 2024 and 2023, respectively, and is included in other noninterest income on the consolidated statements of
income.
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Servicing 

Servicing assets are recognized as separate assets when rights are acquired through the purchase or sale of financial assets. For sales 
of mortgage loans, a por[on of the cost of origina[ng the loan is allocated to the servicing right based on rela[ve fair value. Fair value 
is based on market prices for comparable mortgage servicing contracts, when available, or alterna[vely, is based on a valua[on model 
that calculates the present value of es[mated future net servicing income. The valua[on model incorporates assump[ons that market 
par[cipants would use in es[ma[ng future net servicing income, such as the cost to service, the discount rate, the custodial earnings  
rate, an infla[on rate, ancillary income, prepayment speeds, and default rates and losses. 

Servicing assets or liabili[es are amor[zed in propor[on to and over the period of net servicing income or net servicing loss and are 
assessed for impairment or increased obliga[on based on the fair value of rights compared to amor[zed cost at each repor[ng date.  
Impairment is determined by stra[fying rights into tranches based on predominant risk characteris[cs, such as interest rate, loan type, 
and investor type. Impairment is recognized through a valua[on allowance for an individual tranche to the extent that fair value is less 
than the capitalized amount for the tranche. If the Bank later determines that all or a por[on of the impairment no longer exists for a 
par[cular tranche, a reduc[on of the allowance may be recorded as an increase in income. 

Servicing fee income is recorded for fees earned for servicing loans for others. The fees are based on a contractual percentage of the 
outstanding principal or a fixed amount per loan, and are recognized as income when earned. The amor[za[on of mortgage servicing  
rights is neked against loan servicing fee income, a component of other noninterest income. 

Deriva)ves 

At the incep[on of a deriva[ve contract, the Corpora[on designates the deriva[ve as one of the three types based on the Corpora[on’s 
inten[ons and belief as to likely effec[veness as a hedge. These three types are 1) a hedge of the fair value of a recognized asset or 
liability or of an unrecognized firm commitment (fair value hedge), 2) a hedge of a forecasted transac[on or the variability of cash 
flows to received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability (cash flow hedge), or 3) an instrument with no hedging designa[on 
(non-designated deriva[ve). For a fair value hedge, the gain or loss on the deriva[ve, as well as the offseong loss or gain on the 
hedge item akributable to the hedge risk, is recognized in current earnings as fair value change. For a cash flow hedge, the gain or 
loss on the deriva[ve is reported in other comprehensive income (loss) and is reclassified into earnings in the same periods during 
which the hedge  transac[on  affects  earnings.  Changes  in  the  fair  value  of  deriva[ves  not  designated  are  reported  currently  in  
earnings  as noninterest income on the consolidated statement of net income. 

Accrued seklements on deriva[ves that qualify for hedge accoun[ng are recorded in interest income or interest expense based on the 
item being hedged. Accrued seklements on deriva[ves not designated are reported in noninterest income. Cash flows on hedges are 
classified in the cash flow statement, the same as the cash flows of the items being hedged. 

The Corpora[on formally documents the rela[onship between deriva[ves and hedge items, as well as the risk-management 
objec[ve and the strategy for undertaking hedge transac[ons at the incep[on of the hedging rela[onship. This document includes 
linking fair value  or  cash  flow  hedges  to  specific  assets  and  liabili[es  on  the  balance  sheet  or  to  specific  firm  commitments  or  
forecasted transac[ons. The Corpora[on also formally assesses, both at the hedge’s incep[on and on an ongoing basis, whether 
the deriva[ve instruments  that  are  designated  are  highly  effec[ve  in  offseong  changes  in  fair  values  or  cash  flows  of  the  
hedged  items.  The Corpora[on discon[nues hedge accoun[ng when it determines that the deriva[ve is no longer effec[ve in 
offseong changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item, the deriva[ve is sekled or terminates, a hedge forecasted        
transac[on is no longer probable, a hedged firm commitment is no longer firm, or treatment of the deriva[ve as a hedge is no 
longer   appropriate or intended. 

When hedge accoun[ng is discon[nued, subsequent changes in the fair value of the deriva[ve are recorded as noninterest income. 
When a fair value hedge is discon[nued, the hedged asset or liability is no longer adjusted for changes in fair value, and the exis[ng 
basis adjustment is amor[zed or accreted over the remaining life of the asset or liability. When a cash flow hedge is discon[nued, 
but the  hedged  cash  flows  or  forecasted  transac[ons  are  s[ll  expected  to  occur,  gains  or  losses  that  were  accumulated  in 
other comprehensive income are amor[zed into earnings over the same periods in which the hedged transac[ons will affect earnings. 

The Corpora[on is exposed to losses if a counterparty fails to make its payments under a contract in which the Corpora[on is in the 
net  receiving  posi[on.  The  Corpora[on  an[cipates  that  the  counterpar[es  will  be  able  to  fully  sa[sfy  their  obliga[ons  under  
the agreements. All of the contracts to which the Corpora[on is a party sekle monthly or quarterly. In addi[on, the Corpora[on 
obtains 

(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

The Corporation formally documents the relationship between derivatives and hedge items, as well as the risk-management objective 
and the strategy for undertaking hedge transactions at the inception of the hedging relationship. This document includes linking fair value 
or cash flow hedges to specific assets and liabilities on the balance sheet or to specific firm commitments or forecasted transactions. 
The Corporation also formally assesses, both at the hedge’s inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the derivative instruments that 
are designated are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged items. The Corporation discontinues 
hedge accounting when it determines that the derivative is no longer effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows of the 
hedged item, the derivative is settled or terminates, a hedge forecasted transaction is no longer probable, a hedged firm commitment 
is no longer firm, or treatment of the derivative as a hedge is no longer appropriate or intended. 

When hedge accounting is discontinued, subsequent changes in the fair value of the derivative are recorded as noninterest income. 
When a fair value hedge is discontinued, the hedged asset or liability is no longer adjusted for changes in fair value, and the existing basis 
adjustment is amortized or accreted over the remaining life of the asset or liability. When a cash flow hedge is discontinued, but the 
hedged cash flows or forecasted transactions are still expected to occur, gains or losses that were accumulated in other comprehensive 
income are amortized into earnings over the same periods in which the hedged transactions will affect earnings. 

At the inception of a derivative contract, the Corporation designates the derivative as one of the three types based on the Corporation’s 
intentions and belief as to likely effectiveness as a hedge. These three types are 1) a hedge of the fair value of a recognized asset or 
liability or of an unrecognized firm commitment (fair value hedge), 2) a hedge of a forecasted transaction or the variability of cash 
flows to received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability (cash flow hedge), or 3) an instrument with no hedging designation 
(non-designated derivative). For a fair value hedge, the gain or loss on the derivative, as well as the offsetting loss or gain on the hedge 
item attributable to the hedge risk, is recognized in current earnings as fair value change. For a cash flow hedge, the gain or loss on 
the derivative is reported in other comprehensive income (loss) and is reclassified into earnings in the same periods during which 
the hedge transaction affects earnings. Changes in the fair value of derivatives not designated are reported currently in earnings as 
noninterest income on the consolidated statement of net income. 

are
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collateral above certain thresholds of the fair value of its deriva[ves for each dealer counterparty based upon their credit standing, 
and the Corpora[on has neong agreements with which it does business. 
 
Foreclosed Assets 
 
Assets acquired through, or in lieu of, loan foreclosure are held for sale and are ini[ally recorded at fair value, less costs to sell, on the 
date of transfer, establishing a new cost basis. Physical possession of residen[al real estate property collateralizing a consumer 
mortgage loan occurs when legal [tle is obtained upon comple[on of foreclosure or when the borrower conveys all interest in the 
property to sa[sfy the loan through comple[on of a deed in lieu of foreclosure or through a similar legal agreement. Subsequent to 
foreclosure, valua[ons are periodically performed by management, and the assets are carried at the lower of the carrying amount or 
fair value less costs to sell. Revenue and expenses from opera[ons and changes in the valua[on allowance are included in expenses 
from foreclosed assets, net, a component of other noninterest expenses on the consolidated statements of income. 
 
Premises and Equipment 
 
Land is carried at cost. Buildings and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated deprecia[on which is computed principally by 
the straight-line method based upon the es[mated lives of the related assets, which range from 3 to 40 years. Major improvements 
are capitalized and appropriately amor[zed based upon the useful lives of the related assets or the expected terms of the leases, if 
shorter, using the straight-line method. Maintenance, repairs, and minor altera[ons are charged to current opera[ons as expenditures 
occur. Management annually reviews these assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the related 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
 
Share-Based Compensa)on Plans 
 
Compensa[on cost rela[ng to share-based payment transac[ons, including common stock op[on grants, restricted stock awards, and 
deferred compensa[on, are measured based on the es[mated fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued on the grant dates 
and is recognized over the service period, which is generally the ves[ng period. 
 
Bank-Owned Life Insurance 
 
The Bank holds life insurance policies purchased on the lives of key officers. In the event of death of one of these individuals, the Bank, 
as beneficiary of the policies, would receive a specified cash payment equal to the face value of the policy. Such policies are recorded 
at their cash surrender value, or the amount that can be currently realized as of the balance sheet date. The change in cash surrender 
value is an adjustment of premiums paid in determining the net expense or income recognized under the contracts for the year and is 
included in other noninterest income on the consolidated statements of income. 
 
Off-Balance Sheet Credit Related Financial Instruments 
 
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank has entered into commitments to extend credit, including commercial lekers of credit and 
standby lekers of credit. Such financial instruments are considered to be guarantees; however, as the amount of the liability related to 
such guarantees on the commitment date is considered insignificant, the commitments are generally recorded only when they are 
funded. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Unfunded Commitments 
 
Financial instruments include off-balance sheet credit instruments, such as commitments to make loans and commercial lekers of 
credit issued to meet customer financing needs. The Corpora[on’s exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other 
party to the financial instrument for off-balance sheet loan commitments is represented by the contractual amount of those 
instruments. Such financial instruments are recorded when they are funded. 
 
The Corpora[on records an allowance for credit losses on off-balance sheet credit exposures through a charge to provision for 
unfunded commitments in the Corpora[on’s income statements. The allowance for credit losses on off-balance sheet credit exposures 
is es[mated by loan segment at each balance sheet date under the current expected credit loss model using the same methodologies 

The Corporation is exposed to losses if a counterparty fails to make its payments under a contract in which the Corporation is in the 
net receiving position. The Corporation anticipates that the counterparties will be able to fully satisfy their obligations under the 
agreements. All of the contracts to which the Corporation is a party monthly or quarterly. In addition, the Corporation obtains collateral 
above certain thresholds of the fair value of its derivatives for each dealer counterparty based upon their credit standing, and the 
Corporation has netting agreements with which it does business. 
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as porjolio loans, taking into considera[on the likelihood that funding will occur. The allowance for unfunded commitments is included 
in other liabili[es on the Corpora[on’s consolidated balance sheets. 

Business Acquisi)on Intangibles and Goodwill 

A past business combina[on included iden[fied amounts related to the valua[on of customer deposit rela[onships (core deposit 
intangibles), which are being amor[zed on the straight-line method over ten years, and residual goodwill, which is included in other 
assets.  Such  goodwill  represents  the  purchase  price  in  excess  of  iden[fiable  assets  and  is  not  amor[zed  but  is  evaluated  by 
management for impairment at least annually or on an interim basis if an event occurs or circumstances change what would more 
likely than not reduce the fair value of the repor[ng unit below its carrying value. 

Income Taxes 

Deferred income tax assets and liabili[es are determined using the liability (or balance sheet) method. Under this method, the net 
deferred income tax asset or liability is determined based on the federal income tax effects of the temporary differences between the 
book and tax bases of the various balance sheet assets and liabili[es and gives current recogni[on to changes in federal income tax 
rates and laws. Valua[on allowances are established, where necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected more 
likely than not to be realized. Income tax expense is the tax payable or refundable for the year plus or minus the change during the 
year in deferred tax assets and liabili[es. 

Net Income Per Share 

Basic earnings per share represent income available to common shareholders divided by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding less unvested restricted stock during the year. Diluted earnings per share reflect addi[onal common shares that 
would have been outstanding if dilu[ve poten[al common shares had been issued, as well as any adjustments to income that would 
result from the assumed issuance. Poten[al common shares that may be issued by the Corpora[on relate to outstanding common 
stock op[ons and restricted stock awards and are determined using the treasury stock method. 

Subsequent Events 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Corpora[on has evaluated, for poten[al recogni[on or disclosure, 
significant events or transac[ons that occurred during the period subsequent to the most recent balance sheet presented herein,    
through the date of the accompanying Independent Auditor's Report,  the  date  these  consolidated  financial  statements  were  
available  to  be  issued.  No  such  event  or transac[ons were iden[fied. 
 

2.  
 

 

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Corpora[on u[lizes fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain assets and liabili[es and to determine 
fair value disclosures. Available-for-sale debt securi[es and deriva[ves are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. Addi[onally,      
from [me to [me, the Corpora[on may be required to record at fair value other assets on a nonrecurring basis, such as debt                
securi[es held- to-maturity, loans, loans held for sale, foreclosed assets, mortgage servicing rights, goodwill, and certain other assets 
and liabili[es. These  nonrecurring  fair  value  adjustments  typically  involve  the  applica[on  of  lower of   cost  or  market  accoun[ng  
or  write-downs  of individual assets. 

Following is a descrip[on of the valua[on methodologies and key inputs used to measure financial assets and liabili[es recorded at fair 
value, which includes an indica[on of the level of the fair value hierarchy in which the assets or liabili[es are classified. 

 
 
 

Investment Securi)es 
 
The fair values for investment securi[es are determined by quoted market prices, if available (Level 1). For securi[es where 
quoted prices are not available, fair values are calculated based on market prices of similar securi[es using matrix pricing. 
Matrix pricing is a mathema[cal technique commonly used to price debt securi[es that are not ac[vely traded, that 
values debt securi[es without relying exclusively on quoted prices for the specific securi[es but rather by relying on the 
securi[es’ rela[onship to other benchmark quoted securi[es (Level 2 inputs). For securi[es where quoted prices or market 

(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

collateral above certain thresholds of the fair value of its deriva[ves for each dealer counterparty based upon their credit standing, 
and the Corpora[on has neong agreements with which it does business. 
 
Foreclosed Assets 
 
Assets acquired through, or in lieu of, loan foreclosure are held for sale and are ini[ally recorded at fair value, less costs to sell, on the 
date of transfer, establishing a new cost basis. Physical possession of residen[al real estate property collateralizing a consumer 
mortgage loan occurs when legal [tle is obtained upon comple[on of foreclosure or when the borrower conveys all interest in the 
property to sa[sfy the loan through comple[on of a deed in lieu of foreclosure or through a similar legal agreement. Subsequent to 
foreclosure, valua[ons are periodically performed by management, and the assets are carried at the lower of the carrying amount or 
fair value less costs to sell. Revenue and expenses from opera[ons and changes in the valua[on allowance are included in expenses 
from foreclosed assets, net, a component of other noninterest expenses on the consolidated statements of income. 
 
Premises and Equipment 
 
Land is carried at cost. Buildings and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated deprecia[on which is computed principally by 
the straight-line method based upon the es[mated lives of the related assets, which range from 3 to 40 years. Major improvements 
are capitalized and appropriately amor[zed based upon the useful lives of the related assets or the expected terms of the leases, if 
shorter, using the straight-line method. Maintenance, repairs, and minor altera[ons are charged to current opera[ons as expenditures 
occur. Management annually reviews these assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the related 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
 
Share-Based Compensa)on Plans 
 
Compensa[on cost rela[ng to share-based payment transac[ons, including common stock op[on grants, restricted stock awards, and 
deferred compensa[on, are measured based on the es[mated fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued on the grant dates 
and is recognized over the service period, which is generally the ves[ng period. 
 
Bank-Owned Life Insurance 
 
The Bank holds life insurance policies purchased on the lives of key officers. In the event of death of one of these individuals, the Bank, 
as beneficiary of the policies, would receive a specified cash payment equal to the face value of the policy. Such policies are recorded 
at their cash surrender value, or the amount that can be currently realized as of the balance sheet date. The change in cash surrender 
value is an adjustment of premiums paid in determining the net expense or income recognized under the contracts for the year and is 
included in other noninterest income on the consolidated statements of income. 
 
Off-Balance Sheet Credit Related Financial Instruments 
 
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank has entered into commitments to extend credit, including commercial lekers of credit and 
standby lekers of credit. Such financial instruments are considered to be guarantees; however, as the amount of the liability related to 
such guarantees on the commitment date is considered insignificant, the commitments are generally recorded only when they are 
funded. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Unfunded Commitments 
 
Financial instruments include off-balance sheet credit instruments, such as commitments to make loans and commercial lekers of 
credit issued to meet customer financing needs. The Corpora[on’s exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other 
party to the financial instrument for off-balance sheet loan commitments is represented by the contractual amount of those 
instruments. Such financial instruments are recorded when they are funded. 
 
The Corpora[on records an allowance for credit losses on off-balance sheet credit exposures through a charge to provision for 
unfunded commitments in the Corpora[on’s income statements. The allowance for credit losses on off-balance sheet credit exposures 
is es[mated by loan segment at each balance sheet date under the current expected credit loss model using the same methodologies 

2.

The Corporation utilizes fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain assets and liabilities and to determine fair 
value disclosures. Available-for-sale debt securities and derivatives are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. Additionally, from 
time to time, the Corporation may be required to record at fair value other assets on a nonrecurring basis, such as debt securities held-
to-maturity, loans, loans held for sale, foreclosed assets, mortgage servicing rights, goodwill, and certain other assets and liabilities. 
These nonrecurring fair value adjustments typically involve the application of lower of cost or market accounting.

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Corporation has evaluated, for potential recognition or disclosure, significant 
events or transactions that occurred during the period subsequent to the most recent balance sheet presented herein, through the 
date of the Independent Auditor’s Report, the date these consolidated financial statements were available to be issued. No such event 
or transactions were identified.
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prices of similar securi[es are not available, fair values are calculated using discounted cash flows or other market indicators 
(Level 3). 

 
 Deriva)ves 
 

The fair values of deriva[ves are based on valua[on models using observable market data as of the measurement date (Level 
2). The Corpora[on’s deriva[ves are traded in an over-the-counter market where quoted market prices are not always 
available. Therefore, the fair values of deriva[ves are determined using quan[ta[ve models that u[lize mul[ple market 
inputs. The inputs will vary based on the type of deriva[ve but could include interest rates, prices, and indices to generate 
con[nuous yield or pricing cures, prepayment rates, and vola[lity factors to value the posi[on. The majority of market inputs 
are ac[vely quoted and can be validated through external sources, including brokers, market transac[ons, and third-party 
pricing services. 

 
 Impaired Loans 
 

The fair value of impaired loans with specific alloca[ons of the allowance for credit losses is generally based on recent real 
estate appraisals. These appraisals may u[lize a single valua[on approach or a combina[on of approaches, including 
comparable sales and the income approach. Adjustments are rou[nely made in the appraisal process by the independent 
appraisers to adjust for differences between the comparable sales and income data available for similar loans and collateral 
underlying such loans. Nonreal estate collateral may be valued using an appraisal, net book value per the borrower’s financial 
statements, or aging reports, adjusted or discounted based on management’s historical knowledge, changes in market 
condi[ons from the [me of the valua[on, and management’s exper[se and knowledge of the client and the client’s business, 
resul[ng in a Level 3 value classifica[on. Impaired loans are evaluated on a quarterly basis for addi[onal impairment and 
adjusted in accordance with the current expected credit loss policy. 

 
 Mortgage Servicing Rights 
 

On an annual basis, loan servicing rights are evaluated for impairment based on the fair value of the rights as compared to 
the carrying amount. If the carrying amount of an individual tranche exceeds fair value, impairment is recorded on that 
tranche so that the servicing asset is carried at fair value. Fair value is determined at a tranche level, based on market prices 
for comparable mortgage servicing contracts (Level 2), when available, or alterna[vely based on a valua[on model that 
calculates the present value of es[mated future net servicing income. The valua[on model u[lizes interest rate, prepayment 
speed, and default rate assump[ons that market par[cipants would use in es[ma[ng future net servicing income and that 
can be validated against available market data. 

 
The preceding methods described may produce a fair value calcula[on that may not be indica[ve of net realizable value or reflec[ve 
of future fair values. Furthermore, although the Corpora[on believes its valua[on methods are appropriate and consistent with other 
market par[cipants, the use of different methodologies or assump[ons to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments 
could result in a different fair value measurement at the repor[ng date. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

as porjolio loans, taking into considera[on the likelihood that funding will occur. The allowance for unfunded commitments is included 
in other liabili[es on the Corpora[on’s consolidated balance sheets. 

Business Acquisi)on Intangibles and Goodwill 

A past business combina[on included iden[fied amounts related to the valua[on of customer deposit rela[onships (core deposit 
intangibles), which are being amor[zed on the straight-line method over ten years, and residual goodwill, which is included in other 
assets.  Such  goodwill  represents  the  purchase  price  in  excess  of  iden[fiable  assets  and  is  not  amor[zed  but  is  evaluated  by 
management for impairment at least annually or on an interim basis if an event occurs or circumstances change what would more 
likely than not reduce the fair value of the repor[ng unit below its carrying value. 

Income Taxes 

Deferred income tax assets and liabili[es are determined using the liability (or balance sheet) method. Under this method, the net 
deferred income tax asset or liability is determined based on the federal income tax effects of the temporary differences between the 
book and tax bases of the various balance sheet assets and liabili[es and gives current recogni[on to changes in federal income tax 
rates and laws. Valua[on allowances are established, where necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected more 
likely than not to be realized. Income tax expense is the tax payable or refundable for the year plus or minus the change during the 
year in deferred tax assets and liabili[es. 

Net Income Per Share 

Basic earnings per share represent income available to common shareholders divided by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding less unvested restricted stock during the year. Diluted earnings per share reflect addi[onal common shares that 
would have been outstanding if dilu[ve poten[al common shares had been issued, as well as any adjustments to income that would 
result from the assumed issuance. Poten[al common shares that may be issued by the Corpora[on relate to outstanding common 
stock op[ons and restricted stock awards and are determined using the treasury stock method. 

Subsequent Events 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Corpora[on has evaluated, for poten[al recogni[on or disclosure, 
significant events or transac[ons that occurred during the period subsequent to the most recent balance sheet presented herein,    
through the date of the accompanying Independent Auditor's Report,  the  date  these  consolidated  financial  statements  were  
available  to  be  issued.  No  such  event  or transac[ons were iden[fied. 
 

2.  
 

 

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Corpora[on u[lizes fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain assets and liabili[es and to determine 
fair value disclosures. Available-for-sale debt securi[es and deriva[ves are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. Addi[onally,      
from [me to [me, the Corpora[on may be required to record at fair value other assets on a nonrecurring basis, such as debt                
securi[es held- to-maturity, loans, loans held for sale, foreclosed assets, mortgage servicing rights, goodwill, and certain other assets 
and liabili[es. These  nonrecurring  fair  value  adjustments  typically  involve  the  applica[on  of  lower of   cost  or  market  accoun[ng  
or  write-downs  of individual assets. 

Following is a descrip[on of the valua[on methodologies and key inputs used to measure financial assets and liabili[es recorded at fair 
value, which includes an indica[on of the level of the fair value hierarchy in which the assets or liabili[es are classified. 

 
 
 

Investment Securi)es 
 
The fair values for investment securi[es are determined by quoted market prices, if available (Level 1). For securi[es where 
quoted prices are not available, fair values are calculated based on market prices of similar securi[es using matrix pricing. 
Matrix pricing is a mathema[cal technique commonly used to price debt securi[es that are not ac[vely traded, that 
values debt securi[es without relying exclusively on quoted prices for the specific securi[es but rather by relying on the 
securi[es’ rela[onship to other benchmark quoted securi[es (Level 2 inputs). For securi[es where quoted prices or market 

The Corporation’s derivatives are traded in an over-the-counter market where quoted market prices are not always available. 
Therefore, the fair values of derivatives are determined using quantitative models that utilize multiple market inputs (Level 2). 
The inputs will vary based on the type of derivative but could include interest rates, prices, and indices to generate continuous 
yield or pricing cures, prepayment rates, and volatility factors to value the position. The majority of market inputs are actively 
quoted and can be validated through external sources, including brokers, market transactions, and third-party pricing services. 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

as porjolio loans, taking into considera[on the likelihood that funding will occur. The allowance for unfunded commitments is included 
in other liabili[es on the Corpora[on’s consolidated balance sheets. 

Business Acquisi)on Intangibles and Goodwill 

A past business combina[on included iden[fied amounts related to the valua[on of customer deposit rela[onships (core deposit 
intangibles), which are being amor[zed on the straight-line method over ten years, and residual goodwill, which is included in other 
assets.  Such  goodwill  represents  the  purchase  price  in  excess  of  iden[fiable  assets  and  is  not  amor[zed  but  is  evaluated  by 
management for impairment at least annually or on an interim basis if an event occurs or circumstances change what would more 
likely than not reduce the fair value of the repor[ng unit below its carrying value. 

Income Taxes 

Deferred income tax assets and liabili[es are determined using the liability (or balance sheet) method. Under this method, the net 
deferred income tax asset or liability is determined based on the federal income tax effects of the temporary differences between the 
book and tax bases of the various balance sheet assets and liabili[es and gives current recogni[on to changes in federal income tax 
rates and laws. Valua[on allowances are established, where necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected more 
likely than not to be realized. Income tax expense is the tax payable or refundable for the year plus or minus the change during the 
year in deferred tax assets and liabili[es. 

Net Income Per Share 

Basic earnings per share represent income available to common shareholders divided by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding less unvested restricted stock during the year. Diluted earnings per share reflect addi[onal common shares that 
would have been outstanding if dilu[ve poten[al common shares had been issued, as well as any adjustments to income that would 
result from the assumed issuance. Poten[al common shares that may be issued by the Corpora[on relate to outstanding common 
stock op[ons and restricted stock awards and are determined using the treasury stock method. 

Subsequent Events 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Corpora[on has evaluated, for poten[al recogni[on or disclosure, 
significant events or transac[ons that occurred during the period subsequent to the most recent balance sheet presented herein,    
through the date of the accompanying Independent Auditor's Report,  the  date  these  consolidated  financial  statements  were  
available  to  be  issued.  No  such  event  or transac[ons were iden[fied. 
 

2.  
 

 

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The Corpora[on u[lizes fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain assets and liabili[es and to determine 
fair value disclosures. Available-for-sale debt securi[es and deriva[ves are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. Addi[onally,      
from [me to [me, the Corpora[on may be required to record at fair value other assets on a nonrecurring basis, such as debt                
securi[es held- to-maturity, loans, loans held for sale, foreclosed assets, mortgage servicing rights, goodwill, and certain other assets 
and liabili[es. These  nonrecurring  fair  value  adjustments  typically  involve  the  applica[on  of  lower of   cost  or  market  accoun[ng  
or  write-downs  of individual assets. 

Following is a descrip[on of the valua[on methodologies and key inputs used to measure financial assets and liabili[es recorded at fair 
value, which includes an indica[on of the level of the fair value hierarchy in which the assets or liabili[es are classified. 

 
 
 

Investment Securi)es 
 
The fair values for investment securi[es are determined by quoted market prices, if available (Level 1). For securi[es where 
quoted prices are not available, fair values are calculated based on market prices of similar securi[es using matrix pricing. 
Matrix pricing is a mathema[cal technique commonly used to price debt securi[es that are not ac[vely traded, that 
values debt securi[es without relying exclusively on quoted prices for the specific securi[es but rather by relying on the 
securi[es’ rela[onship to other benchmark quoted securi[es (Level 2 inputs). For securi[es where quoted prices or market 

prices of similar securi[es are not available, fair values are calculated using discounted cash flows or other market indicators 
(Level 3). 

 
 Deriva)ves 
 

The fair values of deriva[ves are based on valua[on models using observable market data as of the measurement date (Level 
2). The Corpora[on’s deriva[ves are traded in an over-the-counter market where quoted market prices are not always 
available. Therefore, the fair values of deriva[ves are determined using quan[ta[ve models that u[lize mul[ple market 
inputs. The inputs will vary based on the type of deriva[ve but could include interest rates, prices, and indices to generate 
con[nuous yield or pricing cures, prepayment rates, and vola[lity factors to value the posi[on. The majority of market inputs 
are ac[vely quoted and can be validated through external sources, including brokers, market transac[ons, and third-party 
pricing services. 

 
 Impaired Loans 
 

The fair value of impaired loans with specific alloca[ons of the allowance for credit losses is generally based on recent real 
estate appraisals. These appraisals may u[lize a single valua[on approach or a combina[on of approaches, including 
comparable sales and the income approach. Adjustments are rou[nely made in the appraisal process by the independent 
appraisers to adjust for differences between the comparable sales and income data available for similar loans and collateral 
underlying such loans. Nonreal estate collateral may be valued using an appraisal, net book value per the borrower’s financial 
statements, or aging reports, adjusted or discounted based on management’s historical knowledge, changes in market 
condi[ons from the [me of the valua[on, and management’s exper[se and knowledge of the client and the client’s business, 
resul[ng in a Level 3 value classifica[on. Impaired loans are evaluated on a quarterly basis for addi[onal impairment and 
adjusted in accordance with the current expected credit loss policy. 

 
 Mortgage Servicing Rights 
 

On an annual basis, loan servicing rights are evaluated for impairment based on the fair value of the rights as compared to 
the carrying amount. If the carrying amount of an individual tranche exceeds fair value, impairment is recorded on that 
tranche so that the servicing asset is carried at fair value. Fair value is determined at a tranche level, based on market prices 
for comparable mortgage servicing contracts (Level 2), when available, or alterna[vely based on a valua[on model that 
calculates the present value of es[mated future net servicing income. The valua[on model u[lizes interest rate, prepayment 
speed, and default rate assump[ons that market par[cipants would use in es[ma[ng future net servicing income and that 
can be validated against available market data. 

 
The preceding methods described may produce a fair value calcula[on that may not be indica[ve of net realizable value or reflec[ve 
of future fair values. Furthermore, although the Corpora[on believes its valua[on methods are appropriate and consistent with other 
market par[cipants, the use of different methodologies or assump[ons to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments 
could result in a different fair value measurement at the repor[ng date. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

underlying such loans. Non-real estate collateral may be valued using an appraisal, net book value per the borrower’s financial

The fair values for investment securities are determined by quoted market prices, if available (Level 1). For securities where 
quoted prices are not available, fair values are calculated based on market prices of similar securities using matrix pricing. 
Matrix pricing is a mathematical technique commonly used to price debt securities that are not actively traded, that values 
debt securities without relying exclusively on quoted prices for the specific securities but rather by relying on the securities’ 
relationship to other benchmark quoted securities (Level 2 inputs). For securities where quoted prices or market prices of 
similar securities are not available, fair values are calculated using discounted cash flows or other market indicators (Level 3).



Continued. . .

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS

(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

Assets Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis 

The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the recorded amount of assets and liabili[es measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis as of December 31: 

The following table sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the Corpora[on’s Level 3 assets measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis: 

Unrealized losses on available-for-sale debt securi[es, net of deferred taxes, are included in accumulated other
comprehensive loss on the consolidated balance sheets.
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Assets Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis 

The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the recorded amount of assets and liabili[es measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis as of December 31: 

The following table sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the Corpora[on’s Level 3 assets measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis: 

Unrealized losses on available-for-sale debt securi[es, net of deferred taxes, are included in accumulated other
comprehensive loss on the consolidated balance sheets.
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Assets Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis 

The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the recorded amount of assets and liabili[es measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis as of December 31: 

The following table sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the Corpora[on’s Level 3 assets measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis: 

Unrealized losses on available-for-sale debt securi[es, net of deferred taxes, are included in accumulated other
comprehensive loss on the consolidated balance sheets.
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Assets Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis 

The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the recorded amount of assets and liabili[es measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis as of December 31: 

The following table sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the Corpora[on’s Level 3 assets measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis: 

Unrealized losses on available-for-sale debt securi[es, net of deferred taxes, are included in accumulated other
comprehensive loss on the consolidated balance sheets.

!"#$#%!F! !"#$#%!'! !"#$#%!(! !)*+,%!

!"#$%&'$"&(%$)*+,&,$%(-#-,.-I.$012+0%-.$3
4565(7+$-%*+8("2&$% 99:;<9=(((((((( 0=((((((((((((((( 0=((((((((((((((( 99:;<9=((((((((
>2+?2+-&$(I2"@% 0=((((((((((((((( AB:BAC=(((((((( 0=((((((((((((((( AB:BAC=((((((((
M2+&E-E$0I-)F$@(%$)*+,&,$% 0=((((((((((((((( B9:GCA=(((((((( 0=((((((((((((((( B9:GCA=((((((((
6&-&$%(-"@('*",),?-.% 0=((((((((((((((( AA:C9B=(((((((( BGC=(((((((((((((( AA:9CB=((((((((
H&I$+(-%%$&0I-)F$@(%$)*+,&,$% 0=((((((((((((((( 0=((((((((((((((( 0=((((((((((((((( 0=(((((((((((((((

)*+,%!-.$#/+0#.+!/#123-+-#/!,$,-%,4%#56*35/,%# ((7F8(9!!!!!!!! F:;7;<=9!!!!!! '<:9!!!!!!!!!!!!!! FL(7(;;9!!!!!!

?#3-$,+-$#/ 59!!!!!!!!!!!!!!! 89!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!! 59!!!!!!!!!!!!!!! 89!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

!"#$#%!F! "#$#%!' "#$#%!( )*+,%

!"#$%&'$"&(%$)*+,&,$%(-#-,.-I.$012+0%-.$3
4565(7+$-%*+8("2&$% BJ:ABB=(((((((( 0=((((((((((((((( 0=((((((((((((((( BJ:ABB=((((((((
>2+?2+-&$(I2"@% 0=((((((((((((((( <<:O9B=(((((((( 0=((((((((((((((( <<:O9B=((((((((
M2+&E-E$0I-)F$@(%$)*+,&,$% 0=((((((((((((((( BL:BJ9=(((((((( 0=((((((((((((((( BL:BJ9=((((((((
6&-&$%(-"@('*",),?-.% 0=((((((((((((((( AO:GG<=(((((((( 99C=(((((((((((((( AG:;C<=((((((((
H&I$+(-%%$&0I-)F$@(%$)*+,&,$% 0=((((((((((((((( 0=((((((((((((((( 0=((((((((((((((( 0=(((((((((((((((

)*+,%!-.$#/+0#.+!/#123-+-#/!,$,-%,4%#56*35/,%# '@7L''9!!!!!!!! F(F7=;:9!!!!!! ((:9!!!!!!!!!!!!!! F=:7LL'9!!!!!!

':'(

!A//#+/!,+!B,-3!C,%2#!

':'L

A//#+/!,+!B,-3!C,%2#

!"!#

$%&'&($')*$
+,)-.-/'0$
%(.,1-&-(2$

!"#"$%&'()'*&%+**,$-'.&/&#'0'"11&21'"2'3"$+"*4'56'7879 008J'''''''''''''''''''''''
;(2"#'-",$1'(*'<#(11&1=
L&"#,?&@ A'''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''
B$*&"#,?&@ <C8=''''''''''''''''''''''''''

3'0').($45$1(.,11-)6$7(8(0$9$'22(&2$'&$:(.(;<(1$9=L$!"!# !?"@$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$

!"!9

$%&'&($')*$
+,)-.-/'0$
%(.,1-&-(2$

!"#"$%&'()'*&%+**,$-'.&/&#'0'"11&21'"2'3"$+"*4'56'7870 0D8J'''''''''''''''''''''''
;(2"#'-",$1'(*'<#(11&1=
L&"#,?&@ A'''''''''''''''''''''''''''''''
B$*&"#,?&@ <C8=''''''''''''''''''''''''''

3'0').($45$1(.,11-)6$7(8(0$9$'22(&2$'&$:(.(;<(1$9=L$!"!9 99"@$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$

Assets Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis 

The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the recorded amount of assets and liabili[es measured at fair 
value on a recurring basis as of December 31: 

The following table sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of the Corpora[on’s Level 3 assets measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis: 

Unrealized losses on available-for-sale debt securi[es, net of deferred taxes, are included in accumulated other
comprehensive loss on the consolidated balance sheets.
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Unrealized losses on available-for-sale debt securities, net of deferred taxes, are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss on 
the consolidated balance sheets. 23
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS

(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

 
Assets Recorded at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis 

The following tables set forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the recorded amount of assets measured at fair value on a 
nonrecurring basis as of December 31: 
 

 
 
(1) Certain impaired loans are remeasured and reported at fair value through a specific valua[on allowance. Individually impaired loans 
of $290 and $318 as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, respec[vely, were reduced by specific valua[on allowances totaling $256 and 
$51 as of those dates. 
 
Quan[ta[ve informa[on about Level 3 fair value measurements is as follows as of December 31, 2024: 
 

 
 
Quan[ta[ve informa[on about Level 3 fair value measurements is as follows as of December 31, 2023: 
 

 
 
Es)mated Fair Values of Financial Instruments Not Recorded at Fair Value in their En)rety on a Recurring Basis 
 
Disclosure of the es[mated fair values of financial instruments, which differ from carrying values, onen requires the use of es[mates. 
In cases where quoted market values in an ac[ve market are not available, the Corpora[on uses present value techniques and other 
valua[on methods to es[mate the fair values of its financial instruments. These valua[on methods require considerable judgment, 
and the resul[ng es[mates of fair value can be significantly affected by the assump[ons made and methods used. The methodologies 
for es[ma[ng the fair value of financial assets and liabili[es on a recurring and nonrecurring basis are discussed above. 

!"#$#%!&! !"#$#%!'! !"#$#%!(! !)*+,%!

!"#$%&'()*+$,-).I0) 12)))))))) 12)))))))) 3452)))))))) 3452))))))))

!"#$#%!&! !"#$#%!'! !"#$#%!(! !)*+,%!

!"#$%&'()*+$,-).I0) 12)))))))) 12)))))))) 6I72)))))))) 6I72))))))))

'-'.

/00#+0!*1!2,334567!8,%9#

'-'(

/00#+0!*1!2,334567!8,%9#

!"#$%!F#'()!
!F#'(#*$+,!
-).I,$0()!

!
1,+23)%4#2')!

5,6(*!
!7#,8)!9:)$8I*);!

<4)%#8)=!5,3*%(L),*

?)4)'!@!5,3*%(L),*3

!"#$%$#&'(()*'++,++,#*(-'"+ *.*****************I01*

2$+3-&"4,#*
5667'$+'(*
8'(&,

2$+3-&"4*
566($,#*4-*
9-(('4,7'(* *I:;<=0I;>?*@>0;I?A*

!"#$%!F#'()!
!F#'(#*$+,!
-).I,$0()!

!
1,+23)%4#2')!

5,6(*!
!7#,8)!9:)$8I*);!

<4)%#8)=!5,3*%(L),*

?)4)'!@!5,3*%(L),*3

!"#$%$#&'(()*'++,++,#*(-'"+ *.*****************I01*

2$+3-&"4,#*
5667'$+'(*
8'(&,

2$+3-&"4*
566($,#*4-*
9-(('4,7'(* *:;<=;1>*?0@:0>A*

of $290 and $318 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, were reduced by specific valuation allowances totaling $256 and 
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Assets Recorded at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis 
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Es)mated Fair Values of Financial Instruments Not Recorded at Fair Value in their En)rety on a Recurring Basis 
 
Disclosure of the es[mated fair values of financial instruments, which differ from carrying values, onen requires the use of es[mates. 
In cases where quoted market values in an ac[ve market are not available, the Corpora[on uses present value techniques and other 
valua[on methods to es[mate the fair values of its financial instruments. These valua[on methods require considerable judgment, 
and the resul[ng es[mates of fair value can be significantly affected by the assump[ons made and methods used. The methodologies 
for es[ma[ng the fair value of financial assets and liabili[es on a recurring and nonrecurring basis are discussed above. 
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The carrying amount and es[mated fair value of financial instruments not recorded at fair value in their en[rety on a recurring basis 
on the Corpora[on’s consolidated balance sheets are as follows at December 31: 
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Disclosure of the estimated fair values of financial instruments, which differ from carrying values, often requires the use of 
estimates. In cases where quoted market values in an active market are not available, the Corporation uses present value 
techniques and other valuation methods to estimate the fair values of its financial instruments. These valuation methods 
require considerable judgment, and the resulting estimates of fair value can be significantly affected by the assumptions 
made and methods used. The methodologies for estimating the fair value of financial assets and liabilities on a recurring and 
nonrecurring basis are discussed above.

The carrying amount and estimated fair value of financial instruments not recorded at fair value in their entirety on a recurring 
basis on the Corporation’s consolidated balance sheets are as follows at December 31: 
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3. INVESTMENT SECURITIES 
 

 
The following table summarizes the amor[zed cost, fair value, and allowance for credit losses of securi[es available-for-sale and held- 
to-maturity at December 31, 2024, and the corresponding amounts of gross unrealized gains and losses recognized in accumulated 
other comprehensive loss:  
 

 
The following table summarizes the amor[zed cost and fair value of securi[es available-for sale and held-to-maturity at December 31, 
2023, and the corresponding amounts of gross unrealized gains and losses recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss: 
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3. INVESTMENT SECURITIES 
 

 
The following table summarizes the amor[zed cost, fair value, and allowance for credit losses of securi[es available-for-sale and held- 
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other comprehensive loss:  
 

 
The following table summarizes the amor[zed cost and fair value of securi[es available-for sale and held-to-maturity at December 31, 
2023, and the corresponding amounts of gross unrealized gains and losses recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss: 

 

 
 

!"#$%FG%()F*+HF-
!"#"$%&'()*&+$,-.') //01234$$$$$$$$ 54$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ /06784$$$$$$$$$$$ /601114$$$$$$$$ 54$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
9-&:-&(.'$;-,<) 120==>$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ =2=$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 120621$$$$$$$$$$$ 1?$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
#.(.')$(,<$@*,ABA:(C) 20733$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 71>$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 206?=$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
M-&.E(E'5;(BF'<$)'B*&A.A') ?607/=$$$$$$$$$$$ 10781$$$$$$$$$$$$$ >>7$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ ?608>8$$$$$$$$$$$ 7$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
G.H'&$())'.5;(BF'<$)'B*&A.A') 120/>1$$$$$$$$$$$ />3$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 120?==$$$$$$$$$$$

.GF)#/0"#$%FG%()F*+HF- 1234256//////// 14378///////////// 941:3///////////// 12549:9//////// 18///////////////////

;<)H#)=#"%LG+%?)#"
!"#"$%&'()*&+$,-.') 7?06=1$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 10>/=$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 7701?7$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
9-&:-&(.'$;-,<) 220718$$$$$$$$$$$ 8$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ /06=/$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 2/0/26$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
M-&.E(E'5;(BF'<$)'B*&A.A') /201=3$$$$$$$$$$$ 1=2$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 883$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ /70362$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
#.(.')$(,<$@*,ABA:(C) 230=3>$$$$$$$$$$$ 13$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 70?>2$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 22076/$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
G.H'&$())'.5;(BF'<$)'B*&A.A') 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$

.GF)#/)<)H#)=#"%LG+%?)#" 1714935//////// 62@///////////////// 846@1///////////// 19545:://////// %/////////////////

.GF)#/?"A*+HFH"? 67@49:7B////// 14837B/////////// 16493@B//////// 69348:5B////// 18B/////////////////

6269
;(G+FHC"$/

DG?F

E+G??/
FG+")#HC"$/

E)HG?

E+G??/
FG+")#HC"$/

HG??"?
I)H+/

J)#*"

;##GK)GA"/
LG+/D+"$HF/

HG??"?

!"#$%FG%()F*+HF-
!"#"$%&'()*&+$,-.') //01234$$$$$$$$ 54$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ /06784$$$$$$$$$$$ /601/94$$$$$$$$ 54$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
:-&;-&(.'$<-,=) 1>0?>1$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 1069>$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 17039?$$$$$$$$$$$ 12$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
#.(.')$(,=$@*,ABA;(C) 80988$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 327$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 80?82$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
M-&.E(E'5<(BF'=$)'B*&A.A') ?30>98$$$$$$$$$$$ >16$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 73/$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ ?30973$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
G.H'&$())'.5<(BF'=$)'B*&A.A') /30773$$$$$$$$$$$ //1$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 18$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ /30972$$$$$$$$$$$ 8$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$

.GF)#/0"#$%FG%()F*+HF- 1123456//////// 471///////////////// 83149///////////// 1:436:7//////// 28///////////////////

;<)H#)=#"%>G+%?)#"
!"#"$%&'()*&+$,-.') 360>9>$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ /0378$$$$$$$$$$$$$ /90?//$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
:-&;-&(.'$<-,=) 82076/$$$$$$$$$$$ /$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 302>/$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 88073/$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
M-&.E(E'5<(BF'=$)'B*&A.A') /20>89$$$$$$$$$$$ ?6?$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 9>2$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ /20/93$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
#.(.')$(,=$@*,ABA;(C) 8/0116$$$$$$$$$$$ 33$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 80639$$$$$$$$$$$$$ ?>0168$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$
G.H'&$())'.5<(BF'=$)'B*&A.A') 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ 5$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$

.GF)#/)<)H#)=#"%>G+%?)#" 1623296//////// 874///////////////// 123298/////////// 15:3882//////// %/////////////////

.GF)#/?"@*+HFH"? 2A93228B////// 1376:B/////////// 153884B//////// 26:3189B////// 28B/////////////////

;##GC)D@"/
>G+/E+"$HF/2:27

;(G+FHF"$/
EG?F

G+G??/
HD+")#HF"$/

G+G??/
HD+")#HF"$/

I)H+/
J)#*"

 
The carrying amount and es[mated fair value of financial instruments not recorded at fair value in their en[rety on a recurring basis 
on the Corpora[on’s consolidated balance sheets are as follows at December 31: 
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3. INVESTMENT SECURITIES 
 

 
The following table summarizes the amor[zed cost, fair value, and allowance for credit losses of securi[es available-for-sale and held- 
to-maturity at December 31, 2024, and the corresponding amounts of gross unrealized gains and losses recognized in accumulated 
other comprehensive loss:  
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2023, and the corresponding amounts of gross unrealized gains and losses recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss: 
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(Dollars in thousands except per share data)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS

 

 

 

During 2022, the Corpora[on  reclassified  certain  securi[es  from  available-for-sale  to  held-to-maturity.  The  securi[es  had  an 
aggregated fair value of approximately $71.1 million with an aggregated net unrealized loss of approximately $2.5 million on the date 
of the transfer. The net unamor[zed, unrealized loss on the transferred securi[es included in accumulated other comprehensive loss 
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, totaled approximately $1.2 million and $1.8 
million. This amount will be amor[zed out of accumulated other comprehensive loss over the remaining life of the underlying securi[es 
as an adjustment of the yield on those securi[es. 

Investment securi[es with carrying values of $41,553 and $53,001 at December 31, 2024, and 2023, respec[vely, were pledged to 
secure public deposits or for other purposes as permiked or required by law. 

During 2024, there were proceeds of $5,629 from sales of available-for-sale securi[es and a gross realized loss of $55. During 2023, 
there were no proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securi[es, and no gross realized gains or losses recognized. 

The  amor[zed  cost  and  fair  value  of  held-to-maturity  and  available-for-sale  debt  securi[es  grouped  by  contractual  maturity  at 
December 31, 2024, are summarized as follows: 
 

 
 
Expected maturi[es may differ from contractual maturi[es because issuers may have the right to call or prepay obliga[ons. 
 
Because of their variable monthly payments, mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securi[es are not reported by a specific 
maturity group. 
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3. INVESTMENT SECURITIES 
 

 
The following table summarizes the amor[zed cost, fair value, and allowance for credit losses of securi[es available-for-sale and held- 
to-maturity at December 31, 2024, and the corresponding amounts of gross unrealized gains and losses recognized in accumulated 
other comprehensive loss:  
 

 
The following table summarizes the amor[zed cost and fair value of securi[es available-for sale and held-to-maturity at December 31, 
2023, and the corresponding amounts of gross unrealized gains and losses recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss: 
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Investment securities with carrying values of $41,553 and $53,001 at December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively, were pledged to 
secure public deposits or for other purposes as permitted or required by law.

During 2024, there were proceeds of $5,629 from sales of available-for-sale securities and a gross realized loss of $55. During 2023, 
there were no proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities, and no gross realized gains or losses recognized.

The following table summarizes the amortized cost and fair value of securities available-for-sale and held-to-maturity at December 31, 
2023, and the corresponding amounts of gross unrealized gains and losses recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss:
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During 2022, the Corpora[on  reclassified  certain  securi[es  from  available-for-sale  to  held-to-maturity.  The  securi[es  had  an 
aggregated fair value of approximately $71.1 million with an aggregated net unrealized loss of approximately $2.5 million on the date 
of the transfer. The net unamor[zed, unrealized loss on the transferred securi[es included in accumulated other comprehensive loss 
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, totaled approximately $1.2 million and $1.8 
million. This amount will be amor[zed out of accumulated other comprehensive loss over the remaining life of the underlying securi[es 
as an adjustment of the yield on those securi[es. 

Investment securi[es with carrying values of $41,553 and $53,001 at December 31, 2024, and 2023, respec[vely, were pledged to 
secure public deposits or for other purposes as permiked or required by law. 

During 2024, there were proceeds of $5,629 from sales of available-for-sale securi[es and a gross realized loss of $55. During 2023, 
there were no proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securi[es, and no gross realized gains or losses recognized. 

The  amor[zed  cost  and  fair  value  of  held-to-maturity  and  available-for-sale  debt  securi[es  grouped  by  contractual  maturity  at 
December 31, 2024, are summarized as follows: 
 

 
 
Expected maturi[es may differ from contractual maturi[es because issuers may have the right to call or prepay obliga[ons. 
 
Because of their variable monthly payments, mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securi[es are not reported by a specific 
maturity group. 
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(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because issuers may have the right to call or prepay obligations.

Because of their variable monthly payments, mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities are not reported by a specific 
maturity group.

At December 31, 2024, and 2023, there were no holdings of securities of any one issuer, other than the U.S. Government and its 
agencies, in an amount greater than 10% of shareholders’ equity.
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At December 31, 2024, and 2023, there were no holdings of securi[es of any one issuer, other than the U.S. Government and its 
agencies, in an amount greater than 10% of shareholders’ equity. 

The following table summarizes debt securi[es available-for-sale in an unrealized loss posi[on for which an allowance for credit losses 
has not been recorded at December 31, 2024, aggregated by major security type and length of [me in a con[nuous unrealized loss 
posi[on: 

The following table displays the gross unrealized losses and es[mated fair values of available-for sale and held-to-maturity securi[es 
aggregated by category and length of [me that the securi[es have been in a con[nuous unrealized loss posi[on at December 31, 2023: 

 

As  of  December  31,  2024,  the  Corpora[on’s  investment  security  porjolio  consisted  of  306  securi[es,  268  of  which  were  in 
an unrealized loss posi[on. As of December 31, 2023, the Corporation's investment security portfolio consisted of 361 securities, 
309 of which were in an unrealized loss position.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, no allowance for credit loss has been recognized on available-for-sale securi[es in an 
unrealized loss posi[on as management does not believe any of the securi[es are impaired due to reasons of credit quality. This 
is based upon management’s analysis of the underlying risk characteris[cs, including credit ra[ngs, and other qualita[ve factors.  
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At December 31, 2024, and 2023, there were no holdings of securi[es of any one issuer, other than the U.S. Government and its 
agencies, in an amount greater than 10% of shareholders’ equity. 

The following table summarizes debt securi[es available-for-sale in an unrealized loss posi[on for which an allowance for credit losses 
has not been recorded at December 31, 2024, aggregated by major security type and length of [me in a con[nuous unrealized loss 
posi[on: 

The following table displays the gross unrealized losses and es[mated fair values of available-for sale and held-to-maturity securi[es 
aggregated by category and length of [me that the securi[es have been in a con[nuous unrealized loss posi[on at December 31, 2023: 

 

As  of  December  31,  2024,  the  Corpora[on’s  investment  security  porjolio  consisted  of  306  securi[es,  268  of  which  were  in 
an unrealized loss posi[on. As of December 31, 2023, the Corporation's investment security portfolio consisted of 361 securities, 
309 of which were in an unrealized loss position.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, no allowance for credit loss has been recognized on available-for-sale securi[es in an 
unrealized loss posi[on as management does not believe any of the securi[es are impaired due to reasons of credit quality. This 
is based upon management’s analysis of the underlying risk characteris[cs, including credit ra[ngs, and other qualita[ve factors.  
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At December 31, 2024, and 2023, there were no holdings of securi[es of any one issuer, other than the U.S. Government and its 
agencies, in an amount greater than 10% of shareholders’ equity. 

The following table summarizes debt securi[es available-for-sale in an unrealized loss posi[on for which an allowance for credit losses 
has not been recorded at December 31, 2024, aggregated by major security type and length of [me in a con[nuous unrealized loss 
posi[on: 

The following table displays the gross unrealized losses and es[mated fair values of available-for sale and held-to-maturity securi[es 
aggregated by category and length of [me that the securi[es have been in a con[nuous unrealized loss posi[on at December 31, 2023: 

 

As  of  December  31,  2024,  the  Corpora[on’s  investment  security  porjolio  consisted  of  306  securi[es,  268  of  which  were  in 
an unrealized loss posi[on. As of December 31, 2023, the Corporation's investment security portfolio consisted of 361 securities, 
309 of which were in an unrealized loss position.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, no allowance for credit loss has been recognized on available-for-sale securi[es in an 
unrealized loss posi[on as management does not believe any of the securi[es are impaired due to reasons of credit quality. This 
is based upon management’s analysis of the underlying risk characteris[cs, including credit ra[ngs, and other qualita[ve factors.  
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At December 31, 2024, and 2023, there were no holdings of securi[es of any one issuer, other than the U.S. Government and its 
agencies, in an amount greater than 10% of shareholders’ equity. 

The following table summarizes debt securi[es available-for-sale in an unrealized loss posi[on for which an allowance for credit losses 
has not been recorded at December 31, 2024, aggregated by major security type and length of [me in a con[nuous unrealized loss 
posi[on: 

The following table displays the gross unrealized losses and es[mated fair values of available-for sale and held-to-maturity securi[es 
aggregated by category and length of [me that the securi[es have been in a con[nuous unrealized loss posi[on at December 31, 2023: 

 

As  of  December  31,  2024,  the  Corpora[on’s  investment  security  porjolio  consisted  of  306  securi[es,  268  of  which  were  in 
an unrealized loss posi[on. As of December 31, 2023, the Corporation's investment security portfolio consisted of 361 securities, 
309 of which were in an unrealized loss position.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, no allowance for credit loss has been recognized on available-for-sale securi[es in an 
unrealized loss posi[on as management does not believe any of the securi[es are impaired due to reasons of credit quality. This 
is based upon management’s analysis of the underlying risk characteris[cs, including credit ra[ngs, and other qualita[ve factors.  
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(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

As of December 31, 2024, the Corporations’s investment security portfolio consists of 306 securities, 268 of which were in an 
unrealized loss position. As of December 31, 2023, the Corporation’s investment security portfolio consisted of 361 securities, 309 of 
which were in an unrealized loss position.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, no allowance for credit loss has been recognized on available-for-sale securities in an unrealized 
loss position as management does not believe any of the securities are impaired due to reasons of credit quality. This is based upon 
management’s analysis of the underlying risk characteristics, including credit ratings, and other qualitative factors.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS

(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Held-to-Maturity Securi)es 

The following table shows a roll forward of the allowance for credit losses on held-to-maturity securi[es for December 31: 
 

 
The Corpora[on monitors the credit quality of the debt securi[es held-to-maturity through the use of credit ra[ngs on a 
quarterly basis. The following table summarizes the amor[zed cost of debt securi[es held-to-maturity aggregated by     
credit quality indicators, at December 31: 
 

 
 
At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Corpora[on had no securi[es held-to-maturity that were past due 30 days or more as to            
principal or interest payments. The Corpora[on had no securi[es held-to-maturity classified as nonaccrual as of December 31, 2024 
or 2023.  

 
4. LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

 
 
The Bank grants commercial, consumer, and residen[al mortgage loans to customers situated primarily in Sanilac, Huron, and St. Clair 
coun[es in Michigan. The ability of the Bank’s debtors to honor their contracts is dependent upon the real estate, agriculture, and 
general economic condi[ons in these areas. Substan[ally all of the consumer and residen[al loans are secured by various items of 
property, while commercial loans are secured primarily by business assets and personal guarantees; a por[on of loans are unsecured. 
 
Loans are summarized as follows at December 31: 
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Allowance for Credit Losses – Held-to-Maturity Securi)es 

The following table shows a roll forward of the allowance for credit losses on held-to-maturity securi[es for December 31: 
 

 
The Corpora[on monitors the credit quality of the debt securi[es held-to-maturity through the use of credit ra[ngs on a 
quarterly basis. The following table summarizes the amor[zed cost of debt securi[es held-to-maturity aggregated by     
credit quality indicators, at December 31: 
 

 
 
At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Corpora[on had no securi[es held-to-maturity that were past due 30 days or more as to            
principal or interest payments. The Corpora[on had no securi[es held-to-maturity classified as nonaccrual as of December 31, 2024 
or 2023.  

 
4. LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

 
 
The Bank grants commercial, consumer, and residen[al mortgage loans to customers situated primarily in Sanilac, Huron, and St. Clair 
coun[es in Michigan. The ability of the Bank’s debtors to honor their contracts is dependent upon the real estate, agriculture, and 
general economic condi[ons in these areas. Substan[ally all of the consumer and residen[al loans are secured by various items of 
property, while commercial loans are secured primarily by business assets and personal guarantees; a por[on of loans are unsecured. 
 
Loans are summarized as follows at December 31: 
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Allowance for Credit Losses – Held-to-Maturity Securi)es 

The following table shows a roll forward of the allowance for credit losses on held-to-maturity securi[es for December 31: 
 

 
The Corpora[on monitors the credit quality of the debt securi[es held-to-maturity through the use of credit ra[ngs on a 
quarterly basis. The following table summarizes the amor[zed cost of debt securi[es held-to-maturity aggregated by     
credit quality indicators, at December 31: 
 

 
 
At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Corpora[on had no securi[es held-to-maturity that were past due 30 days or more as to            
principal or interest payments. The Corpora[on had no securi[es held-to-maturity classified as nonaccrual as of December 31, 2024 
or 2023.  

 
4. LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

 
 
The Bank grants commercial, consumer, and residen[al mortgage loans to customers situated primarily in Sanilac, Huron, and St. Clair 
coun[es in Michigan. The ability of the Bank’s debtors to honor their contracts is dependent upon the real estate, agriculture, and 
general economic condi[ons in these areas. Substan[ally all of the consumer and residen[al loans are secured by various items of 
property, while commercial loans are secured primarily by business assets and personal guarantees; a por[on of loans are unsecured. 
 
Loans are summarized as follows at December 31: 
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EASTERN MICHIGAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

Corporate 

bonds

States and 

municipals

Commercial 

Mortgage 

Backed 

Securities

Residential 

Mortgage 

Backed 

Securities

 $   -  $ -  $ -  $   - 

50 1 12   - 

 (31) (1) (7)

 $     19  $   -  $     5  $     - 

AAA  $      89,642 

AA     11,453 

A     11,872 
Total  $       112,967 

4.

2023 2022

26,255$       19,920$       

46,253   45,986   

70,107   51,040   

12,348   12,296   

26,812   26,710   

22,787   18,265   

7,815  9,041  

212,377    183,258    

2,608  1,710  

209,769$       181,548$       

Less allowance for credit losses

Loans, net

Commercial and industrial

Total loans

Real estate related industries

Other commercial

Residential real estate

Consumer and other

Home equity

Agricultural

The Bank grants commercial, consumer and residential mortgage loans to customers situated primarily in Sanilac, Huron and 
St. Clair counties in Michigan. The ability of the Bank’s debtors to honor their contracts is dependent upon the real estate, 
agriculture, and general economic conditions in this area. Substantially all of the consumer and residential loans are secured 
by various items of property, while commercial loans are secured primarily by business assets and personal guarantees; a 
portion of loans are unsecured.

Loans are summarized as follows at December 31:

As of December 31, 2023, the Corporation’s investment security portfolio consisted of 361 securities, 309 of which were in an 
unrealized loss position.

As of December 31, 2023, no allowance for credit loss has been recognized on available-for-sale securities in an unrealized 
loss position as management does not believe any of the securities are impaired due to reasons of credit quality. This is based 
upon management's analysis of the underlying risk characteristics, including credit ratings, and other qualitative factors.

Allowance for Credit Losses - Held-to-Maturity Securities

The following table shows a roll forward of the allowance for credit losses on held-to-maturity securities for December 31, 2023
December 31, 2023:

Balance December 31, 2023

Balance December 31, 2022

Adjustment for adoption of ASU 2016-13

Provision (reversal) for credit losses

The Company monitors the credit quality of the debt securities held to maturity through the use of credit ratings on a 
quarterly basis. The following table summarizes the amortized cost of debt securities held-to-maturity at December 31, 

2023, aggregated by credit quality indicators.

At December 31, 2023, the Company had no securities held-to-maturity that were past due 30 days or more as to principal or 
interest payments. The Company had no securities held-to-maturity classified as nonaccrual as of December 31, 2023.

LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

24

2023

 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Held-to-Maturity Securi)es 

The following table shows a roll forward of the allowance for credit losses on held-to-maturity securi[es for December 31: 
 

 
The Corpora[on monitors the credit quality of the debt securi[es held-to-maturity through the use of credit ra[ngs on a 
quarterly basis. The following table summarizes the amor[zed cost of debt securi[es held-to-maturity aggregated by     
credit quality indicators, at December 31: 
 

 
 
At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Corpora[on had no securi[es held-to-maturity that were past due 30 days or more as to            
principal or interest payments. The Corpora[on had no securi[es held-to-maturity classified as nonaccrual as of December 31, 2024 
or 2023.  

 
4. LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

 
 
The Bank grants commercial, consumer, and residen[al mortgage loans to customers situated primarily in Sanilac, Huron, and St. Clair 
coun[es in Michigan. The ability of the Bank’s debtors to honor their contracts is dependent upon the real estate, agriculture, and 
general economic condi[ons in these areas. Substan[ally all of the consumer and residen[al loans are secured by various items of 
property, while commercial loans are secured primarily by business assets and personal guarantees; a por[on of loans are unsecured. 
 
Loans are summarized as follows at December 31: 
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2024

EASTERN MICHIGAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

Corporate 

bonds

States and 

municipals

Commercial 

Mortgage 

Backed 

Securities

Residential 

Mortgage 

Backed 

Securities

 $   -  $ -  $ -  $   - 

50 1 12   - 

 (31) (1) (7)

 $     19  $   -  $     5  $     - 

AAA  $      89,642 

AA     11,453 

A     11,872 
Total  $       112,967 

4.

2023 2022

26,255$       19,920$       

46,253   45,986   

70,107   51,040   

12,348   12,296   

26,812   26,710   

22,787   18,265   

7,815  9,041  

212,377    183,258    

2,608  1,710  

209,769$       181,548$       

Less allowance for credit losses

Loans, net

Commercial and industrial

Total loans

Real estate related industries

Other commercial

Residential real estate

Consumer and other

Home equity

Agricultural

The Bank grants commercial, consumer and residential mortgage loans to customers situated primarily in Sanilac, Huron and 
St. Clair counties in Michigan. The ability of the Bank’s debtors to honor their contracts is dependent upon the real estate, 
agriculture, and general economic conditions in this area. Substantially all of the consumer and residential loans are secured 
by various items of property, while commercial loans are secured primarily by business assets and personal guarantees; a 
portion of loans are unsecured.

Loans are summarized as follows at December 31:

As of December 31, 2023, the Corporation’s investment security portfolio consisted of 361 securities, 309 of which were in an 
unrealized loss position.

As of December 31, 2023, no allowance for credit loss has been recognized on available-for-sale securities in an unrealized 
loss position as management does not believe any of the securities are impaired due to reasons of credit quality. This is based 
upon management's analysis of the underlying risk characteristics, including credit ratings, and other qualitative factors.

Allowance for Credit Losses - Held-to-Maturity Securities

The following table shows a roll forward of the allowance for credit losses on held-to-maturity securities for December 31, 2023
December 31, 2023:

Balance December 31, 2023

Balance December 31, 2022

Adjustment for adoption of ASU 2016-13

Provision (reversal) for credit losses

The Company monitors the credit quality of the debt securities held to maturity through the use of credit ratings on a 
quarterly basis. The following table summarizes the amortized cost of debt securities held-to-maturity at December 31, 

2023, aggregated by credit quality indicators.

At December 31, 2023, the Company had no securities held-to-maturity that were past due 30 days or more as to principal or 
interest payments. The Company had no securities held-to-maturity classified as nonaccrual as of December 31, 2023.

LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES
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EASTERN MICHIGAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

Corporate 

bonds

States and 

municipals

Commercial 

Mortgage 

Backed 

Securities

Residential 

Mortgage 

Backed 

Securities

 $   -  $ -  $ -  $   - 

50 1 12   - 

 (31) (1) (7)

 $     19  $   -  $     5  $     - 

AAA  $      89,642 

AA     11,453 

A     11,872 
Total  $       112,967 

4.

2023 2022

26,255$       19,920$       

46,253   45,986   

70,107   51,040   

12,348   12,296   

26,812   26,710   

22,787   18,265   

7,815  9,041  

212,377    183,258    

2,608  1,710  

209,769$       181,548$       

Less allowance for credit losses

Loans, net

Commercial and industrial

Total loans

Real estate related industries

Other commercial

Residential real estate

Consumer and other

Home equity

Agricultural

The Bank grants commercial, consumer and residential mortgage loans to customers situated primarily in Sanilac, Huron and 
St. Clair counties in Michigan. The ability of the Bank’s debtors to honor their contracts is dependent upon the real estate, 
agriculture, and general economic conditions in this area. Substantially all of the consumer and residential loans are secured 
by various items of property, while commercial loans are secured primarily by business assets and personal guarantees; a 
portion of loans are unsecured.

Loans are summarized as follows at December 31:

As of December 31, 2023, the Corporation’s investment security portfolio consisted of 361 securities, 309 of which were in an 
unrealized loss position.

As of December 31, 2023, no allowance for credit loss has been recognized on available-for-sale securities in an unrealized 
loss position as management does not believe any of the securities are impaired due to reasons of credit quality. This is based 
upon management's analysis of the underlying risk characteristics, including credit ratings, and other qualitative factors.

Allowance for Credit Losses - Held-to-Maturity Securities

The following table shows a roll forward of the allowance for credit losses on held-to-maturity securities for December 31, 2023
December 31, 2023:

Balance December 31, 2023

Balance December 31, 2022

Adjustment for adoption of ASU 2016-13

Provision (reversal) for credit losses

The Company monitors the credit quality of the debt securities held to maturity through the use of credit ratings on a 
quarterly basis. The following table summarizes the amortized cost of debt securities held-to-maturity at December 31, 

2023, aggregated by credit quality indicators.

At December 31, 2023, the Company had no securities held-to-maturity that were past due 30 days or more as to principal or 
interest payments. The Company had no securities held-to-maturity classified as nonaccrual as of December 31, 2023.
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EASTERN MICHIGAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

Corporate 

bonds

States and 

municipals

Commercial 

Mortgage 

Backed 

Securities

Residential 

Mortgage 

Backed 

Securities

 $   -  $ -  $ -  $   - 

50 1 12   - 

 (31) (1) (7)

 $     19  $   -  $     5  $     - 

AAA  $      89,642 

AA     11,453 

A     11,872 
Total  $       112,967 

4.

2023 2022

26,255$       19,920$       

46,253   45,986   

70,107   51,040   

12,348   12,296   

26,812   26,710   

22,787   18,265   

7,815  9,041  

212,377    183,258    

2,608  1,710  

209,769$       181,548$       

Less allowance for credit losses

Loans, net

Commercial and industrial

Total loans

Real estate related industries

Other commercial

Residential real estate

Consumer and other

Home equity

Agricultural

The Bank grants commercial, consumer and residential mortgage loans to customers situated primarily in Sanilac, Huron and 
St. Clair counties in Michigan. The ability of the Bank’s debtors to honor their contracts is dependent upon the real estate, 
agriculture, and general economic conditions in this area. Substantially all of the consumer and residential loans are secured 
by various items of property, while commercial loans are secured primarily by business assets and personal guarantees; a 
portion of loans are unsecured.

Loans are summarized as follows at December 31:

As of December 31, 2023, the Corporation’s investment security portfolio consisted of 361 securities, 309 of which were in an 
unrealized loss position.

As of December 31, 2023, no allowance for credit loss has been recognized on available-for-sale securities in an unrealized 
loss position as management does not believe any of the securities are impaired due to reasons of credit quality. This is based 
upon management's analysis of the underlying risk characteristics, including credit ratings, and other qualitative factors.

Allowance for Credit Losses - Held-to-Maturity Securities

The following table shows a roll forward of the allowance for credit losses on held-to-maturity securities for December 31, 2023
December 31, 2023:

Balance December 31, 2023

Balance December 31, 2022

Adjustment for adoption of ASU 2016-13

Provision (reversal) for credit losses

The Company monitors the credit quality of the debt securities held to maturity through the use of credit ratings on a 
quarterly basis. The following table summarizes the amortized cost of debt securities held-to-maturity at December 31, 

2023, aggregated by credit quality indicators.

At December 31, 2023, the Company had no securities held-to-maturity that were past due 30 days or more as to principal or 
interest payments. The Company had no securities held-to-maturity classified as nonaccrual as of December 31, 2023.
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Allowance for Credit Losses – Held-to-Maturity Securi)es 

The following table shows a roll forward of the allowance for credit losses on held-to-maturity securi[es for December 31: 
 

 
The Corpora[on monitors the credit quality of the debt securi[es held-to-maturity through the use of credit ra[ngs on a 
quarterly basis. The following table summarizes the amor[zed cost of debt securi[es held-to-maturity aggregated by     
credit quality indicators, at December 31: 
 

 
 
At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Corpora[on had no securi[es held-to-maturity that were past due 30 days or more as to            
principal or interest payments. The Corpora[on had no securi[es held-to-maturity classified as nonaccrual as of December 31, 2024 
or 2023.  

 
4. LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

 
 
The Bank grants commercial, consumer, and residen[al mortgage loans to customers situated primarily in Sanilac, Huron, and St. Clair 
coun[es in Michigan. The ability of the Bank’s debtors to honor their contracts is dependent upon the real estate, agriculture, and 
general economic condi[ons in these areas. Substan[ally all of the consumer and residen[al loans are secured by various items of 
property, while commercial loans are secured primarily by business assets and personal guarantees; a por[on of loans are unsecured. 
 
Loans are summarized as follows at December 31: 
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2024

EASTERN MICHIGAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

Corporate 

bonds

States and 

municipals

Commercial 

Mortgage 

Backed 

Securities

Residential 

Mortgage 

Backed 

Securities

 $   -  $ -  $ -  $   - 

50 1 12   - 

 (31) (1) (7)

 $     19  $   -  $     5  $     - 

AAA  $      89,642 

AA     11,453 

A     11,872 
Total  $       112,967 

4.

2023 2022

26,255$       19,920$       

46,253   45,986   

70,107   51,040   

12,348   12,296   

26,812   26,710   

22,787   18,265   

7,815  9,041  

212,377    183,258    

2,608  1,710  

209,769$       181,548$       

Less allowance for credit losses

Loans, net

Commercial and industrial

Total loans

Real estate related industries

Other commercial

Residential real estate

Consumer and other

Home equity

Agricultural

The Bank grants commercial, consumer and residential mortgage loans to customers situated primarily in Sanilac, Huron and 
St. Clair counties in Michigan. The ability of the Bank’s debtors to honor their contracts is dependent upon the real estate, 
agriculture, and general economic conditions in this area. Substantially all of the consumer and residential loans are secured 
by various items of property, while commercial loans are secured primarily by business assets and personal guarantees; a 
portion of loans are unsecured.

Loans are summarized as follows at December 31:

As of December 31, 2023, the Corporation’s investment security portfolio consisted of 361 securities, 309 of which were in an 
unrealized loss position.

As of December 31, 2023, no allowance for credit loss has been recognized on available-for-sale securities in an unrealized 
loss position as management does not believe any of the securities are impaired due to reasons of credit quality. This is based 
upon management's analysis of the underlying risk characteristics, including credit ratings, and other qualitative factors.

Allowance for Credit Losses - Held-to-Maturity Securities

The following table shows a roll forward of the allowance for credit losses on held-to-maturity securities for December 31, 2023
December 31, 2023:

Balance December 31, 2023

Balance December 31, 2022

Adjustment for adoption of ASU 2016-13

Provision (reversal) for credit losses

The Company monitors the credit quality of the debt securities held to maturity through the use of credit ratings on a 
quarterly basis. The following table summarizes the amortized cost of debt securities held-to-maturity at December 31, 

2023, aggregated by credit quality indicators.

At December 31, 2023, the Company had no securities held-to-maturity that were past due 30 days or more as to principal or 
interest payments. The Company had no securities held-to-maturity classified as nonaccrual as of December 31, 2023.
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2023

EASTERN MICHIGAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

Corporate 

bonds

States and 

municipals

Commercial 

Mortgage 

Backed 

Securities

Residential 

Mortgage 

Backed 

Securities

 $   -  $ -  $ -  $   - 

50 1 12   - 

 (31) (1) (7)

 $     19  $   -  $     5  $     - 

AAA  $      89,642 

AA     11,453 

A     11,872 
Total  $       112,967 

4.

2023 2022

26,255$       19,920$       

46,253   45,986   

70,107   51,040   

12,348   12,296   

26,812   26,710   

22,787   18,265   

7,815  9,041  

212,377    183,258    

2,608  1,710  

209,769$       181,548$       

Less allowance for credit losses

Loans, net

Commercial and industrial

Total loans

Real estate related industries

Other commercial

Residential real estate

Consumer and other

Home equity

Agricultural

The Bank grants commercial, consumer and residential mortgage loans to customers situated primarily in Sanilac, Huron and 
St. Clair counties in Michigan. The ability of the Bank’s debtors to honor their contracts is dependent upon the real estate, 
agriculture, and general economic conditions in this area. Substantially all of the consumer and residential loans are secured 
by various items of property, while commercial loans are secured primarily by business assets and personal guarantees; a 
portion of loans are unsecured.

Loans are summarized as follows at December 31:

As of December 31, 2023, the Corporation’s investment security portfolio consisted of 361 securities, 309 of which were in an 
unrealized loss position.

As of December 31, 2023, no allowance for credit loss has been recognized on available-for-sale securities in an unrealized 
loss position as management does not believe any of the securities are impaired due to reasons of credit quality. This is based 
upon management's analysis of the underlying risk characteristics, including credit ratings, and other qualitative factors.

Allowance for Credit Losses - Held-to-Maturity Securities

The following table shows a roll forward of the allowance for credit losses on held-to-maturity securities for December 31, 2023
December 31, 2023:

Balance December 31, 2023

Balance December 31, 2022

Adjustment for adoption of ASU 2016-13

Provision (reversal) for credit losses

The Company monitors the credit quality of the debt securities held to maturity through the use of credit ratings on a 
quarterly basis. The following table summarizes the amortized cost of debt securities held-to-maturity at December 31, 

2023, aggregated by credit quality indicators.

At December 31, 2023, the Company had no securities held-to-maturity that were past due 30 days or more as to principal or 
interest payments. The Company had no securities held-to-maturity classified as nonaccrual as of December 31, 2023.
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The Corporation monitors the credit quality of the debt securities held-to-maturity through the use of credit ratings on a quarterly 
basis. The following table summarizes the amortized cost of debt securities held-to-maturity aggregated by credit quality indicators, 
at December 31:

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Corporation had no securities held-to-maturity that were past due 30 days or more as to 
principal or interest payments. The Corporation had no securities held-to-maturity classified as nonaccrual as of December 31, 2024 
or 2023.

The Bank grants commercial, consumer, and residential mortgage loans to customers situated primarily in Sanilac, Huron, and St. Clair 
counties in Michigan. The ability of the Bank’s debtors to honor their contracts is dependent upon the real estate, agriculture, and 
general economic conditions in these areas. Substantially all of the consumer and residential loans are secured by various items of 
property, while commercial loans are secured primarily by business assets and personal guarantees; a portion of loans are unsecured.

Loans are summarized as follows at December 31:
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS

(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

Continued. . .

The following table summarizes the ac[vity related to the allowance for credit losses for the year ended December 31: 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS

(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

The following table presents the Corpora[on’s recorded investment in the loans allocated by management’s internal risk ra[ng by year 
of origina[on at December 31, 2024: 
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The following table presents the Corpora[on’s recorded investment in the loans allocated by management’s internal risk ra[ng by year 
of origina[on at December 31, 2024: 
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The following table presents the Corpora[on’s recorded investment in the loans allocated by management’s internal risk ra[ng by year 
of origina[on at December 31, 2023: 
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The Corporation designates individually evaluated loans on nonaccrual status as collateral dependent loans, as well as other 
loans that management of the Corporation designates as having higher risk. Collateral dependent loans are loans for which 
the repayment is expected to be provided substantially through the operation or sale of the collateral, and the borrower 
is experiencing financial difficulty. These loans do not share common risk characteristics and are not included within the 
collectively evaluated loans for determining the allowance for credit losses. For collateral dependent loans, the Corporation 
has adopted the practical expedient to measure the allowance for credit losses based on the fair value of the collateral. The 
allowance for credit losses is calculated on an individual loan basis based on the shortfall between the fair value of the loan’s 
collateral, which is adjusted for liquidation costs and discounts, and amortized cost. If the fair value of the collateral exceeds 
the amortized cost, no allowance is required.

(Dollars in thousands except per share data)
 
The following tables show an aging analysis of the loan porjolio by [me past due as of December 31: 
 

 
 
  

 
 
The Corpora[on designates individually evaluated loans on nonaccrual status as collateral dependent loans, as well as other loans that 
management of the Corpora[on designates as having higher risk. Collateral dependent loans are loans for which the repayment is 
expected to be provided substan[ally through the opera[on or sale of the collateral, and the borrower is experiencing financial 
difficulty. These loans do not share common risk characteris[cs and are not included within the collec[vely evaluated loans for 
determining the allowance for credit losses. Under CECL, for collateral dependent loans, the Corpora[on has adopted the prac[cal 
expedient to measure the allowance for credit losses based on the fair value of the collateral. The allowance for credit losses is 
calculated on an individual loan basis based on the shorjall between the fair value of the loan’s collateral, which is adjusted for 
liquida[on costs and discounts, and amor[zed cost. If the fair value of the collateral exceeds the amor[zed cost, no allowance is 
required. 
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The following tables show an aging analysis of the loan portfolio by time past due as of December 31: 

Commercial and industrial 22,574$        297$              $                   - 20$                 243$              23,134$        
Agricultural 45,608           - -                      237 - 45,845 
Other depository institutions 12,238           -                      -                      -                      -                      12,238 
Real estate related industries 75,240           - -                      1,218 - 76,458 
Other commercial 4,108             -                      -                      -                      -                      4,108 
Residential real estate 25,294           41                   - 143 3                     25,481 
Consumer and other 22,998           75                   - 39 10                   23,122 
Home equity 9,642             25                   - - -                      9,667 

Total 217,702$      438$              -$               1,657$           256$              220,053$      

2024

Accruing Interest

Current
30 - 89 Days 

Past Due

More Than 
90 Days 

Past Due

Nonaccrual 
Loans with 

No 
Allowance

Nonaccrual 
Loans with 

An 
Allowance

Total 
Loans

Commercial and industrial 25,955$        16$                 $                   - $ - 284$              26,255$        
Agricultural 45,527           -                      -                      723                 3                     46,253           
Real estate related industries 69,166           -                      -                      941                 - 70,107 
Other commercial 12,348           -                      -                      -                      -                      12,348 
Residential real estate 26,674           30                   - 92 16                   26,812 
Consumer and other 22,636           120                 - 21 10                   22,787 
Home equity 7,790             25                   - - -                      7,815 

Total 210,096$      191$              $                   - 1,777$           313$              212,377$      

More Than 
90 Days 

Past Due

Nonaccrual 
Loans with 

No 
Allowance

Nonaccrual 
Loans with 

An 
Allowance

Total 
Loans2023

Accruing Interest

Current
30 - 89 Days 

Past Due

The Corporation designates individually evaluated loans on nonaccrual status as collateral dependent loans, as well as other loans that 
management of the Corporation designates as having higher risk. Collateral dependent loans are loans for which the repayment is 
expected to be provided substantially through the operation or sale of the collateral, and the borrower is experiencing financial 
difficulty. These loans do not share common risk characteristics and are not included within the collectively evaluated loans for 
determining the allowance for credit losses. For collateral dependent loans, the Corporation has adopted the practical expedient to 
measure the allowance for credit losses based on the fair value of the collateral. The allowance for credit losses is calculated on an 
individual loan basis based on the shortfall between the fair value of the loan’s collateral, which is adjusted for liquidation costs and 
discounts, and amortized cost. If the fair value of the collateral exceeds the amortized cost, no allowance is required. 

The Corporation has certain loans for which repayment is dependent upon the operation or sale of collateral as the borrower is 
experiencing financial difficulty. The underlying collateral can vary based on the type of loan. The following provides more detail about 
the types of collateral that secure collateral dependent loans: 



(Dollars in thousands except per share data)
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2024 Unsecured

Real estate 
dwelling first 

lien

Real estate 
dwelling 

second lien
Real estate 
agricultural

Commercial and Industrial -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    
Agricultural 2                           -                       -                       237                     
Other depository institutions -                       -                       -                       -                       
Real estate related industries -                       550                     -                       -                       
Other commercial -                       -                       -                       -                       
Residential real estate -                       175                     -                       -                       
Consumer and other -                       -                       -                       -                       
Home equity -                       -                       -                       -                       
Total 2$                        725$                  -$                    237$                  

2023 Unsecured

Real estate 
dwelling first 

lien

Real estate 
dwelling 

second lien
Real estate 
agricultural

Commercial and Industrial -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    
Agricultural 3                           -                       -                       726                     
Other depository institutions -                       -                       -                       -                       
Real estate related industries -                       595                     -                       -                       
Other commercial -                       -                       -                       -                       
Residential real estate -                       147                     -                       -                       
Consumer and other -                       -                       -                       -                       
Home equity -                       -                       5                           -                       
Total 3$                        742$                  5$                        726$                  

Real estate 
business All assets Automobile

Recreation 
vehicle Total

-$                    263$                  -$                    -$                    263$                  
-                       51                        -                       -                       290                     
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

904                     -                       -                       -                       1,454                 
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
-                       -                       -                       -                       175                     
-                       -                       48                        1                           49                        
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

904$                  314$                  48$                     1$                        2,231$              

Real estate 
business All assets Automobile

Recreation 
vehicle Total

-$                    284$                  -$                    -$                    284$                  
-                       60                        -                       -                       789$                  
-                       -                       -                       -                       -$                    

602                     -                       -                       -                       1,197$              
-                       -                       -                       -                       -$                    
-                       -                       -                       -                       147$                  
-                       -                       29                        3                           32$                     
-                       -                       -                       -                       5                           

602$                  344$                  29$                     3$                        2,454$              

2024 Unsecured

Real estate 
dwelling first 

lien

Real estate 
dwelling 

second lien
Real estate 
agricultural

Commercial and Industrial -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    
Agricultural 2                           -                       -                       237                     
Other depository institutions -                       -                       -                       -                       
Real estate related industries -                       550                     -                       -                       
Other commercial -                       -                       -                       -                       
Residential real estate -                       175                     -                       -                       
Consumer and other -                       -                       -                       -                       
Home equity -                       -                       -                       -                       
Total 2$                        725$                  -$                    237$                  

2023 Unsecured

Real estate 
dwelling first 

lien

Real estate 
dwelling 

second lien
Real estate 
agricultural

Commercial and Industrial -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                    
Agricultural 3                           -                       -                       726                     
Other depository institutions -                       -                       -                       -                       
Real estate related industries -                       595                     -                       -                       
Other commercial -                       -                       -                       -                       
Residential real estate -                       147                     -                       -                       
Consumer and other -                       -                       -                       -                       
Home equity -                       -                       5                           -                       
Total 3$                        742$                  5$                        726$                  

Real estate 
business All assets Automobile

Recreation 
vehicle Total

-$                    263$                  -$                    -$                    263$                  
-                       51                        -                       -                       290                     
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

904                     -                       -                       -                       1,454                 
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
-                       -                       -                       -                       175                     
-                       -                       48                        1                           49                        
-                       -                       -                       -                       -                       

904$                  314$                  48$                     1$                        2,231$              

Real estate 
business All assets Automobile

Recreation 
vehicle Total

-$                    284$                  -$                    -$                    284$                  
-                       60                        -                       -                       789$                  
-                       -                       -                       -                       -$                    

602                     -                       -                       -                       1,197$              
-                       -                       -                       -                       -$                    
-                       -                       -                       -                       147$                  
-                       -                       29                        3                           32$                     
-                       -                       -                       -                       5                           

602$                  344$                  29$                     3$                        2,454$              

The Corporation has certain loans for which repayment is dependent upon the operation or sale of collateral as the borrower is 
experiencing financial difficulty. The underlying collateral can vary based on the type of loan. The following provides more detail about 
the types of collateral that secure collateral-dependent loans:

 Commercial real estate loans can be secured by either owner-occupied commercial real estate or non-owner-occupied
  Investment commercial real estate. Typically, owner-occupied commercial real estate loans are secured by office buildings,
 warehouses, manufacturing facilities, and other commercial and industrial properties occupied by operating companies.
  Non-owner-occupied commercial real estate loans are generally secured by office buildings and complexes, retail facilities,
  multifamily facilities, land under development, industrial properties, as well as other commercial and industrial real estate.
 
 Residential real estate loans are typically secured by first mortgages and, in some cases, could be secured by a second mortgage.
 
 Home equity lines of credit are generally secured by second mortgages on residential real estate property.
 
 Consumer loans are generally secured by automobiles, motorcycles, recreational vehicles, and other personal property.
    
 Some consumer loans are unsecured and have no underlying collateral.
 
The following table presents an analysis of collateral-dependent loans at December 31:

•

•

•

•

For borrowers in financial distress, the Corporation may provide relief by modifying the loan through principal forgiveness, term extension, 
interest rate reduction, or an other-than-significant payment delay. In some cases, the Corporation provides multiple types of concessions 
for one specific loan. If, after the initial concession, the borrower continues to experience financial distress, an additional modification 
may be granted. There were no significant modifications to loans in 2024 and 2023.
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5. SERVICING 
 

 
 

 
 

The Bank services loans for others which generally consists of collec[ng mortgage payments, maintaining escrow accounts, disbursing 
payments to investors and taxing authori[es, and processing foreclosures. Loans serviced as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, were 
$42,823 and $45,790, respec[vely; such loans are not included on the consolidated balance sheets.

The following summarizes the carrying value and the changes therein of mortgage servicing rights for the years ended December 31: 
 

 
 

6. PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Net premises and equipment consist of the following amounts at December 31: 
 

 
Deprecia[on expenses were $370 and $394 for 2024 and 2023, respec[vely. 

 
7. DEPOSITS 

 
The composi[on of deposits is summarized as follows as of December 31: 
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The Bank services loans for others, which generally consists of collecting mortgage payments, maintaining escrow accounts, 
disbursing payments to investors and taxing authorities, and processing foreclosures. Loans serviced as of December 31, 2024, 
and 2023, were $42,823 and $45,790, respectively; such loans are not included on the consolidated balance sheets.

The following summarizes the carrying value and the changes therein of mortgage servicing rights for the years ended 
December 31:
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Scheduled maturi[es of [me deposits for each of the five years succeeding December 31, 2024 and thereaner, are summarized as 
follows: 
 

 
8. FEDERAL INCOME TAXES 

 
The provision for federal income taxes consists of the following components for the years ended December 31: 
 

 
A reconcilia[on between federal income tax expense reported and the amount computed by applying the statutory federal income tax 
rate to income before federal income taxes is as follows for the years ended December 31: 
 

 
 
The components of the net deferred income tax asset included within other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets 
(measured at a 21% tax rate) resulted from the following temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabili[es 
for federal income tax and financial repor[ng purposes as of December 31: 
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Allowance for credit losses
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities
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The Corpora[on concluded that there are no significant uncertain tax posi[ons requiring recogni[on in the Corpora[on’s consolidated 
financial statements based on the evalua[on performed for 2021 through 2024, the years that remain subject to examina[on by major 
tax jurisdic[ons as of December 31, 2024. The Corpora[on does not expect the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits (“UTB”) (e.g. 
tax deduc[ons, exclusions, or credits claimed or expected to be claimed) to significantly change in the next 12 months. The Corpora[on 
does not have any amounts accrued for interest and penal[es related to UTBs at December 31, 2024, or 2023, and it is not aware of 
any claims for such amounts by federal or state income tax authori[es. 
 

9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Loans 
 
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank grants loans to certain directors, execu[ve officers, and their affiliates. Such loans 
aggregated to $10,420 and $6,598 at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respec[vely. 
 
Deposits 
 
Deposits of Corporate directors, execu[ve officers, and their affiliates were $8,480 and $8,002 at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respec[vely. 
 10.

  
 

 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ACTIVITIES
The Bank is a party to credit related financial instruments with off-balance-sheet loss risk in the normal course of business to 
meet the financing needs of its customers. These financial instruments include commitments to extend credit, standby lekers of 
credit, and commercial lekers of credit. Such commitments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit and interest rate risk in 
excess of the amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets. The Bank’s exposure to credit loss is represented by the contr
actual amount of these commitments. The Bank follows the same credit policy in making commitments, including requirements for 
collateral, as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments; no significant losses are an[cipated as a result of these commitments. 
At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the following financial instruments were outstanding whose contract amounts represent credit risk: 
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The bank is a party to credit related financial instruments with off-balance-sheet loss risk in the normal course of business to meet 
the financing needs of its customers. These financial instruments include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit, and 
commercial letters of credit. Such commitments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit and interest rate risk in excess of the 
amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets. The Bank’s exposure to credit loss is represented by the contractual amount of 
these commitments. The Bank follows the same credit policy in making commitments, including requirements for collateral, as it does for 
on-balance-sheet instruments; no significant losses are anticipated as a result of these commitments.

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the following financial instruments were outstanding whose contract amounts represent credit risk:
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The following table presents the balance and ac[vity for the allowance for credit losses for unfunded loan commitments for 2024 and 
2023: 
 

 
 

 

 

Unfunded commitments under commercial lines of credit, revolving home equity lines of credit, revolving home equity lines of credit, 
and  overdran  protec[on  agreements  are  commitments  for  possible  future  extensions  of  credit  to  exis[ng  customers.  The 
commitments for equity lines of credit may expire without being drawn upon. These lines of credit are uncollateralized and usually do 
not contain a specified maturity date and may not be drawn upon to the total extent to which the Bank is commiked. A majority of 
such commitments are at fixed rates of interest; a por[on is unsecured. 

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no viola[on of any condi[on established in 
the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expira[on dates or other termina[on clauses and may require payment of a fee. The 
commitments may expire without being drawn upon. Therefore, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future 
cash  requirements.  The  amount  of  collateral  obtained,  if  it  is  deemed  necessary  by  the  Bank,  is  based  on  management’s  credit 
evalua[on of the customer. 

Commercial and standby lekers of credit are condi[onal commitments issued by the Bank to guarantee the performance of a customer 
to a third party. These lekers of credit are primarily issued to support public and private borrowing arrangements. Essen[ally, all lekers 
of credit issued have expira[on dates within one year. The credit risk involved in issuing lekers of credit is essen[ally the same as that 
involved  in  extending  loan  facili[es  to  customers.  The  Bank  generally  holds  collateral  suppor[ng  those  commitments  if  deemed 
necessary. Guarantees that are not deriva[ve contracts have been recorded on the Corpora[on’s consolidated balance sheets at their 
fair value at incep[on. The Bank considers stand by lekers of credit to be guarantees; however, as the amount of the liability related 
to such guarantees on the commitment date is not significant, a liability related to such guarantees is not recorded at December 31, 
2024 or 2023. 
 

11.  COMMON STOCK ACTIVITY, INCLUDING SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE PLANS 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 

Common Stock Repurchases

During 2024 and 2023, the Corpora[on repurchased 0 and 10,825 shares of its common stock. The repurchase price in excess of the 

amounts iden[fied with the original issuance of the common stock was charged en[rely to retained earnings.

Share-based Compensa)on

Common Stock Op:ons

The  fair  value  of  each  op[on  award  is  es[mated  on  the  date  of  the  grant  using  the  Black-Scholes  op[on-pricing  model
with  the following weighted average assump[ons for the year ended December 31, 2024:
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During 2023, the Corporation repurchased 10,825 shares of its common stock. The repurchase price in excess of amounts identified 
with the original issuance of the common stock was charged entirely to retained earnings. There was no repurchase of common 
stock in 2024.

The following table presents the balance and ac[vity for the allowance for credit losses for unfunded loan commitments for 2024 and 
2023: 
 

 
 

 

 

Unfunded commitments under commercial lines of credit, revolving home equity lines of credit, revolving home equity lines of credit, 
and  overdran  protec[on  agreements  are  commitments  for  possible  future  extensions  of  credit  to  exis[ng  customers.  The 
commitments for equity lines of credit may expire without being drawn upon. These lines of credit are uncollateralized and usually do 
not contain a specified maturity date and may not be drawn upon to the total extent to which the Bank is commiked. A majority of 
such commitments are at fixed rates of interest; a por[on is unsecured. 

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no viola[on of any condi[on established in 
the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expira[on dates or other termina[on clauses and may require payment of a fee. The 
commitments may expire without being drawn upon. Therefore, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future 
cash  requirements.  The  amount  of  collateral  obtained,  if  it  is  deemed  necessary  by  the  Bank,  is  based  on  management’s  credit 
evalua[on of the customer. 

Commercial and standby lekers of credit are condi[onal commitments issued by the Bank to guarantee the performance of a customer 
to a third party. These lekers of credit are primarily issued to support public and private borrowing arrangements. Essen[ally, all lekers 
of credit issued have expira[on dates within one year. The credit risk involved in issuing lekers of credit is essen[ally the same as that 
involved  in  extending  loan  facili[es  to  customers.  The  Bank  generally  holds  collateral  suppor[ng  those  commitments  if  deemed 
necessary. Guarantees that are not deriva[ve contracts have been recorded on the Corpora[on’s consolidated balance sheets at their 
fair value at incep[on. The Bank considers stand by lekers of credit to be guarantees; however, as the amount of the liability related 
to such guarantees on the commitment date is not significant, a liability related to such guarantees is not recorded at December 31, 
2024 or 2023. 
 

11.  COMMON STOCK ACTIVITY, INCLUDING SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE PLANS 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 

Common Stock Repurchases

During 2024 and 2023, the Corpora[on repurchased 0 and 10,825 shares of its common stock. The repurchase price in excess of the 

amounts iden[fied with the original issuance of the common stock was charged en[rely to retained earnings.

Share-based Compensa)on

Common Stock Op:ons

The  fair  value  of  each  op[on  award  is  es[mated  on  the  date  of  the  grant  using  the  Black-Scholes  op[on-pricing  model
with  the following weighted average assump[ons for the year ended December 31, 2024:
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The following table presents the balance and ac[vity for the allowance for credit losses for unfunded loan commitments for 2024 and 
2023: 
 

 
 

 

 

Unfunded commitments under commercial lines of credit, revolving home equity lines of credit, revolving home equity lines of credit, 
and  overdran  protec[on  agreements  are  commitments  for  possible  future  extensions  of  credit  to  exis[ng  customers.  The 
commitments for equity lines of credit may expire without being drawn upon. These lines of credit are uncollateralized and usually do 
not contain a specified maturity date and may not be drawn upon to the total extent to which the Bank is commiked. A majority of 
such commitments are at fixed rates of interest; a por[on is unsecured. 

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no viola[on of any condi[on established in 
the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expira[on dates or other termina[on clauses and may require payment of a fee. The 
commitments may expire without being drawn upon. Therefore, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future 
cash  requirements.  The  amount  of  collateral  obtained,  if  it  is  deemed  necessary  by  the  Bank,  is  based  on  management’s  credit 
evalua[on of the customer. 

Commercial and standby lekers of credit are condi[onal commitments issued by the Bank to guarantee the performance of a customer 
to a third party. These lekers of credit are primarily issued to support public and private borrowing arrangements. Essen[ally, all lekers 
of credit issued have expira[on dates within one year. The credit risk involved in issuing lekers of credit is essen[ally the same as that 
involved  in  extending  loan  facili[es  to  customers.  The  Bank  generally  holds  collateral  suppor[ng  those  commitments  if  deemed 
necessary. Guarantees that are not deriva[ve contracts have been recorded on the Corpora[on’s consolidated balance sheets at their 
fair value at incep[on. The Bank considers stand by lekers of credit to be guarantees; however, as the amount of the liability related 
to such guarantees on the commitment date is not significant, a liability related to such guarantees is not recorded at December 31, 
2024 or 2023. 
 

11.  COMMON STOCK ACTIVITY, INCLUDING SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE PLANS 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 

Common Stock Repurchases

During 2024 and 2023, the Corpora[on repurchased 0 and 10,825 shares of its common stock. The repurchase price in excess of the 

amounts iden[fied with the original issuance of the common stock was charged en[rely to retained earnings.

Share-based Compensa)on

Common Stock Op:ons

The  fair  value  of  each  op[on  award  is  es[mated  on  the  date  of  the  grant  using  the  Black-Scholes  op[on-pricing  model
with  the following weighted average assump[ons for the year ended December 31, 2024:
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cash requirements. The amount of collateral obtained, if it is deemed necessary by the Bank, is based on management’s credit

Unfunded commitments under commercial lines of credit, revolving home equity lines of credit, revolving home equity lines of 
credit, and overdraft protection agreements are commitments for possible future extensions of credit to existing customers. The 
commitments for equity lines of credit may expire without being drawn upon. These lines of credit are uncollateralized and usually 
do not contain a specified maturity date and may not be drawn upon to the total extent to which the Bank is committed. A majority 
of such commitments are at fixed rates of interest; a portion is unsecured.

Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation  •  2024 Annual Report

to such guarantees on the commitment date is not significant, a liability related to such guarantees is not recorded at December 31,
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Under the Corpora[on’s 2021 Employee Stock Op[on Plan (the “Plan”), the Corpora[on may grant op[ons to its directors, officers,  
and employees for the purchase of up to 128,000 shares of common stock, which can be increased annually up to 3% of the shares 
outstanding at January 1, 2013 (1,131,649) or 33,949 shares. The exercise of each op[on equals the market price of the        
Corpora[on’s stock on the date of the grant, and an op[on’s maximum term is ten years. The op[ons vest ratably over five years from 
the date of the grant, and cliff vest five years from the date of the grant. The Corpora[on also has op[ons outstanding under a Plan 
established in 2012 and terminated in 2021. The terms of the 2012 Plan are essen[ally the same as the 2021 Plan. For  the   year 
ended  December 31, 2023  the  Corpora[on recognized  $1 in  compensa[on  expenses  for  stock  op[on expense  and                   
unrecognized compensa[on costs related to nonvested awards as of December 31, 2024 were not material. 

The expected vola[lity is based on historical vola[lity. The risk-free interest rates for periods within the contractual life of the awards  
are based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the [me of the grant. The expected life is based on historical exercise experience. 
The dividend yield assump[on is based on the Corpora[on’s history and expecta[on of dividend payouts. 

In general, the Corpora[on’s policy is to issue new shares upon the exercise of stock op[on; however, the op[on holder has the op[on 
under the Plan to sell shares of stock owned by the holder to the Corpora[on to facilitate the exercise of op[ons. A summary of the 
changes in the status of the Corpora[on’s stock op[on plan is presented below: 
 

 
 
As of December 31, 2024, 91,331 op[ons under the 2012 plan were outstanding at an average exercise price of $30.21 (range of 
$16.00-$36.00) of which 50,857 are exercisable, and 131,152 op[ons under the 2021 plan were outstanding at an average exercise 
price of $30.87 (range of $26.00-36.00) of which 24,310 are exercisable. 
 
Shares granted in 2024 and 2023 include 39,550 and 7,767 shares received in connec[on with the exercise of a “reload” op[on, in 
which the grantee tendered shares to pay the exercise price of an op[on and received a new op[on to purchase the number of shares 
of common stock equal to the number of shares tendered to pay the exercise price. 
 
Reload op[ons have an exercise price equal to the es[mated fair value as of the date of exercise of the underlying op[on. The date of 
grant of the reload op[on is the date of exercise of the underlying op[on. The reload op[on may be exercised one year aner it is 
granted and expires on the date of expira[on of the underlying op[on to which the reload op[ons are related. 
 
 
 
 

!"#$%&'(()"*+('(#+)',+( -./01
234(5+(6)+('7 89):(,'#
234(5+(6)#+;5$)4'"5()<;=,+"="+: //.>01
?"<"6(*6):"(=6);')(34(5+(6)6"<"6(*6 @.A91

!"#$#%&'(&)*%#*+%&"%,-*./*0102 !""#$%FGGGGGGGG ()*+,-GGGGGGGGGGG "*%$GGGGGGGGGGGGGGG

./01234 ))#)"FGGGGGGGGGGG (,*+5GGGGGGGGGGGGG
673/89:34 ;%#+F"<GGGGGGGGGGG ("*$)GGGGGGGGGGGGG
=>/?39234 ;5(#++"<GGGGGGGGG ((*"5GGGGGGGGGGGGG

!"#$#%&'(&)*%#*3454674,*2./*0102 012/089******** 08J;2<*********** =J80***************

./01234 ,%#$%+GGGGGGGGGGG 5+*,FGGGGGGGGGGGGG
673/89:34 ;$"#(")<GGGGGGGGG ()*5,GGGGGGGGGGGGG
=>/?39234 ;"#+(5<GGGGGGGGGGG ()*,%GGGGGGGGGGGGG

!"#$#%&'(&)*%#*3454674,*2./*0109 000/9;2******** 0;J>;<*********** =J28***************

?@66@&*
AB%,4$*

A"7C45#*#@*
!D#(@&

E4()B#4'*
FG4,%)4*
HI4,5($4*
J,(54

FG4,%)4*
O46%(&(&)*
?@&#,%5#"%L*

M4,6$*
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Under the Corpora[on’s 2021 Employee Stock Op[on Plan (the “Plan”), the Corpora[on may grant op[ons to its directors, officers,  
and employees for the purchase of up to 128,000 shares of common stock, which can be increased annually up to 3% of the shares 
outstanding at January 1, 2013 (1,131,649) or 33,949 shares. The exercise of each op[on equals the market price of the        
Corpora[on’s stock on the date of the grant, and an op[on’s maximum term is ten years. The op[ons vest ratably over five years from 
the date of the grant, and cliff vest five years from the date of the grant. The Corpora[on also has op[ons outstanding under a Plan 
established in 2012 and terminated in 2021. The terms of the 2012 Plan are essen[ally the same as the 2021 Plan. For  the   year 
ended  December 31, 2023  the  Corpora[on recognized  $1 in  compensa[on  expenses  for  stock  op[on expense  and                   
unrecognized compensa[on costs related to nonvested awards as of December 31, 2024 were not material. 

The expected vola[lity is based on historical vola[lity. The risk-free interest rates for periods within the contractual life of the awards  
are based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the [me of the grant. The expected life is based on historical exercise experience. 
The dividend yield assump[on is based on the Corpora[on’s history and expecta[on of dividend payouts. 

In general, the Corpora[on’s policy is to issue new shares upon the exercise of stock op[on; however, the op[on holder has the op[on 
under the Plan to sell shares of stock owned by the holder to the Corpora[on to facilitate the exercise of op[ons. A summary of the 
changes in the status of the Corpora[on’s stock op[on plan is presented below: 
 

 
 
As of December 31, 2024, 91,331 op[ons under the 2012 plan were outstanding at an average exercise price of $30.21 (range of 
$16.00-$36.00) of which 50,857 are exercisable, and 131,152 op[ons under the 2021 plan were outstanding at an average exercise 
price of $30.87 (range of $26.00-36.00) of which 24,310 are exercisable. 
 
Shares granted in 2024 and 2023 include 39,550 and 7,767 shares received in connec[on with the exercise of a “reload” op[on, in 
which the grantee tendered shares to pay the exercise price of an op[on and received a new op[on to purchase the number of shares 
of common stock equal to the number of shares tendered to pay the exercise price. 
 
Reload op[ons have an exercise price equal to the es[mated fair value as of the date of exercise of the underlying op[on. The date of 
grant of the reload op[on is the date of exercise of the underlying op[on. The reload op[on may be exercised one year aner it is 
granted and expires on the date of expira[on of the underlying op[on to which the reload op[ons are related. 
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The following table presents the balance and ac[vity for the allowance for credit losses for unfunded loan commitments for 2024 and 
2023: 
 

 
 

 

 

Unfunded commitments under commercial lines of credit, revolving home equity lines of credit, revolving home equity lines of credit, 
and  overdran  protec[on  agreements  are  commitments  for  possible  future  extensions  of  credit  to  exis[ng  customers.  The 
commitments for equity lines of credit may expire without being drawn upon. These lines of credit are uncollateralized and usually do 
not contain a specified maturity date and may not be drawn upon to the total extent to which the Bank is commiked. A majority of 
such commitments are at fixed rates of interest; a por[on is unsecured. 

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no viola[on of any condi[on established in 
the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expira[on dates or other termina[on clauses and may require payment of a fee. The 
commitments may expire without being drawn upon. Therefore, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future 
cash  requirements.  The  amount  of  collateral  obtained,  if  it  is  deemed  necessary  by  the  Bank,  is  based  on  management’s  credit 
evalua[on of the customer. 

Commercial and standby lekers of credit are condi[onal commitments issued by the Bank to guarantee the performance of a customer 
to a third party. These lekers of credit are primarily issued to support public and private borrowing arrangements. Essen[ally, all lekers 
of credit issued have expira[on dates within one year. The credit risk involved in issuing lekers of credit is essen[ally the same as that 
involved  in  extending  loan  facili[es  to  customers.  The  Bank  generally  holds  collateral  suppor[ng  those  commitments  if  deemed 
necessary. Guarantees that are not deriva[ve contracts have been recorded on the Corpora[on’s consolidated balance sheets at their 
fair value at incep[on. The Bank considers stand by lekers of credit to be guarantees; however, as the amount of the liability related 
to such guarantees on the commitment date is not significant, a liability related to such guarantees is not recorded at December 31, 
2024 or 2023. 
 

11.  COMMON STOCK ACTIVITY, INCLUDING SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE PLANS 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 

Common Stock Repurchases

During 2024 and 2023, the Corpora[on repurchased 0 and 10,825 shares of its common stock. The repurchase price in excess of the 

amounts iden[fied with the original issuance of the common stock was charged en[rely to retained earnings.

Share-based Compensa)on

Common Stock Op:ons

The  fair  value  of  each  op[on  award  is  es[mated  on  the  date  of  the  grant  using  the  Black-Scholes  op[on-pricing  model
with  the following weighted average assump[ons for the year ended December 31, 2024:
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$28.87

$28.37

Under the Corporation’s 2021 Employee Stock Option Plan (the “Plan”), the Corporation may grant options to its directors, officers, 
and employees for the purchase of up to 128,000 shares of common stock, which can be increased annually up to 3% of the shares 
outstanding at January 1, 2013 (1,131,649) or 33,949 shares. The exercise of each option equals the market price of the Corporation’s 
stock on the date of the grant, and an option’s maximum term is ten years. The options vest ratably over five years from the date of 
the grant, and cliff vest five years from the date of the grant. The Corporation also has options outstanding under a Plan established 
in 2012 and terminated in 2021. The terms of the 2012 Plan are essentially the same as the 2021 Plan. For the year ended December 
31, 2023, the Corporation recognized $1 in compensation expenses for stock option expense and unrecognized compensation costs 
related to nonvested awards as of December 31, 2024 were not material.

The expected volatility is based on historical volatility. The risk-free interest rates for periods within the contractual life of the awards 
are based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant. The expected life is based on historical exercise experience. 
The dividend yield assumption is based on the Corporation’s history and expectation of dividend payouts.

In general, the Corporation’s policy is to issue new shares upon the exercise of stock options; however, the option holder has the 
option under the Plan to sell shares of stock owned by the holder to the Corporation to facilitate the exercise of options. A summary 
of the changes in the status of the Corporation’s stock option plan is presented below:

155,497 28.06 5.94



(Dollars in thousands except per share data)
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Restricted Stock Awards 
 
The Plan also authorizes the use of restricted stock awards, which were granted in 2024 and 2023. The fair value of restricted stock 
awards is es[mated by the market price of the Corpora[on’s common stock at the date of the grant. Under the provisions of the plan, 
the Corpora[on cannot be obligated to “cash-sekle” any of the restricted stock awards through redemp[on. The shares become vested 
over a 5-year service period. During the period the shares are not vested, the grantee may not sell, assign, transfer, or pledge the shares 
but has all other rights of a shareholder, including the right to receive dividends and the right to vote such shares. Restricted stock is 
immediately forfeited when the employment of the grantee ceases. Restricted stock ac[vity during 2024 and 2023 is summarized as 
follows: 
 

 
Awards are being amor[zed to expense over the 5-year ves[ng period. Compensa[on costs related to restricted stock awards were 
$135 and $123 for 2024 and 2023, respec[vely. As of December 31, 2024, there was $501 of total remaining unrecognized 
compensa[on cost related to nonvested restricted stock awards granted under the Plan. The cost is expected to be recognized over 
the next 3 years. 
 
In 2024 and 2023, such common stock equivalents had an impact of $0.04 and $0.02 on diluted earnings per share, respec[vely. 
 
The weighted average number of outstanding common shares for 2024 and 2023 was 1,266,742 and 1,251,148, respec[vely. The 
average shares and dilu[ve poten[al common shares for 2024 and 2023 were 1,275,638 and 1,253,981. 
 

12. REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 
 
Capital Requirements 
 
The Corpora[on (on a consolidated basis) and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements, including restric[ons 
on dividends, administered by the federal banking agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can ini[ate certain 
mandatory and possibly addi[onal discre[onary ac[ons by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the 
Corpora[on’s and the Bank’s financial statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework of prompt 
correc[ve ac[ng, the Corpora[on and the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quan[ta[ve measures of their assets, 
liabili[es, capital, and certain off-balance-sheet items as defined in the regula[on and calculated under regulatory accoun[ng prac[ces. 

!"#$%FG()G
*+,F%-

.%/0+1%23
45%F,0%G

6F,7138,1%G
9,/FGJ,;"%G
<%FG*+,F%

!(735%-1%2=G>,7",F?G@=GABAC @D=NAFGGGGGGGGGGG CBGBNHGGGGGGGGGGG

!"#$%&G ()*++,,,,,,,,,,,,, +-.//,,,,,,,,,,,,,
0&1%&G 23)/334,,,,,,,,,,, +*.5*,,,,,,,,,,,,,
6#$7&88&G,#$G,9:"9&;%&G 2+)/<(4,,,,,,,,,,, +<.(=,,,,,,,,,,,,,

!(735%-1%2=G8%I%#$%FGC@=GABAC @D=JBFGGGGGGGGGGG AFGK@GGGGGGGGGGGGG

!"#$%&G ()>=/,,,,,,,,,,,,, +<.</,,,,,,,,,,,,,
0&1%&G 2*)-/*4,,,,,,,,,,, +<.-(,,,,,,,,,,,,,
6#$7&88&G,#$G,9:"9&;%&G 25/=4,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, +<.(<,,,,,,,,,,,,,

!(735%-1%2=G8%I%#$%FGC@=GABAN @J=CC@GGGGGGGGGGG AFGKCHGGGGGGGGGGG

Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation  •  2024 Annual Report



Continued. . .
42

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS

(Dollars in thousands except per share data) 

 

 

The capital amounts and classifica[on are also subject to qualita[ve judgments by the regulators about components, risk weigh[ngs, 
and other factors. Prompt correc[ve ac[on provisions are not applicable to bank holding companies. 

Failure to meet capital requirements can ini[ate regulatory ac[on. 

Quan[ta[ve measurements established by regula[on to ensure capital adequacy require the Corpora[on and the Bank to maintain 
minimum amounts and ra[os (set forth in the following table). Management believes that, as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the 
Corpora[on and the Bank met all capital adequacy requirements to which they are subject. 

As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the most recent no[fica[on from the Federal Deposit Insurance Corpora[on categorized the 
Bank as  well  capitalized  under  the  regulatory  framework  for  prompt  correc[ve  ac[on.  There  are  no  condi[ons  or  events  
since  the no[fica[on that management believes have changed the Bank’s category. The Corpora[on’s and the Bank’s actual capital 
amounts and ra[os as of December 31, 2024, and 2023 are also presented in the table. 
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The capital amounts and classifica[on are also subject to qualita[ve judgments by the regulators about components, risk weigh[ngs, 
and other factors. Prompt correc[ve ac[on provisions are not applicable to bank holding companies. 

Failure to meet capital requirements can ini[ate regulatory ac[on. 

Quan[ta[ve measurements established by regula[on to ensure capital adequacy require the Corpora[on and the Bank to maintain 
minimum amounts and ra[os (set forth in the following table). Management believes that, as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the 
Corpora[on and the Bank met all capital adequacy requirements to which they are subject. 

As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the most recent no[fica[on from the Federal Deposit Insurance Corpora[on categorized the 
Bank as  well  capitalized  under  the  regulatory  framework  for  prompt  correc[ve  ac[on.  There  are  no  condi[ons  or  events  
since  the no[fica[on that management believes have changed the Bank’s category. The Corpora[on’s and the Bank’s actual capital 
amounts and ra[os as of December 31, 2024, and 2023 are also presented in the table. 
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The capital amounts and classifica[on are also subject to qualita[ve judgments by the regulators about components, risk weigh[ngs, 
and other factors. Prompt correc[ve ac[on provisions are not applicable to bank holding companies. 

Failure to meet capital requirements can ini[ate regulatory ac[on. 

Quan[ta[ve measurements established by regula[on to ensure capital adequacy require the Corpora[on and the Bank to maintain 
minimum amounts and ra[os (set forth in the following table). Management believes that, as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the 
Corpora[on and the Bank met all capital adequacy requirements to which they are subject. 

As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the most recent no[fica[on from the Federal Deposit Insurance Corpora[on categorized the 
Bank as  well  capitalized  under  the  regulatory  framework  for  prompt  correc[ve  ac[on.  There  are  no  condi[ons  or  events  
since  the no[fica[on that management believes have changed the Bank’s category. The Corpora[on’s and the Bank’s actual capital 
amounts and ra[os as of December 31, 2024, and 2023 are also presented in the table. 
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The capital amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components,
risk weightings, and other factors. Prompt corrective action provisions are not applicable to bank holding companies. 

Failure to meet capital requirements can initiate regulatory action.

Quantitative measurements established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Corporation and the Bank to 
maintain minimum amounts and ratios (set forth in the following table). Management believes that, as of December 31, 2024 
and 2023, the Corporation and the Bank met all capital adequacy requirements to which they are subject. 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the most recent notification from the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation categorized 
the Bank as well capitalized under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. There are no conditions or events 
since the notification that management believes have changed the Bank’s category. The Corporation’s and the Bank’s actual 
capital amounts and ratios as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 are also presented in the table. 

The capital amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings, 
and other factors. Prompt corrective action provisions are not applicable to bank holding companies.

Failure to meet capital requirements can initiate regulatory action.

Quantitative measurements established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Corporation and the Bank to maintain 
minimum amounts and ratios (set forth in the following table). Management believes that, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the 
Corporation and the Bank met all capital adequacy requirements to which they are subject.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the most recent notification from the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation categorized the 
Bank as well capitalized under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. There are no conditions or events since the 
notification that management believes have changed the Bank’s category. The Corporation’s and the Bank’s actual capital amounts 
and ratios as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 are also presented in the table.
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Restric)ons on Dividends, Loans, and Advances 

Federal  and  state  banking  regula[ons  place  certain  restric[ons  on  the  amount  of  loans  or  advances  that  can  be  extended  to  the 
Corpora[on by the Bank, and dividends that can be paid to the Corpora[on by the Bank. The total amount of dividends which may be 
paid at any date is generally limited to the retained earnings of the Bank, and loans or advances are limited to 10% of the Bank’s 
capital stock and surplus on a secured basis. In addi[on, dividends paid by the Bank to the Corpora[on would be prohibited if the 
effect thereof would cause the Bank’s capital to be reduced below applicable minimum capital requirements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

13. CONTINGENCIES

Li)ga)on

The  Corpora[on  is  party  to  li[ga[on  arising  during  the  normal  course  of  business.  Based  on  consulta[on  with  legal  counsel,

management believes that the resolu[on of such li[ga[on is not expected to have a material effect on the consolidated

financial statements.

Environmental Issues

Acquiring real estate from foreclosure proceedings exposes the Corpora[on to poten[al claims and possible legal proceedings

involving environmental makers. As of December 31, 2024, no such claims have been asserted.

14. OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

401(k) Plan

The Bank maintains a deferred compensa[on plan qualified under Sec[on 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Under this plan,

eligible employees are permiked to contribute up to 100% of gross compensa[on into the re[rement plan up to a maximum deter

mined by the Internal Revenue Code; the Bank matches each employee contribu[on at a rate of up to 50% of the first 6% contr

ibuted by the employee. Expenses associated with the plan amounted to $123 and $117 in 2024 and 2023, respec[vely.

The 401(k) re[rement plan also has a defined contribu[on profit-sharing feature that covers substan[ally all of the Bank’s

employees. Contribu[ons to the plan are based on an employee’s earnings, as defined in the plan document. Expenses associated

with the plan amounted to $510 and $436 in 2024 and 2023, respec[vely.

Deferred Compensa)on Plan

In 2018, the Corpora[on adopted a deferred compensa[on plan. Pursuant to the terms of the Deferred Compensa[on Plan, Ban

k Officers ae permiked to defer all or a por[on of any annual bonus and receive shares of the Corpora[on equal to the stock value

based on  the  closing  price  on  the  day  the  bonus  is  issued.  In  addi[on,  the  par[cipant’s  account  will  be  credited  with  addi[onal

shares represen[ng 25% bonus shares based on the number of shares credited from the deferral. Board members may also elect

to defer any or all of their board fees and receive the same 25% bonus shares. The bonus shares for both deferred annual bonus

amounts and deferred director’s fees vest aner three years of service, death, disability, or upon mandator re[rement from the board. T

he Deferred Compensa[on Plan does not allow for cash seklement.

The amounts deferred under the arrangements and invested in the Corpora[on's common stock are maintained in a grantor 

(“Rabbi”) trust. Assets of the Rabbi Trust are consolidated with the Corpora[on, and the value of the Corpora[on’s common shares 

held in the Rabbi Trust is classified in shareholders’ equity. The Corpora[on recognizes the original amount of deferred 

compensa[on as the basis for recogni[on in the Rabbi Trust. Changes in the fair value owed to employees are not recognized as the Deferr

ed Compensa[on Plan does not permit diversifica[on and must be sekled on by the delivery of a fixed number of shares of the Cor

pora[on’s common stock.The Corpora[on recognized $325 and $245 of compensa[on expense related to this plan in 2024 and 

2023, respec[vely, and has recorded a related obliga[on totaling $893 and $789 with shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2024, 

and 2023, respec[vely. As of
 

Federal and state banking regulations place certain restrictions on the amount of loans or advances that can be extended to the 
Corporation by the Bank, and dividends that can be paid to the Corporation by the Bank. The total amount of dividends which may 
be paid at any date is generally limited to the retained earnings of the Bank, and loans or advances are limited to 10% of the Bank’s 
capital stock and surplus on a secured basis. In addition, dividends paid by the Bank to the Corporation would be prohibited if the 
effect thereof would cause the Bank’s capital to be reduced below applicable minimum capital requirements.

13. CONTINGENCIES

Litigation
The Corporation is party to litigation arising during the normal course of business. Based on consultation with legal counsel,
management believes that the resolution of such litigation is not expected to have a material effect on the consolidated
financial statements.

Environmental Issues

Acquiring real estate from foreclosure proceedings exposes the Corporation to potential claims and possible legal proceedings 
involving environmental matters. As of December 31, 2024, no such claims have been asserted.

14. OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

401(k) Plan
The Bank maintains a deferred compensation plan qualified under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Under this plan, 
eligible employees are permitted to contribute up to 100% of gross compensation into the retirement plan up to a maximum 
determined by the Internal Revenue Code; the Bank matches each employee contribution at a rate of up to 50% of the first 6% 
contributed by the employee. Expenses associated with the plan amounted to $123 and $117 in 2024 and 2023, respectively. The 
401(k) retirement plan also has a defined contribution profit-sharing feature that covers substantially all of the Bank’s employees. 
Contributions to the plan are based on an employee’s earnings, as defined in the plan document. Expenses associated with the plan 
amounted to $510 and $436 in 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Deferred Compensation Plan
In 2018, the Corporation adopted a deferred compensation plan. Pursuant to the terms of the Deferred Compensation Plan, Bank 
Officers are permitted to defer all or a portion of any annual bonus and receive shares of the Corporation equal to the stock value 
based on the closing price on the day the bonus is issued. In addition, the participant’s account will be credited with additional shares 
representing 25% bonus shares based on the number of shares credited from the deferral. Board members may also elect to defer 
any or all of their board fees and receive the same 25% bonus shares. The bonus shares for both deferred annual bonus amounts and 
deferred director’s fees vest after three years of service, death, disability, or upon mandator retirement from the board. The Deferred 
Compensation Plan does not allow for cash settlement.

The amounts deferred under the arrangements and invested in the Corporation’s common stock are maintained in a grantor (“Rabbi”) 
trust. Assets of the Rabbi Trust are consolidated with the Corporation, and the value of the Corporation’s common shares held in the 
Rabbi Trust is classified in shareholders’ equity. The Corporation recognizes the original amount of deferred compensation as the basis 
for recognition in the Rabbi Trust. Changes in the fair value owed to employees are not recognized as the Deferred Compensation 
Plan does not permit diversification and must be settled on by the delivery of a fixed number of shares of the Corporation’s common 
stock. The Corporation recognized $325 and $245 of compensation expense related to this plan in 2024 and 2023, respectively, and 
has recorded a related obligation totaling $893 and $789 with shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As 
of December 31, 2024, a total of 32,474 shares are held in the Rabbi Trust, of which 1,431 remain unvested. The weighted average 
share price of shares held in the Rabbi Trust at December 31, 2024 is $28.92.

13. CONTINGENCIES

The Corporation is party to litigation arising during the normal course of business. Based on consultation with management 
believes that the resolution of such litigation is not expected to have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 

Environmental Issues
Acquiring real estate from foreclosure proceedings exposes the Corporation to potential claims and possible legal proceedings 
involving environmental matters. As of December 31, 2024, no such claims have been asserted. 

14. OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

(Dollars in thousands except per share data)
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Restric)ons on Dividends, Loans, and Advances 

Federal  and  state  banking  regula[ons  place  certain  restric[ons  on  the  amount  of  loans  or  advances  that  can  be  extended  to  the 
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13. CONTINGENCIES

Li)ga)on

The  Corpora[on  is  party  to  li[ga[on  arising  during  the  normal  course  of  business.  Based  on  consulta[on  with  legal  counsel,

management believes that the resolu[on of such li[ga[on is not expected to have a material effect on the consolidated

financial statements.

Environmental Issues

Acquiring real estate from foreclosure proceedings exposes the Corpora[on to poten[al claims and possible legal proceedings

involving environmental makers. As of December 31, 2024, no such claims have been asserted.

14. OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

401(k) Plan

The Bank maintains a deferred compensa[on plan qualified under Sec[on 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Under this plan,

eligible employees are permiked to contribute up to 100% of gross compensa[on into the re[rement plan up to a maximum deter

mined by the Internal Revenue Code; the Bank matches each employee contribu[on at a rate of up to 50% of the first 6% contr

ibuted by the employee. Expenses associated with the plan amounted to $123 and $117 in 2024 and 2023, respec[vely.

The 401(k) re[rement plan also has a defined contribu[on profit-sharing feature that covers substan[ally all of the Bank’s

employees. Contribu[ons to the plan are based on an employee’s earnings, as defined in the plan document. Expenses associated

with the plan amounted to $510 and $436 in 2024 and 2023, respec[vely.

Deferred Compensa)on Plan

In 2018, the Corpora[on adopted a deferred compensa[on plan. Pursuant to the terms of the Deferred Compensa[on Plan, Ban

k Officers ae permiked to defer all or a por[on of any annual bonus and receive shares of the Corpora[on equal to the stock value

based on  the  closing  price  on  the  day  the  bonus  is  issued.  In  addi[on,  the  par[cipant’s  account  will  be  credited  with  addi[onal

shares represen[ng 25% bonus shares based on the number of shares credited from the deferral. Board members may also elect

to defer any or all of their board fees and receive the same 25% bonus shares. The bonus shares for both deferred annual bonus

amounts and deferred director’s fees vest aner three years of service, death, disability, or upon mandator re[rement from the board. T

he Deferred Compensa[on Plan does not allow for cash seklement.

The amounts deferred under the arrangements and invested in the Corpora[on's common stock are maintained in a grantor 

(“Rabbi”) trust. Assets of the Rabbi Trust are consolidated with the Corpora[on, and the value of the Corpora[on’s common shares 

held in the Rabbi Trust is classified in shareholders’ equity. The Corpora[on recognizes the original amount of deferred 

compensa[on as the basis for recogni[on in the Rabbi Trust. Changes in the fair value owed to employees are not recognized as the Deferr

ed Compensa[on Plan does not permit diversifica[on and must be sekled on by the delivery of a fixed number of shares of the Cor

pora[on’s common stock.The Corpora[on recognized $325 and $245 of compensa[on expense related to this plan in 2024 and 

2023, respec[vely, and has recorded a related obliga[on totaling $893 and $789 with shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2024, 

and 2023, respec[vely. As of
 

Federal and state banking regulations place certain restrictions on the amount of loans or advances that can be extended to the 
Corporation by the Bank, and dividends that can be paid to the Corporation by the Bank. The total amount of dividends which may 
be paid at any date is generally limited to the retained earnings of the Bank, and loans or advances are limited to 10% of the Bank’s 
capital stock and surplus on a secured basis. In addition, dividends paid by the Bank to the Corporation would be prohibited if the 
effect thereof would cause the Bank’s capital to be reduced below applicable minimum capital requirements.

13. CONTINGENCIES

Litigation
The Corporation is party to litigation arising during the normal course of business. Based on consultation with legal counsel,
management believes that the resolution of such litigation is not expected to have a material effect on the consolidated
financial statements.

Environmental Issues

Acquiring real estate from foreclosure proceedings exposes the Corporation to potential claims and possible legal proceedings 
involving environmental matters. As of December 31, 2024, no such claims have been asserted.

14. OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

401(k) Plan
The Bank maintains a deferred compensation plan qualified under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Under this plan, 
eligible employees are permitted to contribute up to 100% of gross compensation into the retirement plan up to a maximum 
determined by the Internal Revenue Code; the Bank matches each employee contribution at a rate of up to 50% of the first 6% 
contributed by the employee. Expenses associated with the plan amounted to $123 and $117 in 2024 and 2023, respectively. The 
401(k) retirement plan also has a defined contribution profit-sharing feature that covers substantially all of the Bank’s employees. 
Contributions to the plan are based on an employee’s earnings, as defined in the plan document. Expenses associated with the plan 
amounted to $510 and $436 in 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Deferred Compensation Plan
In 2018, the Corporation adopted a deferred compensation plan. Pursuant to the terms of the Deferred Compensation Plan, Bank 
Officers are permitted to defer all or a portion of any annual bonus and receive shares of the Corporation equal to the stock value 
based on the closing price on the day the bonus is issued. In addition, the participant’s account will be credited with additional shares 
representing 25% bonus shares based on the number of shares credited from the deferral. Board members may also elect to defer 
any or all of their board fees and receive the same 25% bonus shares. The bonus shares for both deferred annual bonus amounts and 
deferred director’s fees vest after three years of service, death, disability, or upon mandator retirement from the board. The Deferred 
Compensation Plan does not allow for cash settlement.

The amounts deferred under the arrangements and invested in the Corporation’s common stock are maintained in a grantor (“Rabbi”) 
trust. Assets of the Rabbi Trust are consolidated with the Corporation, and the value of the Corporation’s common shares held in the 
Rabbi Trust is classified in shareholders’ equity. The Corporation recognizes the original amount of deferred compensation as the basis 
for recognition in the Rabbi Trust. Changes in the fair value owed to employees are not recognized as the Deferred Compensation 
Plan does not permit diversification and must be settled on by the delivery of a fixed number of shares of the Corporation’s common 
stock. The Corporation recognized $325 and $245 of compensation expense related to this plan in 2024 and 2023, respectively, and 
has recorded a related obligation totaling $893 and $789 with shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As 
of December 31, 2024, a total of 32,474 shares are held in the Rabbi Trust, of which 1,431 remain unvested. The weighted average 
share price of shares held in the Rabbi Trust at December 31, 2024 is $28.92.

13. CONTINGENCIES

The Corporation is party to litigation arising during the normal course of business. Based on consultation with management 
believes that the resolution of such litigation is not expected to have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 

Environmental Issues
Acquiring real estate from foreclosure proceedings exposes the Corporation to potential claims and possible legal proceedings 
involving environmental matters. As of December 31, 2024, no such claims have been asserted. 
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involving environmental makers. As of December 31, 2024, no such claims have been asserted.
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eligible employees are permiked to contribute up to 100% of gross compensa[on into the re[rement plan up to a maximum deter

mined by the Internal Revenue Code; the Bank matches each employee contribu[on at a rate of up to 50% of the first 6% contr

ibuted by the employee. Expenses associated with the plan amounted to $123 and $117 in 2024 and 2023, respec[vely.

The 401(k) re[rement plan also has a defined contribu[on profit-sharing feature that covers substan[ally all of the Bank’s

employees. Contribu[ons to the plan are based on an employee’s earnings, as defined in the plan document. Expenses associated

with the plan amounted to $510 and $436 in 2024 and 2023, respec[vely.

Deferred Compensa)on Plan

In 2018, the Corpora[on adopted a deferred compensa[on plan. Pursuant to the terms of the Deferred Compensa[on Plan, Ban

k Officers ae permiked to defer all or a por[on of any annual bonus and receive shares of the Corpora[on equal to the stock value

based on  the  closing  price  on  the  day  the  bonus  is  issued.  In  addi[on,  the  par[cipant’s  account  will  be  credited  with  addi[onal

shares represen[ng 25% bonus shares based on the number of shares credited from the deferral. Board members may also elect

to defer any or all of their board fees and receive the same 25% bonus shares. The bonus shares for both deferred annual bonus

amounts and deferred director’s fees vest aner three years of service, death, disability, or upon mandator re[rement from the board. T

he Deferred Compensa[on Plan does not allow for cash seklement.

The amounts deferred under the arrangements and invested in the Corpora[on's common stock are maintained in a grantor 

(“Rabbi”) trust. Assets of the Rabbi Trust are consolidated with the Corpora[on, and the value of the Corpora[on’s common shares 

held in the Rabbi Trust is classified in shareholders’ equity. The Corpora[on recognizes the original amount of deferred 

compensa[on as the basis for recogni[on in the Rabbi Trust. Changes in the fair value owed to employees are not recognized as the Deferr

ed Compensa[on Plan does not permit diversifica[on and must be sekled on by the delivery of a fixed number of shares of the Cor

pora[on’s common stock.The Corpora[on recognized $325 and $245 of compensa[on expense related to this plan in 2024 and 

2023, respec[vely, and has recorded a related obliga[on totaling $893 and $789 with shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2024, 

and 2023, respec[vely. As of
 

Federal and state banking regulations place certain restrictions on the amount of loans or advances that can be extended to the 
Corporation by the Bank, and dividends that can be paid to the Corporation by the Bank. The total amount of dividends which may 
be paid at any date is generally limited to the retained earnings of the Bank, and loans or advances are limited to 10% of the Bank’s 
capital stock and surplus on a secured basis. In addition, dividends paid by the Bank to the Corporation would be prohibited if the 
effect thereof would cause the Bank’s capital to be reduced below applicable minimum capital requirements.

13. CONTINGENCIES

Litigation
The Corporation is party to litigation arising during the normal course of business. Based on consultation with legal counsel,
management believes that the resolution of such litigation is not expected to have a material effect on the consolidated
financial statements.

Environmental Issues

Acquiring real estate from foreclosure proceedings exposes the Corporation to potential claims and possible legal proceedings 
involving environmental matters. As of December 31, 2024, no such claims have been asserted.
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401(k) Plan
The Bank maintains a deferred compensation plan qualified under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Under this plan, 
eligible employees are permitted to contribute up to 100% of gross compensation into the retirement plan up to a maximum 
determined by the Internal Revenue Code; the Bank matches each employee contribution at a rate of up to 50% of the first 6% 
contributed by the employee. Expenses associated with the plan amounted to $123 and $117 in 2024 and 2023, respectively. The 
401(k) retirement plan also has a defined contribution profit-sharing feature that covers substantially all of the Bank’s employees. 
Contributions to the plan are based on an employee’s earnings, as defined in the plan document. Expenses associated with the plan 
amounted to $510 and $436 in 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Deferred Compensation Plan
In 2018, the Corporation adopted a deferred compensation plan. Pursuant to the terms of the Deferred Compensation Plan, Bank 
Officers are permitted to defer all or a portion of any annual bonus and receive shares of the Corporation equal to the stock value 
based on the closing price on the day the bonus is issued. In addition, the participant’s account will be credited with additional shares 
representing 25% bonus shares based on the number of shares credited from the deferral. Board members may also elect to defer 
any or all of their board fees and receive the same 25% bonus shares. The bonus shares for both deferred annual bonus amounts and 
deferred director’s fees vest after three years of service, death, disability, or upon mandator retirement from the board. The Deferred 
Compensation Plan does not allow for cash settlement.

The amounts deferred under the arrangements and invested in the Corporation’s common stock are maintained in a grantor (“Rabbi”) 
trust. Assets of the Rabbi Trust are consolidated with the Corporation, and the value of the Corporation’s common shares held in the 
Rabbi Trust is classified in shareholders’ equity. The Corporation recognizes the original amount of deferred compensation as the basis 
for recognition in the Rabbi Trust. Changes in the fair value owed to employees are not recognized as the Deferred Compensation 
Plan does not permit diversification and must be settled on by the delivery of a fixed number of shares of the Corporation’s common 
stock. The Corporation recognized $325 and $245 of compensation expense related to this plan in 2024 and 2023, respectively, and 
has recorded a related obligation totaling $893 and $789 with shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As 
of December 31, 2024, a total of 32,474 shares are held in the Rabbi Trust, of which 1,431 remain unvested. The weighted average 
share price of shares held in the Rabbi Trust at December 31, 2024 is $28.92.

13. CONTINGENCIES

The Corporation is party to litigation arising during the normal course of business. Based on consultation with management 
believes that the resolution of such litigation is not expected to have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 

Environmental Issues
Acquiring real estate from foreclosure proceedings exposes the Corporation to potential claims and possible legal proceedings 
involving environmental matters. As of December 31, 2024, no such claims have been asserted. 
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The  Corpora[on  is  party  to  li[ga[on  arising  during  the  normal  course  of  business.  Based  on  consulta[on  with  legal  counsel,

management believes that the resolu[on of such li[ga[on is not expected to have a material effect on the consolidated

financial statements.
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involving environmental makers. As of December 31, 2024, no such claims have been asserted.
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mined by the Internal Revenue Code; the Bank matches each employee contribu[on at a rate of up to 50% of the first 6% contr

ibuted by the employee. Expenses associated with the plan amounted to $123 and $117 in 2024 and 2023, respec[vely.

The 401(k) re[rement plan also has a defined contribu[on profit-sharing feature that covers substan[ally all of the Bank’s

employees. Contribu[ons to the plan are based on an employee’s earnings, as defined in the plan document. Expenses associated

with the plan amounted to $510 and $436 in 2024 and 2023, respec[vely.

Deferred Compensa)on Plan

In 2018, the Corpora[on adopted a deferred compensa[on plan. Pursuant to the terms of the Deferred Compensa[on Plan, Ban

k Officers ae permiked to defer all or a por[on of any annual bonus and receive shares of the Corpora[on equal to the stock value

based on  the  closing  price  on  the  day  the  bonus  is  issued.  In  addi[on,  the  par[cipant’s  account  will  be  credited  with  addi[onal

shares represen[ng 25% bonus shares based on the number of shares credited from the deferral. Board members may also elect

to defer any or all of their board fees and receive the same 25% bonus shares. The bonus shares for both deferred annual bonus

amounts and deferred director’s fees vest aner three years of service, death, disability, or upon mandator re[rement from the board. T

he Deferred Compensa[on Plan does not allow for cash seklement.

The amounts deferred under the arrangements and invested in the Corpora[on's common stock are maintained in a grantor 

(“Rabbi”) trust. Assets of the Rabbi Trust are consolidated with the Corpora[on, and the value of the Corpora[on’s common shares 

held in the Rabbi Trust is classified in shareholders’ equity. The Corpora[on recognizes the original amount of deferred 

compensa[on as the basis for recogni[on in the Rabbi Trust. Changes in the fair value owed to employees are not recognized as the Deferr

ed Compensa[on Plan does not permit diversifica[on and must be sekled on by the delivery of a fixed number of shares of the Cor

pora[on’s common stock.The Corpora[on recognized $325 and $245 of compensa[on expense related to this plan in 2024 and 

2023, respec[vely, and has recorded a related obliga[on totaling $893 and $789 with shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2024, 

and 2023, respec[vely. As of
 

Federal and state banking regulations place certain restrictions on the amount of loans or advances that can be extended to the 
Corporation by the Bank, and dividends that can be paid to the Corporation by the Bank. The total amount of dividends which may 
be paid at any date is generally limited to the retained earnings of the Bank, and loans or advances are limited to 10% of the Bank’s 
capital stock and surplus on a secured basis. In addition, dividends paid by the Bank to the Corporation would be prohibited if the 
effect thereof would cause the Bank’s capital to be reduced below applicable minimum capital requirements.

13. CONTINGENCIES

Litigation
The Corporation is party to litigation arising during the normal course of business. Based on consultation with legal counsel,
management believes that the resolution of such litigation is not expected to have a material effect on the consolidated
financial statements.

Environmental Issues

Acquiring real estate from foreclosure proceedings exposes the Corporation to potential claims and possible legal proceedings 
involving environmental matters. As of December 31, 2024, no such claims have been asserted.

14. OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

401(k) Plan
The Bank maintains a deferred compensation plan qualified under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Under this plan, 
eligible employees are permitted to contribute up to 100% of gross compensation into the retirement plan up to a maximum 
determined by the Internal Revenue Code; the Bank matches each employee contribution at a rate of up to 50% of the first 6% 
contributed by the employee. Expenses associated with the plan amounted to $123 and $117 in 2024 and 2023, respectively. The 
401(k) retirement plan also has a defined contribution profit-sharing feature that covers substantially all of the Bank’s employees. 
Contributions to the plan are based on an employee’s earnings, as defined in the plan document. Expenses associated with the plan 
amounted to $510 and $436 in 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Deferred Compensation Plan
In 2018, the Corporation adopted a deferred compensation plan. Pursuant to the terms of the Deferred Compensation Plan, Bank 
Officers are permitted to defer all or a portion of any annual bonus and receive shares of the Corporation equal to the stock value 
based on the closing price on the day the bonus is issued. In addition, the participant’s account will be credited with additional shares 
representing 25% bonus shares based on the number of shares credited from the deferral. Board members may also elect to defer 
any or all of their board fees and receive the same 25% bonus shares. The bonus shares for both deferred annual bonus amounts and 
deferred director’s fees vest after three years of service, death, disability, or upon mandator retirement from the board. The Deferred 
Compensation Plan does not allow for cash settlement.

The amounts deferred under the arrangements and invested in the Corporation’s common stock are maintained in a grantor (“Rabbi”) 
trust. Assets of the Rabbi Trust are consolidated with the Corporation, and the value of the Corporation’s common shares held in the 
Rabbi Trust is classified in shareholders’ equity. The Corporation recognizes the original amount of deferred compensation as the basis 
for recognition in the Rabbi Trust. Changes in the fair value owed to employees are not recognized as the Deferred Compensation 
Plan does not permit diversification and must be settled on by the delivery of a fixed number of shares of the Corporation’s common 
stock. The Corporation recognized $325 and $245 of compensation expense related to this plan in 2024 and 2023, respectively, and 
has recorded a related obligation totaling $893 and $789 with shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As 
of December 31, 2024, a total of 32,474 shares are held in the Rabbi Trust, of which 1,431 remain unvested. The weighted average 
share price of shares held in the Rabbi Trust at December 31, 2024 is $28.92.

13. CONTINGENCIES

The Corporation is party to litigation arising during the normal course of business. Based on consultation with management 
believes that the resolution of such litigation is not expected to have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. 

Environmental Issues
Acquiring real estate from foreclosure proceedings exposes the Corporation to potential claims and possible legal proceedings 
involving environmental matters. As of December 31, 2024, no such claims have been asserted. 
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December 31, 2024, a total of 32,474 shares are held in the Rabbi Trust, of which 1,431 remain unvested. The weighted average share 
price of shares held in the Rabbi Trust at December 31, 2024, is $28.92. 

Bank-Owned Life Insurance 

The Bank has invested in single premium, bank owned, whole life insurance policies on certain officers of the Bank. Bank-owned life 
insurance is an alterna[ve investment vehicle, generally non-liquid, which may produce addi[onal earnings to offset, and later fund, 
various employee supplemental benefit expenses. The earnings on the policies are not taxed unless withdrawn or surrendered prior 
to  the  death  of  the  insured.  The  increase  in  cash  surrender  value  of  the  policies,  which  was  $288  and  $264  in  2024  and  2023, 
respec[vely, is included in noninterest income on the consolidated statements of income. 

The benefit promised by the Bank to the covered officers is established at one [me the officer’s salary at the date of death; such benefit 
expires if the officer’s employment is terminated for any reason other than death, including voluntary or involuntary termina[on or 
re[rement. Based primarily on the ages of the covered officers, the Bank believes that the payment of such benefits is not probable; 
accordingly, the Bank has not recognized compensa[on expense for such benefits. 
 

15. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (AOCL) 
 
The following table presents a reconcilia[on of the changes in the components of AOCL and details the components of AOCL, including 
the amount of income taxes allocated to each component of AOCL: 
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The following table details reclassification adjustments and the related affected line items in the Corporation’s consolidated statements 
of comprehensive income (loss) for 2024 and 2023: 

Realized losses on securities available for sale (55) Non interest expense
Tax effect* 12 Income taxes

(43)$ Net income

Realized gains on cash flow hedges 104$  Interest expense
Realized losses on cash flow hedges (78) Interest income
Tax effect* (5) Income taxes

21$  Net income

Realized gains on cash flow hedges 75$  Interest expense
Realized losses on cash flow hedges (78) Interest income
Tax effect* 1 Income taxes

(2)$  Net income

                                                    
Details about Accumulated Other Comprehensive 

Income (Loss) Components
December 31, 2024

Amount Reclassified 
from Accumulated 

Other 
Comprehensive Loss

Affected Line Item in the 
Consolidated Statements 

of Income

                                                    
Details about Accumulated Other Comprehensive

Income (Loss) Components
December 31, 2024

                                                    
Details about Accumulated Other Comprehensive

Income (Loss) Components
December 31, 2023

Amount Reclassified 
from Accumulated 

Other 
Comprehensive Loss

Affected Line Item in the 
Consolidated Statements 

of Income

Amount Reclassified 
from Accumulated 

Other 
Comprehensive Loss

Affected Line Item in the 
Consolidated Statements 

of Income

*Based on federal income tax rate of 21%.

16. DERIVATIVES

Risk Management Objective of Using Derivatives

The Corporation is exposed to certain risks arising from both its business operations and economic conditions. The Corporation
principally manages its exposures to a wide variety of business and operational risks through the management of its core business
activities. The Corporation manages economic risks, including interest rate, liquidity, and credit risk, primarily by managing the amount, 
sources, and duration of its assets and liabilities and the use of derivative financial instruments. Specifically, the Corporation enters
into derivative financial instruments to manage exposures that arise from business activities that result in the receipt or payment of
future known and uncertain cash amounts, the value of which is determined by interest rates. The Corporation’s derivative financial
instruments are used to manage differences in the amount, timing, and duration of the Corporation’s known or expected cash receipts
and its known or expected cash payments principally related to the Corporation’s public funds and revolving lines of credit.
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For deriva[ves designated and that qualify as cash flow hedges of interest rate risk, the gain or loss on the deriva[ve is recorded as 
AOCL and subsequently reclassified into interest expense and interest income in the same periods during which the hedge transac[on 
affects earnings. Amounts reported in AOCL related to deriva[ves will be reclassified to interest expense and interest income as interest 
payments are made on the Corpora[on’s public funds and revolving lines of credit. 
 
Interest rate swaps with no[onal amounts totaling $30 million as of December 31, 2024, were designated as cash flow hedges of 
certain and were determined to be effec[ve during all periods presented. The Corpora[on expects the hedges to remain effec[ve 
during the remaining terms of the swaps. 
 
The Corpora[on presents deriva[ve posi[on gross on the consolidated balance sheet. The following table reflects the deriva[ves 
recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31: 
 

 
The effects of cash flow hedge accoun[ng on accumulated other comprehensive loss for years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

 
 
At December 31, 2024,  the Corpora[on expected $4 of the unrealized gain to be reclassified as a reduc[on of interest expense during 
2025. 
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The following table details reclassifica[on adjustments and the related affected line items in the Corpora[on’s consolidated statements 
of comprehensive income (loss) for 2024 and 2023: 
 

 
 

 
*Based on federal income tax rate of 21%.

During 2022, an interest rate cap deriva[ve was terminated by the Corpora[on for approximately $1.1 million, resul[ng in a
deferred gain of approximately $654. The gain will be reclassified into income over the remaining life of the underlying hedge 
through May 2032.  

16. DERIVATIVES 
 
Risk Management Objec)ve of Using Deriva)ves 
 
The Corpora[on is exposed to certain risks arising from both its business opera[ons and economic condi[ons. The Corpora[on 
principally manages its exposures to a wide variety of business and opera[onal risks through the management of its core business 
ac[vi[es. The Corpora[on manages economic risks, including interest rate, liquidity, and credit risk, primarily by managing the amount, 
sources, and dura[on of its assets and liabili[es and the use of deriva[ve financial instruments. Specifically, the Corpora[on enters 
into deriva[ve financial instruments to manage exposures that arise from business ac[vi[es that result in the receipt or payment of 
future known and uncertain cash amounts, the value of which is determined by interest rates. The Corpora[on’s deriva[ve financial 
instruments are used to manage differences in the amount, [ming, and dura[on of the Corpora[on’s known or expected cash receipts 
and its known or expected cash payments principally related to the Corpora[on’s public funds and revolving lines of credit. 
 
Cash Flow Hedges of Interest Rate Risk 
 
The Corpora[on’s objec[ves in using interest rate deriva[ves are to add stability to interest income and expense and to manage its 
exposure to interest rate movements. To accomplish this objec[ve, the Corpora[on primarily uses interest rate swaps and caps as part 
of its interest rate risk management strategy. Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable amounts 
from a counterparty in exchange for the Corpora[on making fixed-rate payments over the life of the agreements without exchange of 
the underlying no[onal amount. Interest rate caps designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable amounts from a 
counterparty if interest rates rise above the strike rate on the contract in exchange for an up-from premium. During 2024 and 2023, 
such deriva[ves were used to hedge the variable cash flows associated with exis[ng variable-rate revolving lines of credit. 
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17. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOWS INFORMATION 
 
Other Cash Flows Informa)on 
 
Cash paid for interest and income taxes amounted to the following during the years ended December 31: 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Non-Cash Financing Ac)vi)es 

During 2024, op[ons for the purchase of 560 common shares were exercised. 

Addi[onally, during 2024 and 2023, 44,698 and 9,075 common shares were exercised through a reload op[on whereby 39,550 and 
7,767 common shares were tendered to pay the exercise price (“cashless exercise”). The issuance of shares upon exercise of common 
stock op[ons has been recorded net of the tendered shares in the consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity.  
 

18. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 
 
The Corpora[on’s primary revenue stream accounted for under ASC 606 relates to service charges on deposit accounts. 
 
The Corpora[on earns fees from its deposit customers for transac[on-based fees, account maintenance, and overdran services. 
Transac[on-based fees, including those for services such as ATM fees, stop payment charges, statement rendering, and ACH fees, are 
recognized at the [me the transac[on is executed as that is the point in [me the Corpora[on fulfills the customer’s request. Account 
maintenance fees, which primarily relate to monthly account maintenance, are earned over the course of the month, which represents 
the period over which the Corpora[on sa[sfies the performance obliga[on. Overdran fees are recognized at the point in [me that the 
overdran occurs. Service charges on deposit are deducted from the customer’s account balance. 
 

End of Notes 
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End of  Notes

EASTERN MICHIGAN FINANCIAL CORPORATION

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in thousands except per share data)

15. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOWS INFORMATION

2020 2019

Interest 453$                    885$                   

Income taxes 1,181$                816$                   

16. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

During 2020 and 2019, options for the purchase of 1,696 and 2,983, common shares, respectively, were
exercised.

Cash paid for interest and income taxes amounted to the following during the years ended December 31:

The Corporation earns fees from its deposit customers for transaction‐based fees, account maintenance, and
overdraft services. Transaction‐based fees, including these for services such as ATM fees, stop payment
charges, statement rendering, and ACH fees, are recognized at the time the transaction is executed as that is
the point in time the Corporation fulfills the customer's request. Account maintenance fees, which primarily
relate to monthly account maintenance, are earned over the course of the month, which represents the period
over which the Corporation satisfies the performance obligation. Overdraft fees are recognized at the point in
time that the overdraft occurs. Service charges on deposits are deducted from the customer's account balance.

    

Additionally, during 2020 and 2019, 23,113 and 22,147 common shares were exercised through a reload option
whereby 16,104 and 16,726 common shares were tendered to pay the exercise price ("cashless exercise"). The
issuance of shares upon exercise of common stock options has been recorded net of the tendered shares in the
statements of shareholders' equity.

Other Cash Flows Information

Non‐Cash Financing Activities

The Corporation’s primary revenue stream accounted for under ASC 606 relates to service charges on deposit
accounts.
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17. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOWS INFORMATION 

 
Other Cash Flows Informa)on 
 
Cash paid for interest and income taxes amounted to the following during the years ended December 31: 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Non-Cash Financing Ac)vi)es 

During 2024, op[ons for the purchase of 560 common shares were exercised. 

Addi[onally, during 2024 and 2023, 44,698 and 9,075 common shares were exercised through a reload op[on whereby 39,550 and 
7,767 common shares were tendered to pay the exercise price (“cashless exercise”). The issuance of shares upon exercise of common 
stock op[ons has been recorded net of the tendered shares in the consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity.  
 

18. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 
 
The Corpora[on’s primary revenue stream accounted for under ASC 606 relates to service charges on deposit accounts. 
 
The Corpora[on earns fees from its deposit customers for transac[on-based fees, account maintenance, and overdran services. 
Transac[on-based fees, including those for services such as ATM fees, stop payment charges, statement rendering, and ACH fees, are 
recognized at the [me the transac[on is executed as that is the point in [me the Corpora[on fulfills the customer’s request. Account 
maintenance fees, which primarily relate to monthly account maintenance, are earned over the course of the month, which represents 
the period over which the Corpora[on sa[sfies the performance obliga[on. Overdran fees are recognized at the point in [me that the 
overdran occurs. Service charges on deposit are deducted from the customer’s account balance. 
 

End of Notes 
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I N D E P E N D E N T
A U D I T O R S ’  R E P O R T

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

March 5, 2025 

Shareholders and Board of Directors 
Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation 
Croswell, Michigan 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation (the 
“Corporation”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and 
the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders' equity, and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (the 
“consolidated financial statements”) 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the consolidated results of its operations and cash flows for the years 
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (“GAAS”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
required to be independent of the Corporation and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there 
are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Corporation's 
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated financial 
statements are available to be issued. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

March 5, 2025 

Shareholders and Board of Directors 
Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation 
Croswell, Michigan 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation (the 
“Corporation”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and 
the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders' equity, and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (the 
“consolidated financial statements”) 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the consolidated results of its operations and cash flows for the years 
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (“GAAS”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
required to be independent of the Corporation and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there 
are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Corporation's 
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated financial 
statements are available to be issued. 
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Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. 
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed.  

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

 
• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 

that raise substantial doubt about the Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 
 
Other Information included in the Annual Report 
 
Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information 
comprises the Letter to Shareholders, 2024 Highlights and Ten Year Financial Profile and other 
nonfinancial information but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors' 
report thereon. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other 
information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

March 5, 2025 

Shareholders and Board of Directors 
Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation 
Croswell, Michigan 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation (the 
“Corporation”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and 
the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders' equity, and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (the 
“consolidated financial statements”) 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the consolidated results of its operations and cash flows for the years 
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (“GAAS”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
required to be independent of the Corporation and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there 
are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Corporation's 
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated financial 
statements are available to be issued. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

March 5, 2025 

Shareholders and Board of Directors 
Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation 
Croswell, Michigan 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation (the 
“Corporation”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and 
the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders' equity, and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (the 
“consolidated financial statements”) 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of Eastern Michigan Financial Corporation as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the consolidated results of its operations and cash flows for the years 
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (“GAAS”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
required to be independent of the Corporation and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there 
are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Corporation's 
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the consolidated financial 
statements are available to be issued. 

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information 
and the consolidated financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of 
the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 



Several of our esteemed employees marked significant work anniversaries in 2024.
We are grateful for their commitment and extend our heartfelt thanks for their dedicated service.
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